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Financial Highlights

M EE

As at As at
August 31, August 31, Percentage
2023 2022 Change change
R2023% 20224
8A31H 8A31H 28 BALLES
Number of Schools B8R 3 3 - -
Student enrollment MEEE AR 52,740 47,131 5,609 11.9%
Year ended Year ended
August 31, August 31, Percentage
2023 2022 Change change
HZ20235F BHZE20224
8H31H 8H31H
LFE IEFE # AOLLEE)
(RMB’000) (RMB'000) (RMB'000)
(AR¥F ) (AREFT) (AREFT)
Revenue A 1,083,304 907,762 175,542 19.3%
Gross profit EF 624,604 482,151 142,453 29.5%
Profit for the year FAF)E 393,047 259,784 133,263 51.3%
Adjusted net profit® KRR mF 405,132 263,838 141,294 53.6%
Earnings per share (RMB) BREMARET) 0.328 0.216 0.112 51.9%
Gross profit ratio EFE 57.7% 53.1% 4.6
Operating profit ratio KR E 45.8% 42.3% 3.5
Net Profit ratio Faplpe 36.3% 28.6% 7.7
Adjusted Net Profit ratio® KRR R 37.4% 29.1% 8.3
Notes: B EE
1M Adjusted net profit is a non-HKFRSs financial measure, which is derived from the profit for the (1) EABMRY IR B ME LT BT EF X -
year after adjusting imputed interest expenses on discount of long-term borrowings and long- RRBERREN 2B ROEMSHSNEE

term interest payables due to a related party, net exchange gains/(losses), imputed interest
expenses on discount of compensation payable for the Conversion of Huali College and fair

value gains on investment properties.

(2) Adjusted net profit ratio under non-HKFRS financial measures for the year is calculated on
adjusted net profit under non-HKFRS financial measures for the year divided by revenue for the

respective year.

BHRAEFMN - B (B1R)FE - stEN
EVBRERHERENGED TR SAX RIE
EMENAFEBSEHRBROFAFBAH

Q) FREEBRUMBREENMBHETATHRARE
MR EZENFFERRY B RS LY BHAETET
IS ARG MR AR FRIRAGTE -

TEBEREERERAF
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Chairman’s Statement

EEHRE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of directors of China Vocational Education Holdings Limited,
| am pleased to present the annual report of Group for the year ended August 31,
2023.

RESULTS OVERVIEW

The Group achieved encouraging results of performance for the year ended August
31, 2023. For the year ended August 31, 2023, the Group’s revenue amounted
to approximately RMB1,083.3 million, representing an increase of approximately
19.3% from approximately RMB907.8 million for the corresponding period last year.

BUSINESS HIGHLIGHTS

We are a leading large-scale private higher education and vocational education
group in South China, offering applied science-focused and practice-oriented
programs. The Group operates three schools including Guangzhou Huali College
("Huali College”), (formerly known as Huali College, Guangdong University of
Technology (B3R T % AKE%# 7 £[7)), Guangzhou Huali Science and Technology
Vocational College (“Huali Vocational College”) and Guangdong Province Huali
Technician College (“Huali Technician College”).

During the year ended August 31, 2023, the Group’s performance was still
outstanding thanks to an increase of the number of students and average tuition
fees. As at August 31, 2023, the number of student enrolments in the Group was
52,740, representing an increase of 11.9% from 47,131 as at August 31, 2022. For
the year ended August 31, 2023, the Group's schools recorded revenue growth,
which is consistent with its business expansion. The Group’s revenue increased
from approximately RMB907.8 million for the year ended August 31, 2022 to
approximately RMB1,083.3 million for the year ended August 31, 2023, with an
increase of RMB175.5 million. The Group generally charges students tuition fees
and boarding fees.
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PROSPECTS

The report of the 20th National Congress of the Communist Party of China and
the "Guideline to Advance Reform and High-Quality Development of Modern
Vocational Education” both stated that China will continue to place high priority
to the development of education, promoting collaborative innovation in vocational
education, higher education, and continuing education and promoting integration
between vocational education and general education, between industry and
education, and between science and education, in order to better establish
vocational education as a category in the educational system. It aims to enhance the
quality, adaptability, and popularity of vocational education to nurture more high-
caliber technicians and skilled workers. With the favourable policies implemented in
the education industry, the Group will continue to closely follow national policies,
placing emphasis on connotation construction, vigorously foster our objective
to educate and serve our students, and closely follow the direction of economic
development to cultivate local regional economic-oriented skilled talents with high-
quality. Meanwhile, we will also keep promoting campus construction, expanding
our school campus, improving our teaching quality, providing high-quality services,
and strengthening our brand effect to better enhance the profitability of our
business. Moreover, while consolidating the building of formal vocational education,
the Group is also vigorously expanding its second curve of business of vocational
education. The Group will focus on asset-light model by developing diversified non-
formal vocational education business to achieve sustainable long-term development.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to thank all the Shareholders for their
continued trust, support and confidence. | would also like to express my sincere
gratitude to the management and all staff for their professionalism, integrity
and dedication in implementing the Group’s strategies. The Group will continue
to pursue sustainable development strategies and focus on maximizing the
Shareholders’ returns.

Zhang Zhifeng
Chairman
Hong Kong, November 27, 2023
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEE EREI S

BUSINESS OVERVIEW

We are a leading large-scale private higher education and vocational education
group in South China, offering applied science-focused and practice-oriented
programs. As at August 31, 2023, we had an aggregate of 52,740 students
enrolled at our three schools, namely Huali College, Huali Vocational College and
Huali Technician College.

Our schools offer private higher education and private vocational education in a
wide range of fields in applied sciences with an aim to prepare our students with
the necessary knowledge base, skill sets and accreditations to secure jobs and
pursue careers in particular professions, trades and industries. As at August 31,
2023, we offered 38 undergraduate majors and 1,850 undergraduate programs,
48 junior college majors and 785 junior college programs, 28 vocational majors
and 1,244 vocational programs.

Our Schools
We operate three schools in Guangdong Province, all of which grant government
accredited degrees or certifications, including:

o Huali College (including Zengcheng campus and Jiangmen campus): a private
general undergraduate college, offering four- to five-year undergraduate
programs” granting bachelor degrees accredited by the MOE;

o Huali Vocational College (including Zengcheng campus and Yunfu campus):
a formal higher education institution, offering three-year vocational
programs granting junior college diplomas accredited by the MOE; and

o Huali Technician College (including Zengcheng campus and Yunfu campus):
a private technician school primarily offering three-year, full-time vocational
programs® granting technician diplomas of Huali Technician College,
accredited by the Department of Human Resources and Social Security of
Guangdong Province, and short-term intensive vocational programs.

Notes:

(1) Generally, Huali College offers four-year undergraduate programs and a five-year undergraduate
program in architecture.

(2) Generally, Huali Technician College offers three-year vocational programs as well as two-, four-

and five-year programs to students of different education levels pursuing different types of
technician diplomas.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BIEE i wm oA

Student Enrollment
As at August 31, 2023, we had an aggregate of 52,740 students enrolled in our

three schools, comprising 21,567 students at Huali College, 20,532 students at

Huali Vocational College and 10,641 students at Huali Technician College.

TMEBE AE

2023F8HA31H + KM =2 £HF52,740
BERBED - BIFETBR21,5678 24 -
HEUREBR20528BERETHAMERR
10,6418 84 -

As at As at
August 31, August 31, Percentage
2023 2022 Change Change

R2023%F 20224
School 21 8A31H 8A31AH 28 BOLES
Huali College FEEPR 21,567 17,622 3,945 22.4%
- Zengcheng campus — R 20,482 17,080 3,402 19.9%
— Jiangmen campus —IFRE 1,085 542 543 100.2%
Huali Vocational College  # B 2p: 20,532 18,338 2,194 12.0%
- Zengcheng campus — R R 12,3320 13,380%® (1,048) (7.8%)
- Yunfu campus —EERE 8,200 4,958 3,242 65.4%
Huali Technician College FEIREZER 10,641 11,171 (530) (4.7%)
— Zengcheng campus — R 9,155 9,377 (222) (2.4%)
- Yunfu campus —EERE 1,486 1,794 (308) (17.2%)
Total F 52,740 47,131 5,609 11.9%

Notes: BaE

Including 347 students of Huali Technician College who also take junior college courses
at Huali Vocational College (the “Continuing Education Program”) and obtain a junior
college diploma awarded by Huali Vocational College, subject to, among other things, passing
the National Higher Education Entrance Exam for Adults. Each student participating in the
Continuing Education Program is required to pay an additional tuition fee of RMB3,000 to Huali
Vocational College. In order to reflect such business practice, the number of students of Huali
Technician College who also participate in the Continuing Education Program was included
in the number of students of Huali Vocational College, and the revenue from the additional
tuition fees paid for the Continuing Education Program was fully included in the revenue from
tuition fees of Huali Vocational College and Huali Technician College.

Including 1,791 students who are social personnel enrolled under the national policy of
enrollment expansion of Higher Vocational Education, having passed the exam designed
independently by Huali Vocational College. These students shall pay a tuition fee of RMB8,000
per academic year to Huali Vocational College, and take junior college courses mainly on-line
and obtain a junior college diploma awarded by Huali Vocational College upon graduation (the
“Enrollment Expansion Program”).

Including 347 students of Huali Technician College who also participate in the Continuing
Education Program.

Including 633 students of Huali Technician College who also participate in the Continuing
Education Program.

Including 2,822 students who also participate in the Enrollment Expansion Program.
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BRAREERBEZER —ZAW R HMBEER
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EIRE R W AT

Tuition Fees and Boarding Fees

For the year ended August 31, 2023, the Group’s schools recorded revenue
growth, which was in line with the expansion of its business and student
enrollment. Revenue increased from RMB907.8 million for the year ended August
31, 2022 to RMB1,083.3 million for the year ended August 31, 2023. The Group
typically charges students fees comprising tuition fees and boarding fees. Tuition
fees remained as the Group’s major revenue for the year ended August 31, 2023,
accounting for approximately 93.0% of the total revenue of the Group for the
year ended August 31, 2023.

The table below summarizes the amount of revenue generated from the tuition

BENTEE
HZE2023F8A31HILFE  AEBBREF
WAER - BEBERRESEASIER K -
WABBE2022F8A3IBIEFEMNARE
EMEEHZE2023F8A318 1E
FEMARKEI10833BET - AEEH KM
BEWRMEBERGEBEESER - 812202358
A3MBIEFE BEDAREBREZRA - (4
ANEBMEE2023F8A31BILEENBUW AL

e —

907.8E& T *

93.0% °

TR RFEARBUBRNEELFEE

fees and boarding fees charged by the Group for the years indicated: EXRNBRALE
As at As at
August 31, August 31, Percentage
2023 2022 Change Change
R2023F 720225
8A31H 8A31H 25 BALES
(RMB’000) (RMB’000) (RMB'000)
(AR%T) (ARBFT) (ARETT)
Tuition fees 28
Huali College FEER 623,464 482,689 140,775 29.2%
Huali Vocational College ERESR 275,667 236,685 38,982 16.5%
Huali Technician College EvEs Il 108,752 117,096 (8,344) (7.1%)
1,007,883 836,470 171,413 20.5%
Boarding fees 5EE
Huali College vl 42,105 28,568 13,537 47.4%
Huali Vocational College EBESR 21,962 25,610 (3,648) (14.2%)
Huali Technician College EvEs Il 11,354 17,114 (5,760) (33.7%)
75,421 71,292 4,129 5.8%
Total Revenue BB 1,083,304 907,762 175,542 19.3%

The increase in the total revenue of the Group for the year ended August 31,
2023 was mainly due to the increase in student enrollment and average tuition

fees.
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The following table sets forth the information relating to student enroliment and
average tuition fees per student for the financial years for each of our schools,

respectively:

Management Discussion and Analysis

Student Enrollment

BIEE R T

TEROBEINHFIEEREVBFENRER
EABRBESETHBBENER

Average Tuition Fees
per student®

MEBEAH™ BEBLEFIYBHD
Academic Year® Year Ended August 31
B0 BZ8A3MALEE
2022/2023 2021/2022 2023 2022
20234 20224
(RMB) (RMB)
School 2R (AR¥ ) (AR®T)
Huali College EVERKR 21,567 17,622 28,908 27,391
— Zengcheng campus — R 20,482 17,080 = =
- Jiangmen campus —IPIRE 1,085 542 - -
Huali Vocational College  #EVR% 2[R 20,532 18,338 13,426 12,907
- Zengcheng campus — R 12,332 13,380 = =
- Yunfu campus —EERE 8,200 4,958 = =
Huali Technician College  EVKETER 10,641 11,171 10,220 10,482
- Zengcheng campus — R 9,155 9,377 = =
- Yunfu campus —EERE 1,486 1,794 = -
Total Fe 52,740 47,131 19,110 17,748
Notes: B EE -
(1) Except as specified otherwise in this report, we present our business operating data as at (1) BRAREPSHRAEN KM2FSBFHES

August 31 for each of the academic years.

(2) Average tuition fees represent the revenue from tuition fees for the relevant financial year
divided by the student enrollment for the corresponding academic year.

)

A3VEREBREHIE -

FHREEABMHFEENRERARAERSSE
HBLEER A AR -
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EIRE R W AT

The following table sets out the tuition fee rates of our schools for the 2021/2022
and 2022/2023 academic years:

School B

T&R#E2021/2022%2022/2023 B F K FIE2K
HEBEKFE -

Tuition fee rates”

in academic year

BERRATO

2022/2023
(RMB)
(AE#¥T)

2021/2022
(RMB)
(AR®TT)

Huali College FEVERR
Four-to five-year undergraduate program® P Z F4F $| AR RF2@
- Zengcheng campus — R
- Jiangmen campus —IFIRE
International program B RR AR
Bilingual program SRR
Huali Vocational College EVRES
Three-year junior college program = FHIRERE
- Zengcheng campus — R
- Yunfu campus —EERE
International program BURRERIZ
Bilingual program AR
Huali Technician College EVRMEBR
Three-year vocational program® = F I ERZS
- Zengcheng campus — R

- Yunfu campus —EERE

25,500-34,800
25,500-34,800
28,800-31,800
26,500-36,800
27,500-31,800

9,880-25,880
16,880-25,880
9,880-15,880
25,880

Not applicable & A

6,800-15,300
10,000-15,300
6,800-8,100

28,800-32,800
28,800-32,800
28,800-29,800
36,800
31,800

9,880-19,880
16,880-19,880
9,880-12,880
25,880-30,880
12,880

6,800-15,100
9,800-15,100
6,800-8,100

Notes:

(1) Tuition fee rates shown above for all of our schools are applicable to students admitted in the
relevant academic year only.

(2) Generally, Huali College offers four-year undergraduate programs, and a five-year
undergraduate program in architecture.

(3) Generally, Huali Technician College offers three-year vocational programs, as well as two-year,
four-year and five-year programs to students of different education levels pursuing different
types of technician diplomas of Huali Technician College. In addition, we offer students at Huali
Technician College a dual-diploma program, in which students are permitted to take junior
college courses at Huali Vocational College and obtain a junior college diploma awarded by
Huali Vocational College, subject to, among other things, passing the National Higher Education
Entrance Exam for adults.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BIEE R T

During the year ended August 31, 2023, our boarding fee rates ranged from
RMB700 to RMB14,000 per academic year depending on the location, room size
and number of students housed in each room.

School Utilization Rate

School utilization rate is calculated by dividing the number of boarding student
enrollment in a particular academic year by the school capacity in the same
academic year. The school capacity of each campus is calculated by the number
of beds available in student dormitories. The following table sets out the school

HZE2023F8A31HLEFER » BRFNSTEE
KENFZEEARET00TEARE14,0007T
7%  BIGEEEOMHIEY  EERSANE

EABME °

BRERR

BREARRETE2ENTEEEARBRUR
—BFNERABTMAHTE - SREMER
AIAMABREEEEA ARUEFE - TX
#5112021/2022 %.2022/2023 B F R 1B 2

utilization rate of our schools for the 2021/2022 and 2022/2023 academic years: BAFAE
Academic year
25

2022/2023 2021/2022
Zengcheng campus IR R E
School capacity BRI EMALE 29,556 28,971
School utilization rate BREAE 85.2% 80.9%
Yunfu campus EFRE
School capacity ERAI A NAE 7,590 8,635
School utilization rate EREAE 75.6% 68.2%
Jiangmen campus IMRE
School capacity BRUBMAE 2,072 2,340
School utilization rate BRI A 90.9% 23.2%
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Awards and Recognitions Received During the Reporting

Period

The Company and the three schools received numerous awards and recognitions
during the Reporting Period in recognition of the quality of education we provide
and the outstanding achievements of our operations. The following table sets

wm N AT

forth some of the awards and recognitions we have received:

Award/Recognition
818, R

27

Awarding Organization(s)

bk 2k

HEEEENRERRT

REHERN > ARFR=ZERERSTRZ K
ERRA - REBMRHEOBE RE LM
HE BB - TREIIKRFIEFHI LD IR

Awarded Entity
ERER

September,
2022

202249A

September,
2022

202249 A

September,
2022

202249 A

December,
2022

20224 12R

December,
2022

2022412A4
January, 2023

202314
January, 2023

2023F1A1
January, 2023

QOutstanding Unit for Science Popularization
Work

(BHE TEEFEN)

RBE TEES B

2021 Higher Vocational Education Teacher
Teaching Innovation Team - Big Data
and Accounting Major Teacher Teaching
Innovation Team
(2021 F =AM B LA K2 AT E K — K&
BT AR 215 E )

2021 F R B A HAN 2 A3 B X — K BUE
B Gt E AN B ETE X

Guangdong Provincial Green School

(BEREREER)
BEREZEBER

Second Prize of Guangdong University's
New Media Influence (Vocational and
Technical Group)
(BERERMEEZEN(SReHA) =%
#)

BRERHEETEN(SREEE) —FH&

2022 Innovation Award for College
Employment Work
(20225 E 2R ETIERIFET)

2022 F E Bt TIERIHT 22

the Third Batch of Water-saving Universities
in Guangdong Province
(BREEZHEKEZR)

BREE=HEHKE SR

2022 Advanced Unit of Vocational Ability
Construction in Guangdong Province
(2022F BB R BB RE NIRRT B 1)

2022 EERE B N ERTES N

Excellent Organizational Unit for the First
National Defense Education Feature
Promotion and Exhibition of Guangdong
Provincial Technical Colleges

(BRERIRRE-—BRAMHEFEHE
BB HHEL B

2023F1A4 ERARIGRE-EEHHEFEHER
MBS BN
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Guangzhou Joint Conference Office for
Science Popularization Work
(BMHRIE LIEMREERRAE)

BMNTRE TR S Z RN E

Department of Education of Guangdong
Province

(BEREHER)

EREHERE

Department of Education of Guangdong
Province
(BEREHEEE)

BREHEE

Guangdong University New Media Alliance
(R = BT i ae i 2)

ER SR a
www.eol.cn (FFEIZAE 4 L)

HEIHE R L

Department of Water Resources of
Guangdong Province
(R A KFIEE)

EREKFE

Guangdong Vocational Ability Construction
Association
(BEREBBERNEERNED)

BREBFENERGS

Guangdong Vocational Training and
Vocational Education Association

(BREABEIEIFRIHEHE)

EREBEZI NS THEHE

Huali College

Eva- =l
Huali Vocational
College

ETBES

Huali Vocational
College

BB

Huali Vocational
College

BVl 1
Huali Vocational
College
BV e 1

Huali College

BVl

Huali Technician
College

N BN

Huali Technician
College

N AN ER BT
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Award/Recognition

18, bk 32k

Awarding Organization(s)

Awarded Entity
BRER

March, 2023 2022 Two-Star Unit of Charity Impact in Guangzhou Zengcheng District Civil Affairs Huali College
Zengcheng District Bureau, Guangzhou Zengcheng District
(BRE2022FEREFE N _2REN) Suitable Support Office, Guangzhou

Zengcheng District Charity Association
(EMTERREREE - BTSSR E O
XERAE - BNTEEREES)

202343 A B R202FEEEFEN_ERBEM BINTIEmEREE - BMNTEREE AR FE7805
WA= - BNTERRAES

May, 2023 Excellent Award for Recitation and Guangdong Private Education Association Huali College

Performance of Red Classic Theme in (BRERPBEHS)
Private Universities in Guangdong Province
(BERERPERACKE T ERERER

F1%)

202345 A ERARNSRACKATERAREES ERERIHEHS 7 2
£

OUTLOOK KRRE

The report of the 20th National Congress of the Communist Party of China and
the “Guideline to Advance Reform and High-Quality Development of Modern
Vocational Education” both stated that China will continue to place high priority
to the development of education, promoting collaborative innovation in vocational
education, higher education, and continuing education and promoting integration
between vocational education and general education, between industry and
education, and between science and education, in order to better establish
vocational education as a category in the educational system. It aims to enhance
the quality, adaptability, and popularity of vocational education to nurture
more high-caliber technicians and skilled workers. With the favourable policies
implemented in the education industry, the Group will continue to closely follow
national policies, placing emphasis on connotation construction, vigorously foster
our objective to educate and serve our students, and closely follow the direction of
economic development to cultivate local regional economic-oriented skilled talents
with high-quality. Meanwhile, we will also keep promoting campus construction,
expanding our school campus, improving our teaching quality, providing high-
quality services, and strengthening our brand effect to better enhance the
profitability of our business. Moreover, while consolidating the building of formal
vocational education, the Group is also vigorously expanding its second curve
of business of vocational education. The Group will focus on asset-light model
by developing diversified non-formal vocational education business to achieve
sustainable long-term development.

TRAERE - TREEARRAG RE M
REDERBEASSESHRNOBER)IR
B PEEEECHE EEREEARRNM
B SERBERARSEHE  HBHEWRE
B HERERE  EREBE - BHEIE
NBEBERBREEN - EEAERSBER
EWEE  ERUENERE  UBEESER
ERMREEAT - REZHRETEEROFIF
BE  ARERBEEZRERIBER  TENE
BR - ANEEBRMAUEIRBZ2ENER
SUHLBHRTE - AR SEH AT RS
BEoREREEAT - B - BT TEHE
ERERR  WRERAOKRE - REHRMANK
BEE  REHEERY  BlmEBE - AE
PR AR MR BN ARIES - I EFE
BEBREHERZROAE - AEETE XN
REBEHENE _HREYR - AREKEBBMHA
BETREREHSEB T INEEER
X UERAEEAHEENREER
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FUTURE PLANS FOR
MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in this report, the Company does not have other future plans for
material investments or capital assets.

RECENT DEVELOPMENTS OF REGULATORY
FRAMEWORK

Classification Registration

Our business is regulated by, among others, the Law for Promoting Private
Education of the PRC ((FFEAREMBIR MBS (23#%)). On November 7, 2016,
the Decision on Amending the Law for Promoting Private Education of the PRC (Order
of the President of the PRC No. 55) (BIRMEERC 2 AR FIE R P1HE R #E DD
RTE) (FEARLFMBEEESEH555) (the “Amendment”) was promulgated. The
Amendment came into force on September 1, 2017. The Amendment establishes
a new classification system for private schools by whether they are established and
operated for profit-making purposes, and the sponsors of private schools may at
their own discretion choose to establish non-profit or for-profit private schools.

According to the Implementing Measures on Classification Registration of Private
Schools { RIER D IAELEIEAE]) ) promulgated on December 30, 2016, if an
existing private school chooses to register as a non-profit private school, it shall
amend its articles of association in accordance with the relevant laws, continue
its school operation and complete new registration formalities. If an existing
private school chooses to register as a for-profit private school, it shall make
financial settlement of books of account, clarify the ownership of the schools’
land, buildings accumulation with the consent of the relevant departments of the
people’s government at or below the provincial level, pay relevant taxes and fees,
obtain new school operation licenses, apply for re-registration and continue the
school operations.
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The Amendment is silent on the specific measures regarding how existing
schools can choose to become for-profit private schools, which, according to the
Amendment, shall be regulated by the corresponding laws and regulations to be
promulgated by the local government authorities. The Guangdong government
has promulgated implementation regulations under the Amendment, including
the Implementation Opinions of the Government of Guangdong Province on
Encouraging the Operation of Education by Social Forces and Promoting the
Healthy Development of Private Education ( EREEARBFER S BT HER
MHERERNBERELENERER)) promulgated by the Government of
Guangdong Province on April 24, 2018, the Implementation Measures for the
Supervision and Administration of For-Profit Private Schools (B & T4 R it E2
REBEREILE) ), which were issued jointly by the Department of Education
of Guangdong Province, Department of Human Resources and Social Security of
Guangdong Province and Department of Market Supervision and Administration
of Guangdong Province and came into effect on December 30, 2018, and the
Implementation Measures on Classification Registration of Private Schools ({#
REMEBRDBBLEMRIIED),

Education of Guangdong Province, Department of Human Resources and Social

which were issued jointly by the Department of

Security of Guangdong Province, Department of Civil Affairs of Guangdong
Province, Guangdong Provincial Committee of the Communist Party of China
Organization Committee Office and Department of Market Supervision and
Administration of Guangdong Province and came into effect on December 30,
2018.

The above local regulations provide a framework procedure for the classification
and registration of existing private schools in relevant provinces as for-profit
private schools or non-profit private schools, but do not further specify the
process of classification and registration, for example, (i) when should we notify
the relevant authorities regarding our decision for our schools to be for-profit or
non-profit schools; (ii) the preferential tax treatments that may be enjoyed by a
for profit school or a non-profit school, respectively; (i) whether respective public
funding can be obtained by a for-profit school and a non-profit school; and (iv)
respective costs for a for-profit and a non-profit school to obtain land use rights.

Under the existing regulatory environment and based on the current interpretation
of the Amendment and the relevant implementing regulations, we intend to
register our three schools as for-profit private schools subject to further detailed
local rules and regulations regarding the conversion of existing schools as
and when promulgated and brought into effect by relevant local government
authorities.
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HEY UREREHERE BEREANERM
HERER  BRERBE  THEREZH
BRIEZEGNLAEREREMSGEEEER
A BMA R 2018F12 A30 R MK ER R
MEBRI\EELERIVE)

it S MERBE T EEEAHRBERBEER
DR A T M R 2R sk IE & FI 1 R 9%
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There are uncertainties regarding the interpretation and application of the
Amendment with respect to various aspects of the operations of private schools,
such as the respective preferential tax treatment which may be enjoyed by for-
profit private schools and non-profit private schools. Accordingly, as of the date
of this report, we were not able to fully evaluate or quantify the potential impact
that the implementation of the Amendment may have on our business operations.

The Implementation Rules
On April 7, 2021, the State Council issued the Implementation Rules for the Law
for Promoting Private Education of the PRC (FEARKEFMBEIR ML F(RELZE
&%) (the “Implementation Rules”) and the Implementation Rules have been
effective from September 1, 2021.

Based on our current understanding and interpretation of the Implementation
Rules, there would not be any substantive implications on the legal framework
of any of our PRC operation. We intend to register our three schools as for-
profit private schools in light of the Amendment and the relevant implementing
regulations in effect.

Pursuant to the Implementation Rules, public schools shall not sponsor or
participate in sponsoring for-profit private schools while public schools of
vocational education could absorb the capital, technology, management and other
elements of enterprises to sponsor or participate in sponsoring for-profit private
schools of vocational education.

In addition, the Implementation Rules will not have any impact on our expansion
strategy through acquisition.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group’s revenue mainly represents income derived from tuition fees and
boarding fees for the education services provided in the normal course at its PRC
operating schools. For the year ended August 31, 2023, the Group's revenue was
approximately RMB1,083.3 million, representing an increase of approximately
19.3% year-on-year from approximately RMB907.8 million for the corresponding
period of last year, which was attributable to the increases in both student
enrollment and average tuition fees during the Reporting Period.
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Cost of Sales

Cost of sales consists primarily of staff costs, depreciation and amortization, joint
tuition support fees, school consumables, property management and maintenance
fees, utilities expenses and others. For the year ended August 31, 2023, the
Group's cost of sales amounted to approximately RMB458.7 million, increased by
approximately 7.8% year-on-year from approximately RMB425.6 million for the
year ended August 31, 2022.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

For the year ended August 31, 2023, the Group recorded a gross profit of
approximately RMB624.6 million, representing an increase of approximately 29.5%
year-on-year from approximately RMB482.2 million for the year ended August 31,
2022. For the year ended August 31, 2023, the Group achieved a gross profit
margin of 57.7% representing an increase of 4.5% year-on-year as compared
with the corresponding period of last year. The growth in gross profit was mainly
attributable to the increasing student enrollment and average tuition fees, while
partially offset by the increase in cost of sales for the year ended August 31,
2023.

Selling Expenses

Selling expenses, primarily consisting of marketing staff costs, promotion expenses
and other expenses, decreased by approximately 13.2% from approximately
RMB19.9 million for the year ended August 31, 2022 to approximately RMB17.3
million for the year ended August 31, 2023, which was due to a decrease in
promotion expenses resulting from the change in marketing strategies for the
2022/2023 academic year.

Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses primarily consist of administrative staff costs, office
expenses, traveling and entertainment expenses, depreciation of property, plant
and equipment relating to office buildings and right-of-use assets, utilities
expenses, auditors’ remuneration and other miscellaneous expenses. Administrative
expenses increased by approximately 29.3%, from RMB115.2 million for the year
ended August 31, 2022 to approximately RMB149.0 million for the year ended
August 31, 2023.
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Other Income

Other income primarily consists of site use and relevant service income, rental
income, service income of school-enterprise cooperation projects, government
subsidies, bookselling income and others. For the year ended August 31, 2023, the
Group recorded other income of approximately RMB37.4 million, representing an
increase of approximately 4.2% year-on-year from approximately RMB35.9 million
for the year ended August 31, 2022.

Other Gains — Net

Other gains — net primarily consist of net exchange gains/(losses), losses on
disposals of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, fair value gains
on investment properties and others. For the year ended August 31, 2023, the
Group's other gains-net amounted to approximately RMBO0.3 million, representing
a decrease of approximately RMBO0.8 million year-on-year compared with
approximately RMB1.1 million of other gains-net for the year ended August 31,
2022.

Finance Expenses — Net

The Group’s finance expenses — net include interest expenses on bank and other
borrowings (after deducting amounts capitalized in the cost of property, plant and
equipment), imputed interest expenses on discount of long-term other borrowings
and long-term interest payables due to a related party, imputed interest expenses
on discount of compensation payable for the Conversion of Huali College, interest
income generated from bank deposits and others. For the year ended August 31,
2023, the Group recorded finance expenses of approximately RMB103.5 million,
representing a decrease of approximately 6.9% year-on-year as compared with
approximately RMB111.1 million for the year ended August 31, 2022, which was
mainly attributable to the decrease in imputed interest expenses on discount of
long-term payables for property, plant and equipment and interest expense on
bank borrowings during the year ended August 31, 2023. For the year ended
August 31, 2023, the Group recorded finance income of approximately RMB5.7
million, representing a decrease of approximately 5.8% year-on-year as compared
with approximately RMB6.1 million for the year ended August 31, 2022.

Profit Before Taxation

For the year ended August 31, 2023, the Group recorded a profit before taxation
of approximately RMB398.2 million, representing an increase of approximately
42.8% year-on-year from approximately RMB278.9 million for the year ended
August 31, 2022.

Taxation

For the year ended August 31, 2023, the Group recorded approximately RMB5.2
million in taxation, representing a decrease of approximately 73.0% year-on-year
from approximately RMB19.2 million for the year ended August 31, 2022. As of
August 31, 2023, the Group did not have any taxation related disputes with any
authorities, or any other unresolved taxation issues.
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Adjusted Net Profit

Adjusted net profit under non-HKFRSs financial measures is defined as profit
for the year attributable to owners of the Company excluding imputed interest
expenses on discount of long-term borrowings and long-term interest payables
due to a related party, net exchange gains/(losses), imputed interest expenses on
discount of compensation payable for the Conversion of Huali College and fair
value gains on investment properties. As such items are non-recurring in nature
and not related to the performance of the Group’s operation, the Directors
consider that the presentation of the Group’s adjusted net profit under non-
HKFRSs financial measures by eliminating the impact of certain non-recurring
items can reflect the operational performance better during the respective years.
Furthermore, the Group’s management also uses the non-HKFRSs financial
measures to assess the Group’s operating performance and formulate business
plans. The Group believes that the non-HKFRSs financial measures provide useful
information to the investors about its core business operations, which they can use
to evaluate the Group's operating results and understand its consolidated results
of operations in the same manner as the management.

The following table sets forth a reconciliation of the Group’s adjusted net profit
under non-HKFRSs financial measures for the years indicated to that prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs financial measures:

RRRAR

FEEV B RS ENUBIENETHERE
MREBERARBAERAREFEANE - T&
ERMERLEN — 2B ROEM N B
BHEFRFEMX  ERlE (BE)F
B ENEIERBREERENGEDTR
MEFXREEMEAFERR - ARZER
BRFFETHLE  SASENEERTER -
EEZRR BEHERETIHRBFUERENTE
MENARER TR BRE LN BAE
TET RGN - sE BRI B FEH
RERRE - I AEEEEENMEMAERE
R EEANM B ET AT B A EBOLE
KRR BIEEBE - REEBE  FEEM
BHmE LB ETERREERITAH
AEEZLEBRENBERER  REEWUA
TART il AN 55 [ 1O A8 22 SR AR 30 DA LB T2 [ AR R Y
FRERARENEHHEEERE -

TREJAEBERAREEEIFTBYBRE
ERM B 8 TR HBLAN BIREEY
B S R Rm B AL A 2 BT8R

Year ended August 31,

BZE8A3MALEE
2023 2022
20235 20224
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARBTT
Reconciliation of net profit to adjusted  #HFIEEEHEAR > YR
net profit
Net profit for the year FEMLF 393,047 259,784
- Imputed interest expenses on discount of —HEMEROEEETRFLBFHLZ KL
other borrowings and interest payable due  fEff —&BEEE S FI 20
to a related party @ 9,200 -
— Imputed interest expenses on discount of ~ —EfTE Y BRELEERBENHE
compensation payable for the Conversion BEHRFERAEZ?
of Huali College @ 2,840 4,736
— Net exchange losses/(gains) @ —ER R () F5EY 145 (482)
— Fair value gains on investment properties @ — &% & ¥ %N FEWRE® (100) (200)
Adjusted net profit under non-HKFRSs  JE&E B BRELRMBHBAET
financial measures Y AR R R A R 405,132 263,838
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(1) Long-term borrowings and long-term interest payables due to a subsidiary of Huali
Construction, a related party of the Group, were interest-free and were therefore recognized
at the fair value of totaling RMB442,145,000 by discounting the future cash flows using
the effective interest rate. The total discount impact was RMB76,545,000, among which
RMB9,200,000 was amortized and recorded as finance expenses during the year ended August
31, 2023. Upon the repayment of such interest-free borrowings and interest payable, no such
discount impact would accrue.

(2) The compensation fee for the Conversion of Huali College has been agreed to be paid in three
installments and in an aggregate amount of RMB160,000,000, of which RMB53,340,000,
RMB53,330,000 and RMB53,330,000 shall be paid by October 31, 2021, October 31, 2022 and
October 31, 2023 respectively. The compensation fee was therefore recognized at the fair value
of RMB150,849,000 by discounting the future cash flows using the effective interest rate. Upon
the payment of such one-off compensation fee, no such discount impact would accrue.

(3) Net exchange losses/(gains) represent foreign exchange losses/(gains) resulting from the
settlement of foreign currency transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates
of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies.

(4) Fair value gains on investment properties represent the increase of market value of the
investment properties held for the year ended August 31, 2023 compared to that of previous
year. It's non-recurring in nature and not related to the performance of the Group's operation.

Property, Plant and Equipment

As at August 31, 2023, the Group's property, plant and equipment amounted
to approximately RMB4,639.9 million, representing an increase of approximately
11.7% year-on-year from approximately RMB4,152.6 million recorded as at August
31, 2022. Such increase was a result of the establishment of new campuses in
Jiangmen, Guangdong Province, including the construction of Jiangmen campus
of Huali College and the construction of Jiangmen campus of Huali Technician
College, and expansion of new dormitories in Zengcheng, Guangdong Province.

Capital Expenditures

For the year ended August 31, 2023, the Group recorded approximately RMB570.1
million in capital expenditures, representing a decrease of approximately 5.8%
from approximately RMB605.4 million for the year ended August 31, 2022, which
was mainly due to the decrease in the expenditure for constructing new campus
buildings for the year ended August 31, 2023 as compared with the corresponding
period of last year.

Bank Balances and Cash

As at August 31, 2023, the Group had bank balances and cash of approximately
RMB987.9 million, representing an increase of approximately 22.7% from
approximately RMB805.3 million as at August 31, 2022.

Liquidity, Financial Resources and Debt Ratio

As at August 31, 2023, the Group had liquid funds (representing bank balances
and cash) of approximately RMB987.9 million (August 31, 2022: RMB805.3
million) and borrowings of approximately RMB2,445.8 million (August 31, 2022:
RMB2,449.4 million). The Group's debt ratio as at August 31, 2023, represented
by borrowings as a percentage of total assets, was 33.6% (August 31, 2022:
36.7%).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Foreign Exchange Risk Management

For the Group's operation in the PRC, the major revenue and expenses are
denominated in RMB, while there are certain monetary assets and monetary
liabilities that are denominated in Hong Kong dollars and United States dollars,
which would expose the Group to foreign exchange risk. The Group currently
does not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, the management of
the Company monitors foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure when such need arises.

Material Acquisitions and Disposals
The Group did not have any material acquisitions or disposals for the year ended
August 31, 2023.

Charge on the Group'’s Assets

As at August 31, 2023, the Group pledged the charging right of the service fees
from Huali Technician College, Huali Vocational College and Huali College, owned
by a group entity according to the contractual arrangements and the equity
interest of certain group entities as securities for the banking facilities granted to
the Group. Save as disclosed above, there was no other material charge on the
Group’s assets as at August 31, 2023.

Contingent Liabilities
As at August 31, 2023, the Group had no significant contingent liabilities.
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Directors and Senior Management
EENRREIEE

As at the date of this report, our Board consists of seven Directors, including four
executive Directors and three independent non-executive Directors.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. ZHANG Zhifeng (3R & #), aged 57, is the founder of the Group. He was first
appointed as the first Director on May 24, 2016, was redesignated as the chairman
of the Board and an executive Director on December 18, 2017 and was appointed
as Chief Executive Officer on November 19, 2021. Mr. Zhang was also appointed
as the chairman of the Nomination Committee on August 16, 2019. He is primarily
responsible for the overall management and strategic development of the Group.

In addition to his contribution to the Group, Mr. Zhang was a member of the 8th
and 9th Zengcheng City Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference (FEIARBUAMIE @ RIEHMENE - FNEZEE) and a special
committee member of the 11th Guangdong Provincial Committee of the Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference (FEIARB A A EHE +—EEREE
B®). Mr. Zhang was awarded” Special Contribution Award for Private Education
of the 70th Anniversary of the Founding of the People’'s Republic of China” (3£
70BF R E FIRERZE) by the Institute of Educational Chinese Academy of
Management Science (BB IERI 2P B RE2MZTHT) and China Academy
of Management Science Advisory Department (Ff BlE 2RI 7887 457050 in April
2019.

Mr. Zhang's dedication to education has been well recognized. The following sets
out the awards received by him:
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Date Awards Awarding authority
B #2158 kg1
July 2005 “2005 Outstanding Persons of Education Jointly presented by Chinese Academy of
Innovation in China” (*2005% Bl ¢ # & &l Management Science (% B & Rl 27 5567),
A1) China Society for Futures Studies (% B 72K
#f32E) and School of Education, Peking
University Qt R KEBH B £67)
200547 A [2005& Bl B3 A4 ] HEEEM SRR  REARRARE R RAE

September 2005

“Qutstanding Contribution Award” presented by
Innovation and Development of Private Education
in China and Educational, Scientific and Cultural
Award of Anna Chan Chennault Campaign
(TEIRPIABRIFEER  REGRRXRRY
BB SR ERE")

200549 A TERPHBRAIFTEER - REGHE CRRYE
B R ER ]
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Date Awards Awarding authority

B #2158 b2 1

April 2019 “Special Contribution Award for Private Education  Jointly presented by Institute of Educational
of the 70th Anniversary of the Founding of the Chinese Academy of Management Science (1
People’s Republic of China” (GZE7018 4 R i B E BB 2 MM b A B2 FTAT) and China
B E R ) Academy of Management Science Advisory

Department (F B1%E 12 B} 287 5T b 75 70 26)
201944 8 [EE70BFRENBE FHRERE] B 12 R 2 TE B 20 B 2 T A R AR B B IR A

September 2020

20204F9 R

“Qutstanding Persons for 40 Years of Private
Education of Guangdong” (EREM#HE A
FREBRIAD)

[BERERBHEOHBEFREBERIAY]

B 7T b 74 2R B0 B & AR
Guangdong Province Private Education Association

(BERERMHEHE)

ERERBAREHE

Mr. Zhang is the father of Mr. Zhang Yude, an executive Director of the Company.

Mr. YE Yaming (¥%87), aged 64, was appointed as an executive Director and
chief executive officer of the Company on December 18, 2017, and resigned as
chief executive officer of the Company with effect from November 19, 2021. Mr.
Ye was also appointed as a member of the Remuneration Committee on August 16,
2019. He is primarily responsible for the overall operation and management of the

Group.

Mr. Ye's dedication to education has been well recognized. The following sets out
the awards received by him:

Date
=B

Awards

2815
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Awarding authority
R

September 1994

1994494
March 1998

199843 A
September 2004

200449 R

“Outstanding Educator of Vocational Training in
Guangdong Province” ("ERELEZIES
HED")

[ERE R ES A
Advanced Worker of the Labor System in the City
(BT ERFTETIESE)

EMEHERLETIEE

“Guangzhou Outstanding Educator” (“E/MNHES
HENEHE TIEE)")

[BEMNTERHE (S TEE) ]

Guangdong Provincial Labor Department (EER&
45 E)EE) (currently known as the Department
of Human Resources and Social Security of
Guangdong Province (BRE AN ERME R
FEE2))

BRELHECEBERE AN ERFMLSRERE)

Qingyuan Labor Bureau (M4 8 F) (currently
known as Qingyuan Municipal Human Resources
and Social Security Bureau (& A1 ERAML
BRED))

BEMBHR/(RWEETANE RN ESRER)

Jointly presented by Guangzhou Education Bureau
(BM™ZEB) and Guangzhou Education
Foundation (BMT#EESS)
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Mr. ZHANG Yude (FR#1E), aged 32, was appointed as a non-executive Director
of the Company on December 18, 2017 and re-designated from a non-executive
Director to an executive Director and appointed as the chief operating officer of
the Company on November 19, 2021. He is primarily responsible for the overall
operation of the Group.

Mr. Zhang Yude has been the assistant to the chairman of Huali Investment since
December 2015. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Zhang Yude served as a financial
analyst at Mandarin Investment Group in California, the United States of America
from May 2014 to December 2015.

Mr. Zhang Yude is the son of Mr. Zhang Zhifeng, the chairman of the Board and an
executive Director.

Mr. ZOU Kang (#8EE), aged 56, was appointed as an executive Director of the
Company on November 19, 2021. He is primarily responsible for vocational training
business of the Group and daily operation and management of Huali Technician
College.

Mr. Zou has intensive experience in both management and research on technical
education and professional training. He has been the President and the Secretary
of Party Committee of Guangdong Province Huali Technician College (BEHR& T
R RMEFT) since September 2018. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Zou successively
served as a faculty member, the deputy director of Academic & Student Affairs
Department, the director of President’s Office, the President Assistant, the Deputy
President, the President, and the Secretary of Party General Branch of Jiangmen
Technician College (TPIMHATEZBR) (previously known as JTPI™H i TER),
from December 1992 to August 2018. He was awarded the Provincial Prominent
Teacher of Technician Colleges of Guangdong in 1995, the Prominent President
of Jiangmen City in 2002, and the Prominent President of Guangdong Technician
Colleges in 2011.

Mr. Zou obtained a Bachelor of Science degree in Mathematics from the Jiangxi
Normal University (T PHRT&IAEE) in the PRC in July 1988 and obtained the Training
Course Certificate of Graduate Students from the South China Normal University (3£
FIAM& A2 in the PRC in May 1996. He obtained the Senior Lecturer Professional
Title in Mathematics in 1999 and was selected as the national supervisor of
technician colleges by the Ministry of Human Resources and Social Security of the
PRC in 2009.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. CHIU Lai Kuen Susanna (#E#8) MH JP, aged 63, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director and the chairman of the Audit Committee
on July 17, 2020. She is primarily responsible for supervising the compliance and
corporate governance matters of the Group and providing independent opinions
and advice to the Board.

Ms. Chiu has been serving as an independent non-executive director of Nanyang
Commercial Bank since May 2018; an independent non-executive director of Kato
(Hong Kong) Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 2189), since May 2019; an independent non-executive
director of Huijing Holdings Company Limited, a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 9968), since December 2019; and an
independent director of Songz Automobile Air Conditioning Co. Ltd. (/&2
REBEZEFARD AR A A, a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock
code: 002454), since May 2020. From 2006 to 2019, she served as a senior vice
president, a director (Eastern and Central China) and a consultant in various member
companies of the Fung Group, which is principally engaged in trading, distribution,
logistics and retailing businesses. She was previously the chief operating officer and
the senior vice president of business development and corporate affairs of DVN
Holdings Company Limited (currently known as Frontier Services Group Limited), a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 500). Since
June 2021, she has been serving as an independent non-executive director of China
Qilfield Services Limited, a company both listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock
code: 601808) and the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 2883).

Ms. Chiu is currently a member of The Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference of Shanghai, the council treasurer of the Education University of Hong
Kong, and a member of the Women’s Commission. Ms. Chiu was awarded the
Medal of Honor by the Hong Kong Government in 2013 for her achievement and
dedication in public services, especially in relation to the accounting profession.
She was also awarded the Outstanding Business Women Award by Hong Kong
Commercial Daily in 2017.

Ms. Chiu graduated with Class One Honours in Economics from the University
of Sheffield in the United Kingdom in 1982 and obtained an Executive Master of
Business Administration degree from the Chinese University of Hong Kong in Hong
Kong in 1997.
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Mr. YANG Ying (#3), aged 65, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director, the chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member of the Audit
Committee and the Nomination Committee on August 16, 2019. He is primarily
responsible for supervising the compliance and corporate governance matters of the
Group and providing independent opinions and advice to the Board.

Mr. Yang is a professor at the School of Economics and the dean of the Investment
Economics Department at Jinan University (2E K2). Mr. Yang joined Jinan
University in April 1988, at which he was successively a teaching assistant, lecturer
and associate professor at the School of Economics before being appointed to his
current position. Prior to joining Jinan University, Mr. Yang was a teaching assistant
in finance at the Guangdong Institute for Nationalities (BERREETI LX) from
September 1987 to April 1988.

Apart from his teaching career, Mr. Yang has played an active role in civic
engagements. He was a member of the Standing Committee of the 11th and 12th
People’s Congress of Guangdong Province (5 +—f@hFE+ZEEREAKREZE
@) and is the vice president of Council of the 1st Think Tank Association for the
Promotion of Economic and Scientific Development of Guangdong Province (5 —J&

EREEENPEREE(RESERS).

The following table also sets out Mr. Yang's key publications:
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Year of publication Title Publisher/Newspaper (as the case maybe)

H R 4 5] HiR A RECRERTE)

2002 New Theory of Hong Kong Economy (& BLE Jinan University Publishing (2R A2 i r L)
i)

20024 (CEBR B BEEAZ R

2016 Preliminary Study on the Basic Ideas about China Development ({1 BZ /& ))
Construction of the GPRD Free Trade Area
(KERBHESABRBEERRZRBEHT))

20164 (BEREHESAREBERERBEHAT) (PEEER)
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Mr. DING Yi (T ), aged 60, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director and a member of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and
the Nomination Committee on August 16, 2019. He is primarily responsible for
supervising the compliance and corporate governance matters of the Group and
providing independent opinions and advice to the Board.

Mr. Ding has been a teacher at South China Normal University (A0 A E2)
since July 2001 and has been serving as a professor at the School of Music at
the same institution since September 2006. Previously, Mr. Ding was a solo artist
of Guangdong Song & Dance Ensemble (R FFEFIPT) from September 1989 to
September 2001.

Mr. Ding has been a standing committee member of the 11th Guangdong Provincial
Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference (FFEBI A REUA
WEEFEET —EEREZBE) since January 2013.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Zhang Yiyu (GRE%), aged 31, was appointed as Chief Financial Officer of
the Company on February 2, 2023. He is mainly responsible for the investment and
financing, the financial management and overall governance of the Group.

Mr. Zhang Yiyu joined the Group in 2016. From September 2016 to November
2018, Mr. Zhang Yiyu was appointed as the assistant of the Chief Financial
Officer of the Company, mainly responsible for the preparation of listing. From
December 2018 to October 2022, Mr. Zhang Yiyu served as a senior associate in
PricewaterhouseCoopers Zhong Tian LLP, Guangzhou Branch, mainly responsible
for providing audit and assurance services for the manufacturing and real estate
industries.

Mr. Zhang Yiyu received his bachelor’'s degree in Business Administration with
concentration in Accounting from the University of the Incarnate Word in May
2016. Mr. Zhang Yiyu obtained the Certified Public Accountant offered by the
Washington Institute of Certified Public Accountants in February 2019. Mr. Zhang
Yiyu also obtained the Certified Public Accountant offered by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants in September 2022.
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Mr. Kenneth Ke (f12£#5), aged 38, was appointed as Chief Development Officer
of the Company on January 3, 2023. He is mainly responsible for investor relations,
new business development on top of the Group’s core higher education business as
well as corporate strategy and capital operation matters.

Mr. Ke joined the Group in 2023. Since June 2021 and before being appointed
as the chief development officer of the Company on January 3, 2023, Mr. Ke has
been the founder and chief executive officer of Shenzhen Bamboo Intelligence
Technology Co., Ltd.* (RYIEMEZRHXERAF). From 2010 to 2011, Mr. Ke
successively served as an analyst, investment manager and special assistant to the
president of ARC China Inc. (EBIZ=3ME &) (a US dollar private equity fund), where
he participated in the completion of over US$100 million of equity investments
in consumer sector. From 2011 to 2014, Mr. Ke co-founded” FansTang (#3 %
)", a Hollywood and NBA celebrity agency, where he led the completion of the
company’s angel, series A and series B rounds of financing and exits via mergers
and acquisitions by Remark Holdings Inc. (a company listed on the Nasdag, stock
code: MARK.US). He served as the deputy director of Investor Relations Department
of Tian Ge Interactive Holdings Limited (K5 G ENIEARBRRAR]) (@ company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1980) from 2014 to 2016,
and subsequently served as the head of Investor Relations Department of IMAX
CHINA (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code:
1970) from 2016 to 2017. From August 2017 to November 2017, Mr. Ke was the
head of Investor Relations Department of Tencent Music Entertainment Group (%
S LIRLEE) (a company listed on the New York Stock Exchange, stock code:
TME.US). From November 2017 to January 2020, he served as the managing
director of China New Higher Education Group (FFEI¥1= %% ®) (a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 2001). Mr. Ke was the chief
investment officer of Renrui Human Resources Technology Group (AX AA Rl &
%)) (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 6919)
from February 2020 to May 2021. When working in the above companies, Mr. Ke
was mainly responsible for initial public offerings, compliance of the Listing Rules,
Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG), investments, mergers and acquisitions,
follow-on placements, convertible bonds, syndicated loans, strategic development,
new business incubation and cooperation with public welfare institutions.

Mr. Ke received his bachelor’s degree in business administration from De La Salle
University in June 2006.
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Mr. Jiao Jianpeng (5 f2M), aged 39, was appointed as a vice president of the
Company on August 4, 2022. He is mainly responsible for the adult academic
education business, civil servant training business and postgraduate entrance
examination training business of the Group.

Mr. Jiao joined the Group in 2008. Since July 2008, Mr. Jiao successively served as
the secretary of the chairman’s office and a deputy director of the procurement
management centre of Huali Investment. From July 2008 to October 2017, Mr.
Jiao served as a full-time teacher in the Department of Mechanical and Electrical
Engineering of Guangzhou Huali College. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Jiao
worked as an assistant engineer in Guangdong Light Industry Machinery Co., Ltd.
from August 2007 to July 2008.

Mr. Jiao received his bachelor’s degree in mechanical design, manufacturing and
automation from Guangdong University of Technology in June 2007.

Mr. Lin Zhixiang (#7&#), aged 37, was appointed as a vice president of the
Company on August 4, 2022. He is mainly responsible for development of academic
qualification improvement business, and vocational energy-saving training business

of the Group.

Mr. Lin has been the assistant to the chairman of Huali Investment since March
2021. From July 2020 to February 2021, Mr. Lin served as a deputy general
manager of Huali Property, mainly responsible for finance and financing.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Lin served as a sales manager of Mitsui & Co.
(Guangdong) Ltd from July 2009 to June 2012, mainly responsible for domestic
and foreign trade of non-ferrous metals. From July 2012 to November 2014, Mr.
Lin served as an account manager of Guangzhou Zengcheng Sub-branch of China
Merchants Bank, responsible for corporate business marketing. From December
2014 to August 2016, Mr. Lin served as the head of the business department of
Guangzhou Zengcheng Sub-branch of China Merchants Bank, mainly responsible for
the corporate business of the sub-branch. Subsequently from August 2016 to June
2020, he served as the assistant to the president of the Guangzhou Zengcheng Sub-
branch of Industrial Bank, mainly responsible for assisting the president in managing
the corporate financial team, developing external customers, and providing financial

services.

Mr. Lin obtained his bachelor's degree in international economics and trade from
Guangdong University of Foreign Studies (BERZMNEINEAZ) in June 2009.
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Ms. Lei Yingran (F#E ), aged 30, joined the Group in 2015. Ms. Lei was
appointed as a joint company secretary of the Company on May 17, 2021. Ms.
Lei is currently a deputy director of the office of the Board since December 2019.
From March 2016 to November 2019, Ms. Lei served as the administrative secretary
of the Listing Preparation Group of Huali Investment (a consolidated entity of the
Company) responsible for the listing matters of the Company such as legal due
diligence, verification of prospectus and administrative archive keeping. From August
2015 to February 2016, Ms. Lei served as an English teacher in Huali Vocational
College, a consolidated affiliated entity of the Company.

Ms. Lei obtained her bachelor’'s degree in English from Guangdong University of
Foreign Studies (BERINEINEKE) in July 2015.
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The Board is pleased to present its report together with the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year ended
August 31, 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group is principally engaged in the operation of private higher and vocational
education institutions. Analysis of the principal activities of the Group during the
Reporting Period is set out in the note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the principal subsidiaries of the Company as at August 31, 2023 are set
out in note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The results of the Group for the year ended August 31, 2023 are set out in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income on page 138.

A fair review of the business of the Group during the year and its likely future
development and outlook, important events affecting the Company that
have occurred since the end of the financial year, an analysis of the Group’s
performance during the year using financial key performance indicators, discussions
on the Group's environmental policies and performance, details regarding the
Group's compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the Group, and the Group’s key relationships with stakeholders as
required under Schedule 5 of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws
of Hong Kong) are set out in “Chairman’s Statement”, “Management Discussion
and Analysis”, “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” and “Corporate
Governance Report” of this annual report and all such discussions constitute part
of this report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Save as disclosed in the section headed "Risks associated with the Structured
Contracts and the actions taken to mitigate the risks” in this report, the following
list is @ summary of certain principal risks and uncertainties facing by the Group:

o Our business depends on our ability to maintain or raise the tuition fee rates
and boarding fee rates we charge at our schools;

o Our business and results of operations depend on the number of students
we may admit, which in turn is subject to the admission quotas approved
by relevant education authorities and limited by the capacity of our school
facilities;

° We are exposed to concentration risks as all of our schools are located in
Guangdong Province.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) in compliance
with code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code with effect from December 23, 2019.

According to the Dividend Policy, (i) no less than 30% of the distributable net
profit attributable to the shareholders of the Company may be distributed to
the Shareholders and (ii) dividends may be distributed twice a year after the
announcement of the interim results and the annual results, respectively.

Any amount of dividends we pay will be at the discretion of our Directors and will
depend on inter alia, general business conditions and other internal or external
factors that may have an impact on the business or financial performance and
position of the Company; the Group’s actual and expected financial performance;
the Group’s expected capital requirements and future expansion plans; statutory
and regulatory restrictions; contractual restrictions on the payment of dividends
by the Company to the Shareholders or by the subsidiaries of the Company to the
Company; taxation considerations; Shareholders’ interests; and other factors that
the Board deems relevant.

Any declaration and payment as well as the amount of dividends will be subject
to our constitutional documents and the relevant laws. Even if the Board decides
to recommend and declare dividends, the form, frequency and amount of the
dividends will be subject to the factors as disclosed above and such other factors
affecting the Group.

The Dividend Policy will continue to be reviewed from time to time and there is
no assurance that dividends will be recommended or declared in any particular
amount for any given period.

DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved not to declare any final dividend for the year ended
August 31, 2023 (year ended August 31, 2022: nil).

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The forthcoming AGM will be held on January 26, 2024. Notice convening the
forthcoming AGM will be published and dispatched to the Shareholders in due

course.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Tuesday, January
23, 2024 to Friday, January 26, 2024, both days inclusive, during which period no
transfer of Shares will be registered. The record date for the entitlement to attend
and vote at the AGM is Friday, January 26, 2024. In order to be eligible to attend
and vote at the forthcoming AGM, all transfer documents accompanied by the
relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s Hong Kong share
registrar, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at Shops 1712-
1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong
for registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, January 22, 2024.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of changes in the share capital of the Company during the year ended
August 31, 2023 are set out in note 23 to the consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group during the
year ended August 31, 2023 are set out in note 15 to the consolidated financial
statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company during the year ended
August 31, 2023 are set out in note 34 to the consolidated financial statements.
As at August 31, 2023, the Company’s reserve available for distribution to equity
holders amounted to approximately RMB602.4 million.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended August 31, 2023 and up to the date of this
report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Zhifeng (Chairman of the Board)
Mr. Ye Yaming

Mr. Zhang Yude

Mr. Zou Kang

Independent non-executive Directors
Ms. Chiu Lai Kuen Susanna MH JP

Mr. Yang Ying

Mr. Ding Yi

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management of our Company are
set out in “Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report.
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Pursuant to Article 16.19 of the Articles of Association, Mr. Zhang Yude, Mr. Zou
Kang, Mr. Yang Ying and Mr. Ding Yi shall retire by rotation and, being eligible,
have offered themselves for re-election at the forthcoming AGM.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive Directors
an annual written confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. The Company considers all the independent non-executive Directors
are independent.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the Executive Directors has entered into a service contract with the
Company for a period of three years commencing from November 19, 2021 or
August 16, 2022. The term of each of the service contracts shall end when the
service contract is terminated in accordance with the terms and conditions of the
service contract or by either party giving to the other party not less than three
months’ prior notice in writing.

Each of independent non-executive Directors has entered into an appointment
letter with the Company for an initial period of three years commencing from
August 16, 2022 or July 17, 2023 which may be terminated in accordance with
the terms and conditions of the appointment letter or by either party serving on
the other party a prior written notice of not less than three months. None of the
Directors has entered into a service contract which is not determinable by the
Group within one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

CHANGE IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

During the year ended August 31, 2023, there was no change in the information
which is required to be disclosed and has been disclosed by the Directors pursuant
to paragraphs (a) to (e) and (g) of rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at August 31, 2023, the interests and short positions of the Directors and chief
executive of the Company in the Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of the
Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short
positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of
the SFO), or which were recorded in the register required to be kept pursuant to
section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code were as follows:
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Approximate
Percentage of

Number of Shareholding

Name of Director or Chief Executive Capacity/Nature of Interest Shares Held in the Company®

12D A RER

EERFETRABHRS 5% REmitE RO E BMYOBFD O

Mr. Zhang Zhifeng? Settlor of trust 900,000,000 (L) 75.0%
REIEFEAED EREEFEA

Mr. Zhang Yude® Beneficiary of trust 900,000,000 (L) 75.0%
RIGTEFED FREEHEA

(L) — Long position
Notes:

(1) As at August 31, 2023, the total number of issued Shares was 1,200,000,000 Shares.

(2) The sole shareholder of Huali Education is Trust Co. The entire equity interest in Trust Co is
held on trust by UBS Nominees Limited for UBS Trustees (B.V.l.) Limited. UBS Trustees (B.V.l.)
Limited is the trustee of HL-Diamond Trust. HL-Diamond Trust is a discretionary trust established
by Mr. Zhang Zhifeng as the settlor and with Mr. Zhang Zhifeng and his spouse and children as
the beneficiaries. Therefore, each of Mr. Zhang Zhifeng and his spouse and children, Trust Co
and UBS Trustees (B.V.l.) Limited is deemed to be interested in the 900,000,000 Shares held by
Huali Education.

(3) Mr. Zhang Yude (the son of Mr. Zhang Zhifeng) was one of the beneficiaries of HL-Diamond
Trust.

Save as disclosed above, as at August 31, 2023, none of the Directors or the
chief executive of the Company had or was deemed to have any interest or short
position in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) that was
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions
which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or
required to be recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352
of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this report, at no time during the Reporting Period was
the Company or any of its subsidiaries, a party to any arrangement that would
enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in,
or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate, and none of the
Directors or any of their spouses or children under the age of 18 were granted any
right to subscribe for the equity or debt securities of the Company or any other
body corporate or had exercised any such right.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

As at August 31, 2023, to the best knowledge of the Directors, the following
persons (other than the Directors or chief executive of the Company) had interests
or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares which fall to be disclosed to
the Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3
of Part XV of the SFO or as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO:

FERRNRGD K AABERD 2
BERAR

#M2023F8A31H - BESEMAM - LTAL(E
FEFRARAREBITIRAB) RIS ABRIAR
MHEEREESRBAEGRAEXVIBE2RES
DA IE A M AR R R B A BT i BE SR R
RARBEES RS GAIE3361GEFETHE
ERAIALNLE T Y-

Approximate
Percentage
Number of of Shareholding

Name of Shareholder Capacity/Nature of Interest Shares Held in the Company®
1HA 2 B RAER

RERERE B EEE FERGEE BABED O

UBS Trustees (B.V.l.) Limited® Trustee 900,000,000 (L) 75.0%

UBS Trustees (B.V.l.) Limited®@ ZEEA

UBS Nominees Limited® Interest in controlled corporation 900,000,000 (L) 75.0%

UBS Nominees Limited? XA E 2w

Trust Co® Interest in controlled corporation 900,000,000 (L) 75.0%

Trust Co® RIEAE 2w

Huali Education®@ Beneficial owner 900,000,000 (L) 75.0%

ETHAEY EniBA

51job.Inc Beneficial owner 68,331,000 (L) 5.7%

51job.Inc BmEAA

(L)— Long position
Notes:

(1) As at August 31, 2023, the total number of issued Shares was 1,200,000,000 Shares.

(2) The sole shareholder of Huali Education is Trust Co. The entire equity interest in Trust Co is held
on trust by UBS Nominees Limited for UBS Trustees (B.V.l.) Limited. UBS Trustees (B.V.l.) Limited
is the trustee of HL-Diamond Trust. HL-Diamond Trust is a discretionary trust established by Mr.
Zhang Zhifeng as the settlor and with Mr. Zhang Zhifeng and his spouse and children being
the beneficiaries. Therefore, each of Mr. Zhang Zhifeng and his spouse and children, Trust Co
and UBS Trustees (B.V.l.) Limited is deemed to be interested in the 900,000,000 Shares held by
Huali Education.

Save as disclosed above, as at August 31, 2023, the Directors were not aware of
any interests or short positions owned by any persons (other than the Directors
or chief executive of the Company) in the Shares or underlying Shares which fall
to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or as recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.
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RESTRICTED SHARE AWARD SCHEME

On July 21, 2021, our Company adopted the Restricted Share Award Scheme (the
“Scheme”) in which any employee (whether full time or part time) of any member
of the Group, in each case, in the sole and absolute discretion of the Board, who
have contributed or will contribute to the growth and development of the Group (the
"Eligible Participant(s)”), will be entitled to participate.

Purposes and Objectives

The purposes and objectives of the Scheme are (i) to recognise the contributions
by certain Eligible Participants and to provide them with incentives in order to
retain them for the continual operation and development of the Group; (i) to
attract suitable personnel for further development of the Group; and (iii) to
provide certain Eligible Participants with a direct economic interest in attaining a
long-term relationship with the Group.

Duration

Subject to any early termination as may be determined by the Board pursuant
to the Scheme Rules, the Scheme shall be valid and effective for 10 years
commencing from the date of the first grant of any award.

Scheme Limit

The Board shall not make any further award of awarded Shares which will result
in the number of Shares awarded by the Board under the Scheme exceeding 2%
of the issued share capital of the Company from time to time.

The maximum number of Shares which may be awarded to a Eligible Participant
under the Scheme shall not exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the Company
from time to time.

Share purchase pursuant to the Scheme

On July 21, 2021, the Board resolved to cause to be paid an amount of cash to
the Trustee, namely Kastle Limited, for the purchase of the Shares on and/or off
the market at appropriate time for the operation of the Scheme at any time at its
discretion.

For more details of the Scheme, please refer to the announcement of our
Company dated July 21, 2021.

Since July 21, 2021 and up to the date of this annual report, the Board neither
granted, lapsed or cancelled any awards nor caused to purchase or subscribe
Shares from the trustee with the trust fund.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed
any of the Company’s listed securities during the Reporting Period.

BORROWINGS

As at August 31, 2023, the Group has bank and other borrowings of
approximately RMB2,445.8 million (August 31, 2022: approximately RMB2,449.4
million). Details of which were disclosed in note 28 to the consolidated financial
statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the Restricted Share Award Scheme as set out in the section headed
"RESTRICTED SHARE AWARD SCHEME " above in this report, no equity-linked
agreements were entered into by the Company during or subsisted at the end of
the Reporting Period.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTION,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Connected Transactions” in this Directors’
report and otherwise disclosed in this annual report, no transaction, arrangement
or contract of significance in relation to the business of the Group to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director or his/her
connected entity was materially interested, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted
at any time during or at the end of the Reporting Period.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the Group’s business subsisted during the year ended August
31, 2023.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS' INTEREST IN
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Connected Transactions” in this
Directors’ report and otherwise disclosed in this annual report, no contract of
significance to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in
which the controlling Shareholders of the Company or an entity connected with
the controlling Shareholders had a material interest, either directly or indirectly,
subsisted during the year ended August 31, 2023.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Articles of Association provide that every Director or other officer of the
Company shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company
against all losses or liabilities incurred or sustained by him as a Director or other
officer of the Company in defending any proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in
which judgment is given in his favour, or in which he is acquitted. Such provision
was in force during the year and remained in force as at the date of this report.

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for Directors’ and
officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against its Directors and senior
management arising out of corporate activities. The permitted indemnity provision
is in force for the benefit of the Directors as required by section 470 of the
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the laws of Hong Kong) where the Report
of the Board of the Directors prepared by the Directors is approved in accordance
with section 391(1) (a) of the Companies Ordinance.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of Association or
the applicable laws of the Cayman Islands where the Company is incorporated,
which would oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to
existing Shareholders.

RELIEF OF TAXATION

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to the Shareholders
of the Company by reason of their holding of the listed securities of the Company.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last
five financial years is set out on page 237 of the annual report.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Major Customers

For the year ended August 31, 2023, the Group’s customers primarily consist of
the Group’s students. The Group did not have any single customer who accounted
for more than 5% of the Group's revenue.
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Major Suppliers

For the year ended August 31, 2023, the Group's five largest suppliers accounted
for 59.2% (for the year ended August 31, 2022: 62.6%) of the Group’'s total
purchases and our single largest supplier accounted for 23.0% (for the year ended
August 31, 2022: 34.9%) of the Group’s total purchases.

As at the date of this report, except for Huali Construction and its subsidiaries,
none of the Directors or any of their close associates or any Shareholders (which,
to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the number of
issued Shares) had any interest in the Group’s five largest customers and suppliers.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Please see note 33 “Related Party Transactions” in the notes to the consolidated
financial statements, which contains details of the transactions that fall under
the definition of “connected transaction” or “continuing connected transaction”
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The Company confirms that it has complied with the requirements under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules in entering into the transactions during the Reporting
Period.

Continuing Connected Transactions

During the Reporting Period, the Group has entered into the following non-
exempt continuing connected transactions pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules:

School Properties Lease Agreement with Yunfu Bilingual
School

Background of the connected person

Yunfu Bilingual School is controlled by Mr. Zhang, our Controlling Shareholder,
chairman and executive Director through Hualiyuan Technology as the school
sponsor. As such, Yunfu Bilingual School is a connected person of our Company
pursuant to Rule 14A.07 of the Listing Rules.
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Principal terms of the School Properties Lease Agreement with
Yunfu Bilingual School dated September 5, 2017 supplemented
by supplemental agreements dated October 9, 2017 and April
26, 2018 (the “School Properties Lease Agreement with Yunfu
Bilingual School”)

Date September 5, 2017 (supplemented on October 9, 2017 and April
26, 2018)
Parties (1) Huali Vocational College (lessor)

(2)  Yunfu Bilingual School (lessee)

Terms from September 1, 2016 to August 31, 2036

Properties Number 6 teaching building, Number 14 student dormitory
building and Number 2 sports ground located at the Planned Huali
Vocational College Yunfu Campus

Pursuant to the School Properties Lease Agreement with Yunfu Bilingual School,
Huali Vocational College leased the relevant school properties located at the
Planned Huali Vocational College Yunfu Campus with a total GFA of approximately
44,936 sq. m. to Yunfu Bilingual School at annual rental fees. Such rental fees
are determined based on the pre-agreed monthly rental price of up to RMB23.05
per sg. m. during the term of the School Properties Lease Agreement with Yunfu
Bilingual School, and shall be paid by Yunfu Bilingual School to Huali Vocational
College on or before October 31 of each year during the term.

Transaction Amount for the Reporting Period

The amount of rental fee receivable from Yunfu Bilingual School pursuant to the
School Properties Lease Agreement with Yunfu Bilingual School for the Reporting
Period was RMB6,261,000.

For further details of the School Properties Lease Agreement with Yunfu Bilingual
School, please refer to the section headed “Connected Transactions — Continuing
Connected Transactions” in the Prospectus.

Construction Services Framework Agreement and
Supplemental Agreement with Huali Construction
Background of the connected person

Huali Construction was 99.97% and 0.03% directly owned by Mr. Zhang and Mr.
Zhang Zhifan, the brother of Mr. Zhang, respectively. As such, Huali Construction
is a connected person of our Company pursuant to Rule 14A.07 of the Listing
Rules.
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Revision of Annual Cap and Renewal of Construction Services
Framework Agreement

On July 17, 2020 (after trading hours), the Company and Huali Construction
entered into the construction services framework agreement (the “Construction
Services Framework Agreement”), pursuant to which Huali Construction and/or
its subsidiaries have agreed to provide construction services for the Group’s school
campuses in the PRC (including the existing campuses and the proposed new
campuses) until August 31, 2023. Having considered the relevant factors, including
the delay in construction works primarily as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic
which contributed to the delay in construction completion, the estimated amount
of construction services to be required by the Group and the expected progress of
such construction works, the Company and Huali Construction entered into the
supplemental construction services framework agreement (the “Supplemental
Construction Services Framework Agreement”) on May 12, 2023 (after the
trading hours) to revise the annual cap for the total transaction sum under the
Construction Services Framework Agreement for the year ending August 31,
2023 and continue the provision of construction services for the Group’s school
campuses in the PRC (including the existing campuses and the new campuses)) for
a term of one year commencing from September 1, 2023 to August 31, 2024.

Principal terms of the Supplemental Construction Services
Framework Agreement with Huali Construction

The principal terms of the Supplemental Construction Services Framework
Agreement are set out below:

Date: May 12, 2023

Parties: The Company; and
Huali Construction

Subject Huali Construction and/or its subsidiaries have agreed to, during

matter: the term of the Supplemental Construction Services Framework
Agreement, provide construction services for the Group’s school
campuses (including the existing campuses and the new campuses)
in the PRC. The Group and Huali Construction will enter into a
separate contract for each construction project.

Term: Commencing from the date of the Supplemental Construction
Services Framework Agreement to August 31, 2024 (both days
inclusive).
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Pricing
policy:

The construction fees and the terms of each individual contract
must be fair and reasonable for both the Group and Huali
Construction, and should be determined based on general
commercial terms in the ordinary and usual course of business. The
Group will make reference to the market prices and the charging
basis for the same or similar services provided by independent third
parties, in any event, it shall not be less than three comparable
transactions (if no comparable transaction or quotation is available,
the Group will review the proposed transactions (including its
payment terms) based on its past experience and public information
on the market, if available). Further, the Group shall also take into
account the historical purchase prices for the relevant construction
fees and the terms of the historical contracts to ensure that the
price provided by Huali Construction and/or its subsidiaries is not
less favourable to the Group. In addition, the construction fees and
the terms of each individual contract shall be based on general
commercial terms in the ordinary and usual course of business and
shall be no less favourable than those offered by the Independent
Third Parties. In addition, the Group shall consider the same or
comparable transactions completed by Independent Third Parties
in the same or the most recent period when determining the
construction fees and the terms of each individual contract.

In addition, the relevant personnel of the in frastructure management
office of the Company shall compare other transactions or quotations
for similar transactions with Independent Third Parties and ensure that
the terms offered by Huali Construction (including its payment terms)
are (i) within the ordinary businesses of the Group; (ii) on normal
commercial terms and conditions and no less favorable to the Group;
(i) fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders; and (iv)
in compliance with the Group’s pricing and internal control measures
and policies for connected transactions.
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Payment
term:

Condition
precedent:

If the construction project relates to civil engineering works and
installation works (including fire safety works, water supply and
drainage works, indoor electrical works, low current embedding
works and lightning protection works), pricing will be based on
the guidance of the Code of Valuation with Bill of Quantities of
Construction Works (2R IR IRE/EEEHEE)) (national
standard) (including updates on such guidance materials issued
by the regulatory authorities from time to time). In addition,
(i) for civil engineering works, the pricing will be based on the
Guangdong Comprehensive Quota of Housing Construction
and Decoration Projects ((EREFERFEMARM TIRLETERE))
(provincial standard) (including updates on such guidance materials
issued by the regulatory authorities from time to time); and (ii) for
installation works, the pricing will be based on the Guangdong
Comprehensive Quota of General Installation Projects ((ER%& i\
AZHTR4ETEE)) (provindial level) (including updates on such
guidance materials issued by the regulatory authorities from time to
time).The prices of major materials to be used in the construction
projects will be based on the construction project reference prices
issued by the Cost Management Department of the Housing and
Urban-Rural Development Bureau (£ R EZBHEEEIEI
F9) of the project location during the construction period, which
will be updated on a monthly basis. The Group shall engage an
independent licensed construction consulting company before the
commencement of the construction works and upon completion of
the construction works to check whether the transaction price in
the construction projects carried out by Huali Construction and/or
its subsidiaries are based on the above government guidelines.

The payment and settlement will be based on each individual
contract to be executed by the parties. The Group will typically
pay (i) approximately 25% of the total contract sum as upfront
payment within 7 days after the signing of the individual contract,
(i) progress payment equal to 60% of the value of construction
work completed by Huali Construction and/or its subsidiaries, and
(iii) up to 100% of the total contract sum upon post completion
inspection, subject to approximately 3% of the total contract sum
may be retained as quality assurance deposit which will be paid
upon expiry of the defect liability period (usually being 20 days
from the passing of completion inspection of the construction
works).

The effectiveness of the Supplemental Construction Services
Framework Agreement is conditional upon the Company having
obtained the Independent Shareholders’ approval in respect of the
Supplemental Construction Services Framework Agreement and the
transactions contemplated thereunder.
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Transaction Amount for the Reporting Period
The transaction amount under the Construction Services Framework Agreement with
Huali Construction for the Reporting Period was approximately RMB182,011,000.

For further details of the Construction Services Framework Agreement with Huali
Construction, please refer to the Company’s circular dated August 28, 2020 and
July 12, 2023 from our website.

Structured Contracts

The PRC laws and regulations currently restrict operation of tertiary education
to Sino-foreign ownership, in addition to imposing a qualification requirement
on the foreign owners. Further, government approval in respect of Sino-foreign
ownership is being withheld. As a result, the Group, through our wholly-owned
subsidiary, Huali Shengda, has entered into the Structured Contracts such that
we can conduct our business operations indirectly in the PRC through the PRC
Operating Entities and Huali Investment while complying with applicable PRC law
and regulations. The Structured Contracts are designed to provide the Group with
effective control over the financial and operational policies of the PRC Operating
Entities and Huali Investment and, to the extent permitted by PRC law and
regulations, the right to acquire the equity interest in and/or the assets of the PRC
Operating Entities and Huali Investment after the Listing through Huali Shengda.
As we operate our education business through the PRC Operating Entities and
Huali Investment, which are controlled by Huali Investment and the Registered
Shareholder respectively and we do not hold any direct equity interest in the PRC
Operating Entities, the Structured Contracts were entered into on March 23, 2017,
pursuant to which all material business activities of the PRC Operating Entities are
directed and supervised by the Group, through Huali Shengda, and all economic
benefits arising from such business of the PRC Operating Entities and Huali
Investment are transferred to the Group.
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Our wholly-owned subsidiary, Huali Shengda, entered into a series of agreements
with the PRC Operating Entities and Huali Investment, including the Business
Cooperation Agreement, the Exclusive Technical Service and Management
Consultancy Agreement, the Exclusive Call Option Agreement, the Equity Pledge
Agreement, the School Sponsor’'s and Directors’ Rights Entrustment Agreement,
the School Sponsor’s Power of Attorney, the School Directors’ Power of Attorney,
the Spouse Undertaking, the Registered Shareholder’s Rights Entrustment
Agreement and the Registered Shareholder’s Power of Attorney, which form part
of the Structured Contracts and the content of which was supplemented from
time to time.

For further details, please refer to the section headed “Structured Contracts” of
this report.

Waiver from the Stock Exchange

In respect of the Structured Contracts, we have applied to the Stock Exchange
for, and the Stock Exchange has granted, a waiver from strict compliance with
(i) the announcement, circular and Shareholders’ approval requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect of the transactions contemplated
under the Structured Contracts pursuant to Rule 14A.105 of the Listing Rules, (ii)
the requirement of setting an annual cap for the transactions under the Structured
Contracts under Rule 14A.53 of the Listing Rules, and (iii) the requirement of
limiting the term of the Structured Contracts to three years or less under Rule
14A.52 of the Listing Rules. The specific waiver granted by the Stock Exchange is
subject to various conditions as disclosed in the “Connected Transactions” section
of the Prospectus, which include, among others, disclosure in our annual reports
of the Structured Contracts in place during each financial period, engagement
of the Company’s auditor to report on the transactions carried out pursuant to
the Structured Contracts and issue of letter in respect of the above continuing
connected transactions in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules,
and annual review by the independent non-executive Directors of the Structured
Contracts and their confirmation in our annual report for the relevant year.

For further details of the structured contracts, please refer to the section headed
“Structured Contracts” in this report and the section headed “Connected
Transactions — Continuing Connected Transactions” in the Prospectus.
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Confirmation of independent non-executive Directors
The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the above-mentioned

continuing connected transactions (the “Continuing Connected Transactions”)

and confirmed that, during the Reporting Period:

(@)

(i)

(iii)

the Continuing Connected Transactions have been entered into in the
ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

the Continuing Connected Transactions are on normal commercial terms;
and

the Continuing Connected Transactions have been entered into in
accordance with relevant agreements governing them on terms that are fair

and reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders as a whole.

Confirmation of the Company’s auditor
The auditor of the Company has confirmed in a letter to the Board that, with

respect to the aforesaid Continuing Connected Transactions entered into in the
year ended August 31, 2023:

(a)

nothing has come to their attention that causes the auditor to believe that
the disclosed Continuing Connected Transactions have not been approved
by the Board;

for transactions involving the provision of goods or services by the Group,
nothing has come to their attention that causes the auditor to believe that
the transactions were not, in all material respects, in accordance with the
pricing policies of the Group;

nothing has come to their attention that causes the auditor to believe
that the transactions were not entered into, in all material respects, in

accordance with the relevant agreements governing such transactions;

with respect to the aggregate amount of the Continuing Connected
Transactions (other than those transactions with the PRC Operating Entities,
the legal owner of the PRC Operating Entities and Huali Shengda under the
contractual arrangements) set out in the section of Continuing Connected
Transactions, nothing has come to their attention that causes the auditor to
believe that the disclosed Continuing Connected Transactions have exceeded
the annual cap as set by the Company; and

with respect of the disclosed Continuing Connected Transactions with the
PRC Operating Entities, the legal owner of the PRC Operating Entities and
Huali Shengda under the contractual arrangements, nothing has come
to their attention that causes the auditor to believe that dividends or
other distributions have been made by the PRC Operating Entities to the
holders of the equity interests of school sponsor which are not otherwise
subsequently assigned or transferred to the Group.
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STRUCTURED CONTRACTS

Background of the Structured Contracts

We currently conduct our private education business through our PRC Operating
Entities in the PRC as PRC laws and regulations generally prohibit or restrict
foreign ownership in the private education industry in the PRC. PRC laws and
regulations currently restrict the operation of higher education institutions to
Sino-foreign cooperation, in addition to imposing qualification requirements on
the foreign sponsors. We do not hold any School Sponsor interest in our PRC
Operating Entities. The Structured Contracts, through which we obtain control
over and derive the economic benefits from our PRC Operating Entities, have been
narrowly tailored to achieve our business purpose and minimize the potential
conflict with relevant PRC laws and regulations.

In order to comply with the PRC laws and regulations as set out above while
availing ourselves of international capital markets and maintaining effective control
over all of our operations, on March 23, 2017, our wholly-owned subsidiary, Huali
Shengda and Huali Investment entered into various agreements that constitute
the Structured Contracts with, among others, our PRC Operating Entities, under
which all economic benefits arising from the business of our PRC Operating
Entities and Huali Investment were transferred to Huali Shengda to the extent
permitted under the PRC laws and regulations by means of service fees payable
by our PRC Operating Entities and Huali Investment to Huali Shengda. The parties
to the Structured Contracts each entered into certain supplemental agreements
(collectively, the “Supplemental Agreements”) dated September 19, 2017,
November 27, 2017, August 30, 2018, September 28, 2018, April 23, 2019, July
22, 2019, October 10, 2019, January 17, 2020 and July 20, 2020 respectively, to
supplement and amend certain terms of the Structured Contracts.
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The following simplified diagram illustrates the flow of economic benefits from our

PRC Operating Entities and Huali Investment to our Group stipulated under the

Structured Contracts:

AT EHRAREBESNRERTEEE
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Summary of the Material Terms of the Structured Contracts
A description of each of the specific agreements that comprise the Structured
Contracts (as amended and supplemented from time to time) is set out below.

(1) Business Cooperation Agreement

Pursuant to the Business Cooperation Agreement, Huali Shengda shall provide
technical services, management support and consulting services, necessary for the
private education business, and in return, Huali Investment and our PRC Operating
Entities shall make payments pursuant to the Structured Contracts.

To ensure the due performance of the Structured Contracts, each of our PRC
Operating Entities and Huali Investment agreed to comply, and procure its
subsidiaries to comply, with the obligations as prescribed under the Business
Cooperation Agreement set forth as follows in relation to the respective PRC
Operating Entity:

(i) to carry out its private education operations and the business of Huali
Investment in a prudent and efficient manner in accordance with good
financial and business standards while maintaining the asset value of Huali
Investment and our PRC Operating Entities and the quality and standard of
private education;

(i) to prepare school development plans and annual working plans in
accordance with the instructions of Huali Shengda;

(iii)  to carry out its private education activities and other relevant business under
the assistance of Huali Shengda;

(iv)  to carry out relevant business and manage its daily operations and financial
management in accordance with the recommendations, advice, principles
and other instructions of Huali Shengda;

(v)  to execute and act upon the recommendations of Huali Shengda in terms of
employment and removal of senior management and staff;

(vi)  to adopt the advice, guidance and plans given by Huali Shengda in relation
to their respective strategic development; and

(vii)  to carry out its business operations and renew and maintain its respective

necessary licenses for the purpose of development of education business.
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In addition, pursuant to the Business Cooperation Agreement,

(a)

the Registered Shareholder undertakes to Huali Shengda that, in the event
of death, loss of or restriction on capacity, divorce or other circumstances
which may affect the exercise of their equity interest in Huali Investment,
they shall have made all necessary arrangements and sign all necessary
documents such that their respective successor, guardian, spouse, and
any other person who may as a result of any of the above events obtain
the equity interest or relevant rights shall not prejudice or hinder the
enforcement of the Structured Contracts;

Huali Investment and the Registered Shareholder undertakes that, in the
event of dissolution or liquidation of our PRC Operating Entities or Huali
Investment, (i) Huali Shengda and/or its authorized person shall have the
rights to exercise all of the school sponsor’s rights on behalf of Huali
Investment and the shareholders’ interest in Huali Investment; (ii) Huali
Investment and/or its shareholder shall transfer all assets received or
receivable in its capacity as school sponsor of each of our PRC Operating
Entities and/or as the shareholder of Huali Investment as a result of the
dissolution or liquidation of our PRC Operating Entities and/or Huali
Investment to Huali Shengda or other persons designated by us at nil
consideration, (iii) if consideration is required for such transfer under
the then applicable PRC laws, Huali Investment and its shareholder shall
compensate Huali Shengda and/or the person as designated by us the
amount by proper means and guarantee that Huali Shengda and/or other
persons as designated by us does not suffer any loss; and

Huali Investment and our PRC Operating Entities agreed that, without
the prior written consent of Huali Shengda, Huali Investment and/or any
of our PRC Operating Entities shall not declare or pay to its shareholders
any bonus, returns, dividend or other interest or benefit. In the event
that the Registered Shareholder as shareholder of Huali Investment or
Huali Investment receive any bonus, returns, dividend or other interest or
benefit, the Registered Shareholder or Huali Investment shall unconditionally
and without compensation, transfer such amount to a specific account
designated by Huali Shengda as security for the performance of obligations
under the Structured Contracts and repayment of debt.
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(2) Exclusive Technical Service and Management Consultancy
Agreement

Pursuant to the Exclusive Technical Service and Management Consultancy
Agreement, Huali Shengda has agreed to provide exclusive technical services to
Huali Investment and our PRC Operating Entities, including but not limited to,
(a) design, development, update and maintenance of educational software for
computer and mobile devices; (b) design, development, update and maintenance of
webpages and websites necessary for the education activities of Huali Investment
and our PRC Operating Entities; (c) design, development, update and maintenance
of management information systems necessary for the education activities of Huali
Investment and our PRC Operating Entities; (d) provision of other technical support
necessary for the education activities of Huali Investment and our PRC Operating
Entities; (e) provision of technical consulting services; (f) provision of technical
training; (g) engaging technical staff to provide on-site technical support; and (h)
providing other technical services reasonably requested by Huali Investment and
our PRC Operating Entities.

Furthermore, Huali Shengda has agreed to provide exclusive management
consultancy services to Huali Investment and our PRC Operating Entities, including
but not limited to, (a) design of curriculum; (b) preparation, selection and/or
recommendation of course materials; (c) provision of teacher and staff recruitment
and training support and services; (d) provision of student recruitment support
and services; (e) provision of public relation services; (f) preparation of long-
term strategic development plans and annual working plans; (g) development of
financial management systems and recommendation and optimization on annual
budget; (h) advising on design of internal structures and internal management; (i)
provision of management and consultancy training; (j) conduct of market research;
(k) preparation of market development plan; (I) building of education management
network and (m) providing other technical services reasonably requested by Huali
Investment and our PRC Operating Entities.

In consideration of the technical and management consultancy services provided
by Huali Shengda, each of Huali Investment and our PRC Operating Entities agreed
to pay Huali Shengda a service fee equal to all of their respective amount of net
profit (after deducting all costs, expenses, taxes, losses from the previous year (if
required by law) and the legally compulsory development fund of the respective
school/statutory surplus reserve (if required by law); Huali Shengda has the right
(but not the obligation) to adjust the amount of such service fee by reference to
the actual services provided and the actual business operations and needs of Huali
Investment and our PRC Operating Entities, provided that any adjusted amount
shall not exceed the amount mentioned above. Huali Investment and our PRC
Operating Entities do not have any right to make any such adjustment.
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Pursuant to the Exclusive Technical Service and Management Consultancy
Agreement, unless otherwise prescribed under PRC laws and regulations, Huali
Shengda shall have exclusive proprietary rights to any intellectual property of the
technology developed and materials prepared in the course of the provision of
research and development, technical support and services by Huali Shengda to
Huali Investment and our PRC Operating Entities, and any intellectual property
in the products developed, including any other rights derived thereunder, in the
course of performance of obligations under the Exclusive Technical Service and
Management Consultancy Agreement and/or any other agreements entered into
between Huali Shengda and other parties.

(3) Exclusive Call Option Agreement

Under the Exclusive Call Option Agreement, the Registered Shareholder and Huali
Investment have irrevocably granted Huali Shengda or its designated purchaser the
right to purchase all or part of the investment/school sponsor’s interest of Huali
Investment in our PRC Operating Entities (“Call Option”). The purchase price
payable by Huali Shengda for the transfer of such investment/school sponsor’s
interest under the Call Option shall be the lowest price permitted under PRC laws
and regulations. Huali Shengda or its designated purchaser shall have the right to
purchase such proportion of the investment/school sponsor’s interest of our PRC
Operating Entities as it decides at any time.

(4) School Sponsor’s and Directors’ Rights Entrustment
Agreement

Pursuant to the School Sponsor’s and Directors’ Rights Entrustment Agreement,
Huali Investment has irrevocably authorized and entrusted Huali Shengda to
exercise all its rights as school sponsor of each of our PRC Operating Entities to
the extent permitted by the PRC laws. These rights include, but are not limited
to: (a) the right to appoint and/or elect directors or council members of our
PRC Operating Entities; (b) the right to appoint and/or elect supervisors of our
PRC Operating Entities; (c) the right to understand the operation and financial
situation of our PRC Operating Entities; (d) the right to review the resolutions and
records of the board of directors and financial statements and reports of the PRC
Operating Entities; (e) the right to obtain reasonable return (if existing) or profits
as school sponsor of our PRC Operating Entities in accordance with relevant laws; (f)
the right to acquire residual assets upon liquidation of the schools in accordance
with relevant laws; (g) the right to transfer the school sponsor’s interest in
accordance with relevant laws; (h) the right to approve the management strategy
and investment plan; (i) the right to review and approve the annual budget and
profit distribution plan; and (j) other school sponsor’s rights pursuant to applicable
PRC laws and regulations and the articles of association of our PRC Operating
Entities as amended from time to time.
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Pursuant to the School Sponsor’s and Directors’ Rights Entrustment Agreement,
the School Directors have irrevocably authorized and entrusted Huali Shengda
to exercise all his rights as directors of our PRC Operating Entities as appointed
or nominated by Huali Investment and to the extent permitted by the PRC laws.
These rights include, but are not limited to: (a) the right to attend meetings of
the board of directors as representative of the directors appointed or nominated
by Huali Investment; (b) the right to exercise voting rights in respect of all matters
discussed and resolved at board meetings of each of our PRC Operating Entities;
(c) the right to propose to convene interim board meetings of each of our PRC
Operating Entities; (d) the right to sign all board minutes, board resolutions and
other legal documents to which the directors appointed by Huali Investment have
authority to sign in his/her capacity as directors of our PRC Operating Entities; (e)
the right to instruct the legal representative and financial and business responsible
persons of our PRC Operating Entities to act in accordance with the instruction
of Huali Shengda; (f) the right to exercise all other rights and voting rights of
directors as prescribed under the articles of association of our PRC Operating
Entities; (g) the right to handle the legal procedures of registration, approval
and licensing of our PRC Operating Entities at the education department, the
department of civil affairs or other government regulatory departments; and (h)
other directors’ rights pursuant to applicable PRC laws and regulations and the
articles of association of our PRC Operating Entities as amended from time to
time.

In addition, each of Huali Investment and the School Directors have irrevocably
agreed that (i) Huali Shengda may delegate its rights under the School Sponsor’s
and Directors’ Rights Entrustment Agreement to the directors of Huali Shengda
or its designated person, without prior notice to or approval by Huali Investment
and the School Directors; and (ii) any person as successor of civil rights of Huali
Shengda or liquidator by reason of subdivision, merger, liquidation of Huali
Shengda or other circumstances shall have authority to replace Huali Shengda to
exercise all rights under the School Sponsor’s and Directors’ Rights Entrustment
Agreement.

(5) School Sponsor’s Power of Attorney

Pursuant to the School Sponsor’s Power of Attorney executed by Huali Investment
in favor of Huali Shengda, Huali Investment authorized and appointed Huali
Shengda as its agent to act on its behalf to exercise or delegate the exercise of
all its rights as school sponsor of each of our PRC Operating Entities. For details
of the rights granted, see " — Summary of the Material Terms of the Structured
Contracts — (4) School Sponsor’s and Directors’ Rights Entrustment Agreement” of

this report.
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Huali Shengda has the right to further delegate the rights so delegated to the
directors of Huali Shengda or to another designated person. Huali Investment has
irrevocably agreed that the authorization and appointment in the School Sponsor’s
Power of Attorney shall not be invalidated, revoked, prejudiced or otherwise
adversely affected by reason of Huali Investment’s subdivision, merger, winding
up, consolidation, liquidation or other similar events. The School Sponsor’'s Power
of Attorney shall constitute a part and incorporate terms of the School Sponsor’s
and Directors’ Rights Entrustment Agreement.

(6) School Directors’ Power of Attorney

Pursuant to the School Directors’ Power of Attorney executed by each of
the School Directors in favor of Huali Shengda, each of the School Directors,
authorized and appointed Huali Shengda, as his agent to act on his behalf to
exercise or delegate the exercise of all his rights and functions as director of
our PRC Operating Entities. For details of the rights granted, please refer to the
section headed " — Summary of the Material Terms of the Structured Contracts — (4)
School Sponsor’s and Directors’ Rights Entrustment Agreement” in this report for
more details.

Huali Shengda shall have the right to further delegate the rights so delegated
to directors of Huali Shengda or to another designated person. Huali Shengda
shall not delegate any of these rights to anyone whose interest would potentially
conflict with those of our Group. Each of the School Directors has irrevocably
agreed that, unless the appointee ceases to be a director of Huali Shengda, the
authorization appointment in the School Directors’ Powers of Attorney shall not be
invalidated, prejudiced or otherwise adversely affected by reason of his loss of or
restriction on capacity, death or other similar events. The School Directors’ Power
of Attorney shall constitute a part and incorporate terms of the School Sponsor’s
and Directors’ Rights Entrustment Agreement.

(7) Spouse Undertaking
Pursuant to the Spouse Undertaking, the spouse of the Registered Shareholder has
irrevocably undertaken that:

(@)  she has full knowledge of and has consented to the entering into the
Structured Contracts by the relevant Registered Shareholder, and in
particular, the arrangements set out in the Structured Contracts in relation
to the restrictions imposed on the equity interest in Huali Investment,
the pledge or transfer of the equity interest in Huali Investment, and the
disposal of the equity interest in Huali Investment in any other form;

(b)  she has not, is not and shall not in the future participate in the operation,
management, liquidation, dissolution and other matters in relation to Huali
Investment and our PRC Operating Entities;
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(c) she authorizes the respective Registered Shareholder and/or his authorized
person to execute all necessary documents and perform all necessary
procedures from time to time for and on behalf of the spouse in relation to
the spouse’s equity interest in Huali Investment in order to safeguard the
interest of Huali Shengda under the Structured Contracts and give effect to
the fundamental purposes thereunder, and confirms and agrees to all such
documents and procedures;

(d) any undertaking, confirmation, consent and authorization under the Spouse

Undertaking shall not be revoked, prejudiced, invalidated or otherwise
adversely affected by any increase, decrease, consolidation or other similar
events relating to the equity interest held by the Registered Shareholder in

Huali Investment;

(e)  any undertaking, confirmation, consent and authorization under the Spouse
Undertaking shall not be revoked, prejudiced, invalidated or otherwise
adversely affected by the death, loss of or restriction on capacity of the

spouse, divorce or other similar events; and

(f)  all undertakings, confirmations, consents and authorizations under the
Spouse Undertaking shall continue to be valid and binding until otherwise
terminated by both Huali Shengda and the spouse by in writing.

The Spouse Undertaking shall have the same term as and incorporate the terms of
the Business Cooperation Agreement.

(8) Equity Pledge Agreement

Pursuant to the Equity Pledge Agreement, the Registered Shareholder
unconditionally and irrevocably pledged and granted first priority security interests
over all of his equity interest in Huali Investment together with all related rights
thereto to Huali Shengda as security for the performance of obligations of the
Registered Shareholder, Huali Investments and our PRC Operating Entities under
the Structured Contracts and all direct, indirect, consequential damages and
foreseeable loss of interest incurred by Huali Shengda as a result of the any event
of default (if any) on the part of the Registered Shareholder, Huali Investment or
each of our PRC Operating Entities and all expenses incurred by Huali Shengda
as a result of enforcement of the obligations of the Registered Shareholder,
Huali Investment and/or each of our PRC Operating Entities under the Structured
Contracts (the “Secured Indebtedness”).
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Pursuant to the Equity Pledge Agreement, without the prior written consent of
Huali Shengda, the Registered Shareholder shall not transfer its equity interest
or create any further pledge or encumbrance over the pledged equity interest.
Any unauthorized transfer shall be invalid, and the proceeds of any transfer of
the equity interest shall be first used in the payment of the Secured Indebtedness
or deposited with such third party as agreed by Huali Shengda. The Registered
Shareholder also waived any pre-emptive rights upon enforcement and agreed to
any transfer of the pledged equity pursuant to the equity pledge agreement.

The pledge under the Equity Pledge Agreement was registered with the
Guangzhou Administration for Industry and Commerce (now known as Guangzhou
Market Supervisory Authority) on September 13, 2018 and the Secured
Indebtedness became effective on the same date.

(9) Registered Shareholder’s Rights Entrustment Agreement
and Registered Shareholder’s Power of Attorney

According to the Registered Shareholder’s Rights Entrustment Agreement and
Registered Shareholder’s Power of Attorney, Mr. Zhang and Mr. Zhang Zhifan,
as the Registered Shareholders, have executed a power of attorney irrevocably
entrusting and authorizing Huali Shengda or its designated person as their
agent to act on their behalf to exercise all their rights as a shareholder of
Huali Investment in respect of our PRC Operating Entities under the articles of
associations of Huali Investment and pursuant to the relevant PRC laws and
regulations, including but not limited to the rights to:

(a)  determine the business objectives and investment plans of Huali Investment;

(b)  elect and change non-staff representative directors and supervisors of Huali
Investment who are responsible for the operation of our PRC Operating
Entities and to fix their remuneration;

(c)  consider and approve the report of directors of Huali Investment;

(d)  consider and approve the report of supervisors of Huali Investment;

(e)  consider and approve the annual financial budget and final accounts of
Huali Investment;

) consider and approve plans for profit sharing and loss recovery of Huali
Investment;

(g) increase or decrease the registered capital of Huali Investment;
(h) issue bonds of Huali Investment;

(i) merge, subdivide, dissolve, wind-up or change the form of corporate
organization of Huali Investment;
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0 amend the articles of association of Huali Investment; and

(k) conduct any other matters that are empowered by the articles of association
of Huali Investment.

Business activities of the PRC Operating Entities

The PRC Operating Entities are, namely, Huali College, Huali Vocational College
and Huali Technician College. Their business activities are primarily engaged in
higher education services and vocational education services.

Significance and financial contributions of the PRC Operating
Entities to the Group

Pursuant to the Structured Contracts, the Group obtains control over and derives
the economic benefits from the PRC Operating Entities and School Sponsors. The
table below sets out the financial contribution of the PRC Operating Entities and
the School Sponsors to the Group:
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Significance and financial
contribution to the Group

HAEENEZEU R UK IR
Revenue Total Assets
KA BEE
For the year For the year
ended ended
August 31, 2023 August 31, 2023
BZE2023F HZE2023F
8A31HILEE 8HA31HILEE

Significance and financial contribution to the #ASEMNEZH LT HEER (%)

Group (%) 100.0% 75.0%

Revenue and assets involved in the Structured Contracts

FERUSHIRNBAREE

Revenue Total Assets
['ON BEE
For the year For the year
ended ended
August 31, 2023 August 31, 2023
BE2023F B ZE2023F
8HA31HLEFE 8HA31THLEFE
RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBTR AR¥FTR
PRC Operating Entities and the School PEZEEERERRE
Sponsors 1,083,304 8,309,322
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Regulatory Framework
Pursuant to the Foreign Investment Industries Guidance Catalogue (as amended
in 2017) (KHNEIREEZEEGH ) 2017FE&7]))

Industries Guidance Catalogue”), the provision of higher education in the

(the "Foreign Investment

PRC falls within the “restricted” category. In particular, the Foreign Investment
Industries Guidance Catalogue explicitly restricts higher education institutions to
Sino-foreign cooperation, meaning that foreign investors may only operate higher
education institutions through cooperating with PRC-incorporated entities that are
in compliance with the Regulations on Sino-foreign Cooperative Education of the
PRC ((FZEARHAFMBIFING (EFHEEHI) )

addition, the Foreign Investment Industries Guidance Catalogue provides that the

(the “Sino-Foreign Regulations”). In

domestic party shall play a dominant role in the Sino-foreign cooperation, meaning
that (a) the principal or other chief executive officer of the schools or education
institutions shall be a PRC national, and (b) the representatives of the domestic
party shall account for no less than 50% of the total number of the members of
the board of directors, the executive council or the joint administration committee
of the Sino-foreign school.

On December 27, 2021, the National Development and Reform Commission of the
PRC and the Ministry of Commerce of the PRC jointly promulgated the Foreign
Investment Access Special Management Measures (Negative List) (2021 Version)
(IR B EANERIEEEE(AMmBEE)2021FH) )) (the “Negative List”),
which became effective on January 1, 2022 and replaced the Foreign Investment
Industries Guidance Catalogue. Pursuant to the Negative List, the restrictions on
foreign investments in higher education remain unchanged.

In relation to the interpretation of Sino-foreign cooperation, pursuant to the
Sino-Foreign Regulations, the foreign investor in a Sino-foreign school (whether
a kindergarten, high school or higher education institution) (a “Sino-Foreign
School”) must be a foreign educational institution with relevant qualification
and high quality of education (the "Higher Education Qualification
Requirement”). Pursuant to the Administrative Measures for the Sino-Foreign
Cooperative Education on Vocational Skills Training (/R 9M& 1EBE 2 £ s L5 I3
BEBIE)),

foreign education institution or a foreign vocational skills training institution with

the foreign investor in a Sino-foreign technical school must be a

relevant qualification and high quality of education (the “Vocational Education
Qualification Requirement”, together with the Higher Education Qualification
Requirement, the “Qualification Requirement”). Furthermore, pursuant to the
Implementation Opinions of the MOE on Encouraging and Guiding the Entry of
Private Capital in the Fields of Education and Promoting the Healthy Development
of Private Education (¥ BE BANSEF S| ERMEE S HEAHE ARICERRHE @
FREEMEHEEFR)), the foreign portion of the total investment in a Sino Foreign
School should be below 50% and the establishment of these schools is subject to

approval of education authorities at the provincial or national level.
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The Company’s PRC legal adviser has advised that the laws and regulations are
currently uncertain as to what specific criteria must be met by a foreign investor
(such as length of experience and form and extent of ownership in the foreign
jurisdiction) in order to demonstrate to the relevant authority that it meets the
Qualification Requirement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company is
committed to working towards meeting the Qualification Requirement and has
implemented a business plan to ensure our compliance with the Qualification
Requirement and with a view to expanding our education operations overseas.
In 2017, the Company established a wholly-owned subsidiary in the State of
California, the United States, for the operation and management of our education
business in the State of California. The Company also engaged an independent
education consultant with extensive experience and background in private post
secondary education to advise on and assist the Company in the establishment of
our institution in the State of California. We have submitted a licensing application
to the Bureau for Private Post-secondary Education in the State of California. As
at the date of this annual report, we had not yet obtained the relevant licence.
We will continue to disclose our progress in the implementation of our overseas
expansion plans and updates to the Qualification Requirement in our annual and
interim reports.

Risks associated with the Structured Contracts and the
actions taken to mitigate the risks

The PRC government may find that the contracts that establish the structure for
operating our business in China do not comply with applicable PRC laws and
regulations, which may subject us to severe penalties and our business may be
materially and adversely affected. The Contractual Arrangements may be subject to
the scrutiny of the PRC tax authorities and additional tax may be imposed, which
may materially and adversely affect our results of operations.

The Structured Contracts may not be as effective in providing us with control over
our consolidated affiliated entities as direct ownership. The beneficial owners of
our consolidated affiliated entities may have conflicts of interest with us, which
may materially and adversely affect our business and financial condition. The
sponsor interests in our all three schools held by Huali Investment are not capable
of being pledged in favour of our WFOE under the PRC laws. Our Structured
Contracts with respect to these schools contain alternative arrangements that may
not achieve the level of protection equivalent to typical structured contracts with
equity pledge arrangements.

Our exercise of the option to acquire the sponsor interests or equity interests of
our consolidated affiliated entities may be subject to certain limitations and we
may incur substantial costs. Any failure by our consolidated affiliated entities or
their respective school sponsors/shareholders to perform their obligations under
our Structured Contracts would potentially lead to the incurrence of additional
costs and the expending of substantial resources on our part to enforce such
arrangements, temporary or permanent loss of control over our primary operations
or loss of access to our primary sources of revenue.
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We rely on dividend and other payments from WFOE to pay dividends and
other cash distributions to our Shareholders and any limitation on the ability of
WFOE to pay dividends to us would materially and adversely limit our ability to
pay dividends to our Shareholders. If any of our consolidated affiliated entities
becomes subject to winding up or liquidation proceedings, we may lose the ability
to use and enjoy certain important assets held by our consolidated affiliated
entities, which could negatively impact our business and materially and adversely
affect our ability to generate revenue.

The Board will review the Structured Contracts at least once a year to ensure the
effective implementation of the Structured Contracts and compliance with the
relevant terms.

Material changes

As of the date of this annual report, there were no material changes in the
Structured Contracts and/or the circumstances under which the Structured
Contracts were adopted.

Unwinding of the Structured Contracts

As of the date of this annual report, there has not been any unwinding of any
Structured Contracts, nor has there been any failure to unwind any Structured
Contracts when the restrictions that led to the adoption of the Structured
Contracts are removed. In the event that the PRC regulatory environment changes
and all of the Qualification Requirement, the Foreign Ownership Restriction and
the Foreign Control Restriction are removed (and assuming there are no other
changes in the relevant PRC laws and regulations), Huali Shengda will exercise the
relevant call option in full to unwind the contractual arrangements so that the
Company will be able to directly operate the schools without using the Structured
Contracts.

Confirmation of independent non-executive Directors
The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the Structured Contracts
and confirmed that during the year ended August 31, 2023:

(i) the transactions carried out during such year have been entered into in
accordance with the relevant provisions of the Structured Contracts and had
been operated so that the profit generated by our PRC Operating Entities
had been substantially retained by our Group;

(i) no dividends or other distributions had been made by our PRC Operating
Entities to the holders of its School Sponsor’s interest which were not
otherwise subsequently assigned or transferred to our Group; and
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(iii)

the Structured Contracts and, if any, any new contracts entered into,
renewed or reproduced between our Group and our PRC Operating Entities
during the Reporting Period were fair and reasonable, or advantageous, so
far as our Group was concerned and in the interests of our Shareholders as

a whole.

Confirmation of the Company’s auditor
The auditor of the Company has confirmed in a letter to the Board that, with

respect to the aforesaid Continuing Connected Transactions entered into in the
year ended August 31, 2023:

(a)

64

nothing has come to their attention that causes the auditor to believe that
the disclosed Continuing Connected Transactions have not been approved
by the Board;

for transactions involving the provision of goods or services by the Group,
nothing has come to their attention that causes the auditor to believe that
the transactions were not, in all material respects, in accordance with the
pricing policies of the Group;

nothing has come to their attention that causes the auditor to believe
that the transactions were not entered into, in all material respects, in
accordance with the relevant agreements governing such transactions;

with respect to the aggregate amount of the Continuing Connected
Transactions (other than those transactions with the PRC Operating Entities,
the legal owner of the PRC Operating Entities and Huali Shengda under the
contractual arrangements) set out in the section of Continuing Connected
Transactions, nothing has come to their attention that causes the auditor to
believe that the disclosed Continuing Connected Transactions have exceeded
the annual cap as set by the Company; and

with respect of the disclosed Continuing Connected Transactions with the
PRC Operating Entities, the legal owner of the PRC Operating Entities and
Huali Shengda under the contractual arrangements, nothing has come
to their attention that causes the auditor to believe that dividends or
other distributions have been made by the PRC Operating Entities to the
holders of the equity interests of school sponsor which are not otherwise
subsequently assigned or transferred to the Group.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions entered into by our Group during the
year ended August 31, 2023 are set out in note 33 to the consolidated financial
statements. The transactions as set out therein fall under the definition of
“connected transaction” or “continuing connected transaction” in Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules and the Company confirmed that it has complied with the
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors or any of their respective associates has engaged in any
business that competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with
the business of the Group or has any other conflict of interests with the Group
during the year ended August 31, 2023.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

Recruitment

We strictly comply with the PRC Labor Law, the PRC Labor Contract Law, the PRC
Employment Promotion Law, the PRC Labor Dispute Mediation and Arbitration
Law as well as other applicable provincial and local labor laws and regulations
in our recruitment process. We prohibit discrimination of staff by age, sex, race,
nationality, religion or disability to ensure that everyone has equal employment
opportunities and prospects.

We recruit teachers based on the size of our current student enrollment and the
number of newly admitted students at the beginning of each academic year.
We primarily seek to recruit (i) high quality and experienced teachers who are
knowledgeable in both theory and practice and hold the necessary academic
credentials and professional qualifications (i.e. diplomas and professional
certificates); and (ii) teachers who have work experience in the relevant industries.
We also invite industry experts from entities with which we have cooperative
relationships to give lectures or teach classes as adjunct faculty members of our
schools.

Our schools carry out their recruitment works based on our employee manual
and our teachers’ recruitment policy, and continuously improve and refine their
recruitment processes. We actively approach talents through participating in
talent recruitment fairs and industry conferences, and encourage our staff to
take advantage of social media to refer and recommend talented candidates to
join us. In addition, we provide continuing trainings to our teachers so that they
can stay abreast of the changes in market demand, new teaching theories and/or
methodologies, changing teaching and testing standards.
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Remuneration

As at August 31, 2023, the Group had 2,447 employees (as at August 31, 2022:
2,131 employees). The remuneration packages of the employees of the Group are
determined with reference to individual qualification, experience and performance,
contribution to the Group, prevailing market rate and our remuneration policy.

The remuneration policy of our schools is formulated under the guidance of PRC
laws and is based on industry characteristics as well as various market factors. The
staff congress, president’s office and board of directors of our schools collectively
approve the compensation range of their employees. Our schools determine their
respective compensation standards based on employment by function (teachers
and administrative personnel) and position. Our schools pay a fixed annual salary
to senior management and top talents such as directors, deans/department heads,
administrative heads and professors. Our schools participate in social insurance
plans (pension, medical, unemployment, work injury and maternity insurance)
under the guidance of the relevant national, provincial and municipalities policies,
and provide a variety of benefits for their employees.

RETIREMENT AND EMPLOYEE BENEFITS SCHEME

Details of the retirement and employee benefits scheme of our Company are set
out in note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

As at August 31, 2023 and August 31, 2022, there were no forfeited contributions
in relation to pension plans (by employers on behalf of employees who leave the
scheme prior to vesting fully in such contributions) in the Group. Hence, there
is no forfeited contribution available for the Group to reduce its existing level of
contributions to the pension plans in future years.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND THE FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for making recommendations to
the Board on the Company's policy and structure for the remuneration of all
Directors and senior management, having regard to their relevant experience,
duties and responsibilities, performance and achievement, and market rate. None
of the Directors will determine their own remuneration. Details of the Directors’
remuneration and the five highest paid individuals in the Group are set out in note
35 and note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this annual report, based on the information publicly available
to the Company and to the knowledge of the Directors, the Company continued
to meet the prescribed minimum percentage (i.e. at least 25% of the Company’s
total issued share capital are held by the public at all times as of the date of this
report) of public float under the Listing Rules.
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SIGNIFICANT LEGAL PROCEEDINGS AND
COMPLIANCE

During the Reporting Period, the Company was not engaged in any litigation or
arbitration of material importance and no litigation or claim of material importance
is known to the Directors to be pending or threatening against the Company.

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report, to the best
knowledge of the Directors, the Group had complied with all applicable laws and
regulations in all material aspects.

SIGNIFICANT EVENT AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

Subsequent to the year end date, to optimise the debt structure and lower the
financing cost, the Group obtained two new ten-year bank loan facilities totalling
RMB610,000,000 from a bank. As of the date of the report, the Group had drawn
down a new loan of RMB610,000,000 from the new bank facilities to replace its
existing borrowings.

Save as disclosed above, there was no significant event affecting the Company nor
any of its subsidiaries after the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has reviewed the accounting principles and practices
adopted by our Group and discussed auditing, internal control and financial
reporting matters. The Audit Committee, together with the Board and external
auditor, has reviewed our Group’s audited consolidated financial statements for
the year ended August 31, 2023.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Our Company is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate governance
practices. Information on the corporate governance practices adopted by our
Company is set out in “Corporate Governance Report” of this annual report.
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AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended August 31,
2023 have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers. A resolution will be proposed
at the forthcoming AGM for the re-appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers as
the independent auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Zhang Zhifeng
Chairman

Hong Kong, November 27, 2023
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Corporate Governance Report
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The Board is pleased to present this Corporate Governance Report in the Company’s
annual report for the year ended August 31, 2023.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has applied the principles of the code provisions set out in the CG
Code. During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report, the Company
had complied with all the code provisions set out in the CG Code, except for the
deviation from the code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, which is explained in the
relevant paragraph of this Corporate Governance Report.

The Board believes that good corporate governance is essential in enhancing the
confidence of the Shareholders, potential investors and business partners and is
consistent with the Board’s pursuit of value creation for the Shareholders. The
Company is committed to enhancing its corporate governance practices appropriate
to the conduct and growth of its business and to reviewing such practices from time
to time to ensure that the Company complies with the statutory and professional
standards and is aligned with the latest development.

THE RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD

The Board is responsible for the overall leadership of the Group, overseeing strategic
decisions of the Group and monitoring business and performance. The Board has
delegated the authority and responsibility for the daily management and operations
of the Group to the senior management of the Group. In order to supervise specific
aspects of the Company’s affairs, the Board has set up three Board committees,
including the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee.

The Board has delegated the responsibilities stipulated in their respective terms
of reference to the Board committees. All Directors perform their duties in good
faith, comply with applicable laws and regulations, and act in the interests of the
Company and the Shareholders at all times.

The Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance for legal proceedings
against Directors. The coverage will be reviewed on an annual basis.
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Board Composition

Our Board consists of seven Directors, including four executive Directors and
three independent non-executive Directors. The following table sets out certain

information of the Directors:

Name

e

ate Governance Report

EEg4AK
AAREFEHCAEFER - BENAHIT
EER=ABUENTES - TRITESD
HHER

Position

B

Zhang Zhifeng

RE I

Ye Yaming
TR
Zhang Yude
R

Zou Kang
2084

Chiu Lai Kuen Susanna MH JP
HEEBIE MH JP

Chairman of the Board, executive Director, chief executive officer and chairman of the
Nomination Committee

EFEeXIR WTESF AFRATERRZZESER

Executive Director and member of the Remuneration Committee

WITESELFHNEESGKE

Executive Director and chief operating officer

HITERLERESEE

Executive Director

BITES

Independent non-executive Director and chairperson of the Audit Committee

BIFTERERERRBREER

Yang Ying Independent non-executive Director, chairman of the Remuneration Committee and
member of the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee

B BIATES  FHEESIEREREEGHRREZEEKE

Ding Yi Independent non-executive Director and member of the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee

T= BIFATEEREREZE S  FMEESEIRREZEGKE

The biographies of the Directors are set out under the section headed” Directors
and Senior Management” of this annual report.

From the date of listing to the date of publication of this annual report, the Board
has always complied with the provisions of Rules 3.10 (1) and 3.10 (2) of the Listing
Rules for the appointment of at least three independent non-executive directors
with at least one possessing appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise.

The Company has met all the requirements under Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules
for the appointment of independent non-executive Directors who account for at
least one-third of the Board. Since each independent non-executive Director has
confirmed his/her independence during the Reporting Period in accordance with
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, the Company considers all these Directors to be
independent parties.

Save as disclosed in the Directors’ biographies set out in the section headed” Directors
and Senior Management” in this annual report, no Directors have any personal
relationship (including financial, business, family or other material or related
relationships) with any other Director.
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The Board has adopted a diversity policy, which sets out objectives and stipulates
that all appointments to the Board should be based on the qualities, skills and
experience required by the Board as a whole. The Nomination Committee will
review and assess the composition of the Board and make recommendations to the
Board on the appointment of Board members. At the same time, the Nomination
Committee will take into account all aspects of diversity, including, but not limited
to, professional experience, skills, knowledge, educational background, age, gender,
culture and ethnicity, and length of service, in order to maintain the appropriate
range and balance of talents, skills, experience and diversity of perspectives on the
Board.

The Nomination Committee has reviewed such board diversity policies for the
year ended August 31, 2023. During the Reporting Period, the composition of the
Company's existing independent non-executive Directors and senior management
team vary greatly in terms of age, educational background and professional
experience.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors, have brought a wide
range of valuable business experience, knowledge and professionalism to the
efficient and effective operation of the Board. Independent non-executive Directors
are invited to serve as members of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee.

With regard to the CG Code, which requires Directors to disclose the number
and nature of offices held in a public company or organization and other material
commitments, as well as the identity of the public company or organization and the
time involved to the issuer, the Directors have agreed to disclose their commitments
and any subsequent changes to the Company in a timely manner.

Induction and Continuous Professional Development

Each newly appointed Director is provided with the necessary induction training and
information to ensure that he/she has a proper understanding of the business and
operations of the Company and his/her responsibilities under the relevant statues,
laws, rules and regulations. The Company also arranges regular seminars to provide
the Directors with the latest development of the Listing Rules and other relevant
legal and regulatory requirements. The Board also regularly informs the Company’s
performance, position and prospects of Directors so that the Board as a whole and
each of the Directors can perform their respective duties.

The Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional development
to develop and update their knowledge and skills. The Company’s joint company
secretaries update and provide training materials relating to the roles, functions and
responsibilities of Directors from time to time.
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All Directors, namely Mr. Zhang Zhifeng, Mr. Ye Yaming, Mr. Zou Kang, Mr.
Zhang Yude, Ms. Chiu Lai Kuen Susanna MH JP, Mr. Yang Ying and Mr. Ding Vi,
have been updated with the latest developments regarding the Listing Rules and
other applicable regulatory requirements to ensure compliance and enhance their
awareness of good corporate governance practices. In addition, continuing briefing
and professional development to Directors will be arranged whenever necessary.

Prior to the listing, each of the Directors has attended the training conducted by the
legal adviser of the Company. The content of such training related to the duties of
directors and on-going obligations of listed companies.

The Directors shall submit a signed training record to the Company each year.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Under code provision C.2.1 of part 2 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman
and chief executive should be separate and should not be performed by the
same individual. Mr. Zhang Zhifeng is the chairman of the Board and Chief
Executive Officer of the Company. The Board considers that Mr. Zhang Zhifeng
is the founder of the Group and has extensive experience in the private higher
education industry in the PRC and is responsible for the overall strategic planning
and business development of the Group. The Board believes that vesting the
roles of both chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer in Mr. Zhang
Zhifeng provides the Group with strong and consistent leadership to improve the
Company’s efficiency in decision-making and execution, and effectively capture
business opportunities. The Board believes that the balance of power and authority
is adequately ensured by the operations of the Board which comprises highly
experienced individuals. There are three independent non-executive Directors in
the Board. All of them possess adequate independence and therefore the Board
considers the Company has achieved balance and provided sufficient protection of
its interests.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Subject to the Articles of Association, the Board may from time to time and at
any time to appoint any person to be a Director to fill a casual vacancy or to
supplement the Board. Any Director so appointed shall hold office only before the
next following annual general meeting of the Company and may be re-elected at
that meeting.

At every annual general meeting of the Company, one-third of the Directors shall
retire temporarily (or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three, or close
to but not less than one-third), shall retire by rotation provided that each Director
(including Directors that appointed for a specified term) shall rotate at least once
every three years.
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No Directors have or propose to enter into a service contract with the Company or
any of our subsidiaries (except for contracts which are due or determinable by the
employer within one year without payment of compensation) (other than statutory
compensation).

The Articles of Association stipulate the procedures and process of appointment,
re-election and removal of Directors. The Nomination Committee is responsible for
reviewing the composition of the Board and making recommendations to the Board
on the appointment or re-election of Directors and the succession planning of
Directors.

Nomination Policy

The Director Nomination Policy (the “Nomination Policy”) adopted by the Board
aims to improve the transparency and accountability of the nomination process
of Directors, and to enable the Company to ensure that the Board has a balance
of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the Company’s
business requirements.

According to the Nomination Policy, the Nomination Committee is responsible
for selecting suitable candidates and offering recommendations to the Board
when appointing Directors. The selection criteria that shall be considered by the
Nomination Committee to assess the suitability of a proposed candidate includes:
character and integrity, professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and experience
that are relevant to the Company’s business and strategy, the potential contribution
to the Board in terms of diversity, and any other factors considered appropriate
by the Nomination Committee to be in the best interests of the Company and its
Shareholders. The above selection criteria are not exhaustive and conclusive, and
the Nomination Committee may nominate any person as it considers appropriate at
its discretion.

Subject to the Nomination Policy, the Nomination Committee shall hold a meeting
after obtaining the required information from the candidates to discuss and consider
the candidate’s recommendation to the Board for appointment as a Director. The
Nomination Committee shall, in accordance with the relevant Listing Rules and the
Company’s policies, examine whether the candidates are eligible for appointment,
election or re-election to the Board. In particular, the Nomination Committee should
consider the potential contribution of candidates that can bring to the Board in
terms of qualifications, skills, experience, independence and gender diversity.
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Nomination Process of the Appointment of New Director

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall, after receiving the proposal for
the appointment of a new Director and the biographical information (or relevant
details) of the candidate, evaluate the candidate in accordance with the above
criteria to determine whether the candidate is qualified for the office of director.
The Nomination Committee shall then recommend to the Board the appointment of
appropriate candidates for Directors (if applicable).

For any person nominated by a Shareholder to elect a Director at a general meeting
of the Company shall be evaluated by the Nomination Committee and/or the Board
in accordance with the above criteria and, as appropriate, make recommendations
to the Shareholders on the proposed election of Directors at the general meeting.

Board Meetings

The Company adopts the practice of holding Board meetings regularly, which are
held at least four times a year and about once a quarter. All regular Board meetings
shall be given not less than 14 days’ notice, so as to provide all Directors with the
opportunity to attend the meeting and put the matters in the agenda of the regular

meeting.

For other Board and Board committee meetings, reasonable notice is generally
given. The agenda and accompanying board papers are sent to Directors or Board
committee members at least three days before the meetings to ensure that they
have sufficient time to review the documents and to prepare for the meetings.
When Directors or Board Committee members are unable to attend the meeting,
they will be informed of the matters to be discussed and have the opportunity
to inform the chairman of their opinions before the meeting. The minutes of the
meetings are kept by the company secretary and copies distributed to all Directors
for reference and records.

The minutes of the Board meetings and the Board committee meetings are recorded
in sufficient detail about the matters considered by the Board and the Board
committee and decisions made, including any concerns raised by the Directors.
The draft minutes of each Board meeting and Board committee meeting shall be
sent to the Directors for comments within a reasonable time after the date of the
Board meeting. The minutes of the Board meetings are open for inspection by the
Directors.
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During the Reporting Period, the four Board meetings were held and the attendance
of each Director at the meetings is set out in the table below:

BEPHER -  ERTARES SR SEFH
FERNREHINNTx

Attended/Eligible
Attendance of to attend annual

Board meeting(s) general meeting

EEEER BEHE &%
Name of Directors EEHR HEER HERRAFAE
Executive Directors HITES
Zhang Zhifeng RE & 4/4 11
Ye Yaming EHA 4/4 11
Zhang Yude A E 4/4 11
Zou Kang E7 1953 4/4 1/1
Independent Non-Executive Directors BYFHTES
Chiu Lai Kuen Susanna MH JP LS MH JP 4/4 0/1
Yang Ying I ES 4/4 11
Ding Yi T 4/4 1/1

Model Code for Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code as the Group’s code of conduct to
regulate the securities transactions of the Directors and the relevant employees of
the Group who, because of his/her office or employment, is likely to possess inside
information in relation to the Group or the Company’s securities. Having made
specific enquiries, all Directors confirmed that they had complied with the required
standards set out in the Model Code throughout the year ended August 31, 2023.
In addition, the Company is not aware of any non-compliance of the Model Code
by the relevant employees of the Group during the year ended August 31, 2023.

Delegation by the Board

The Board reserves the right to decide on all material matters of the Company,
including: approval and monitoring of all policy matters, overall strategies and
budgets, internal control and risk management systems, major transactions (especially
those that may involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment of
Directors and other significant financial and business matters. Directors may seek
independent professional advice in performing their duties at the expense of the
Company and are encouraged to independently approach and consult with the
senior management of the Company.

The daily management, administration and operation of the Group are delegated
to senior management. The delegated functions and responsibilities are periodically
reviewed by the Board. The approval of the Board is required before any significant
transaction entered into by the management.
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Corporate Governance Function
The Board recognizes that corporate governance should be the collective
responsibility of the Directors, including:

o reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements;

o reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous professional

development of Directors and senior management;

o developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct and compliance
manual applicable to employees and Directors;

. developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices on corporate
governance and making recommendations to the Board and reporting to the
Board on matters;

o reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosing in the
corporate governance report; and

3 reviewing and monitoring the Company’s compliance with the Company’s
whistle-blowing policy.

BOARD COMMITTEES

Audit Committee

The Company has established the Audit Committee in accordance with Rule 3.21 of
the Listing Rules, and has set out the written terms of reference in accordance with
paragraph C.3.3 of the CG Code. The main responsibilities of the Audit Committee
are to review and supervise the financial reporting process, risk management
and internal control system of the Group, and to supervise the audit process and
financial statements of the Group.

The Audit Committee consists of Ms Chiu Lai Kuen Susanna MH JP, Mr. Yang Ying
and Mr. Ding Yi and is chaired by Ms Chiu Lai Kuen Susanna MH JP who has the
appropriate and extensive professional experience as required under the Listing
Rules.
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The main responsibilities of the Audit Committee include the following:

o to be primarily responsible for making recommendations to the Board on
the appointment, reappointment and removal of the external auditor, and to
approve the remuneration and other terms of engagement of the external
auditor, and any questions of its resignation or dismissal;

o to review and monitor the external auditor’s independence and objectivity
and the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance with applicable
standards.

o to discuss with the auditor the nature and scope of the audit and reporting

obligations before the audit commences;

o where more than one audit firm is engaged, ensure coordination between
them; and
o to develop and implement policy on engaging an external auditor to supply

non-audit services. For this purpose,” external auditor” includes any entity
that is under common control, ownership or management with the audit firm
or any entity that a reasonable and informed third party knowing all relevant
information would reasonably conclude to be part of the audit firm nationally
or internationally.

The Audit Committee should report to the Board, identifying and making
recommendations on any matters where action or improvement is needed. The
written terms of reference of the Audit Committee are available for review on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee held two meetings and the
attendance of the Audit Committee members at these meetings are set out below:
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Attendance of

meeting(s)
Name of Directors EENA ERLHERER
Chiu Lai Kuen Susanna MH JP (Chairperson) HHEEE MH JP(E/E) 2/2
Yang Ying I ES 2/2
Ding Yi T 2/2
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During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee reviewed the annual results and
report for the year ended August 31, 2023 and the interim results and report for
the six months ended February 28, 2023, significant issues on the financial reporting
and compliance procedures, internal control and risk management systems, range
of work and the appointment of external auditor. After reviewing the effectiveness
and independence of the external audit process, the Audit Committee was satisfied
with its work.

The Group’s audited annual results for the year ended August 31, 2023 have been
reviewed by the Audit Committee on November 18, 2023.

Nomination Committee

The Company has established the Nomination Committee with written terms of
reference in accordance with paragraph A.5.2 of the CG Code. The main functions
of the Nomination Committee are to make recommendations to our Board on
candidates to fill vacancies of the Board.

The Nomination Committee consists of Mr. Zhang Zhifeng, Mr. Yang Ying and Mr.
Ding Yi, and is chaired by Mr. Zhang Zhifeng.

The main duties of the Nomination Committee include the following:

o to review the structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge,
experience and diversity of perspectives) of the Board at least annually
and make recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

3 to identify individuals suitably qualified to become members of the Board and
select or make recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals
nominated for directorships;

. to assess the independence of the independent non-executive Directors;

3 to make recommendations to the Board on succession planning for Directors
(in particular the chairman and the chief executive) and the appointment or
reappointment of Directors.

The Nomination Committee assesses the candidates or incumbents based on
criteria such as integrity, experience, skills and competence to invest time and
energy in performing their duties and responsibilities. The recommendations of the
Nomination Committee will then be submitted to the Board for decision.
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The Company recognizes and accepts the benefits of having a diverse Board
to improve its performance and has adopted a board diversity policy aimed at
developing ways to achieve board diversity. The implementation of the policy
is supervised by the Nominating Committee. In designing the composition of
the Board, the diversity of the Board is taken into account among a number of
measurable objectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge
and length of service. The Nomination Committee will continue to monitor the
implementation of the board’s diversity policy and will regularly review the board’s
diversity policy to ensure its continued effectiveness.

The written terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are available for
review on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

During the Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee held one meeting to
review the nomination process and the composition and diversity of the Board and
was satisfied with the current process and composition. The attendance of the
Nomination Committee members at this meeting is set out in the table below:
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Attendance of

meeting(s)
Name of Directors EEHE ERLEER
Zhang Zhifeng (Chairman) REE(FE) 11
Yang Ying ES 1/1
Ding Yi T= 1/1

Remuneration Committee

The Company has established the Remuneration Committee in accordance with
Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules, and has stipulated the written terms of reference in
compliance with paragraph B.1.2 of the CG Code. The main responsibilities of the
Remuneration Committee are to review, determine and recommend to our Board
on the policy and structure of the remuneration payable to our Directors and senior
management, and to make recommendations on employee benefit arrangements.

The Remuneration Committee consists of Mr. Yang Ying, Mr. Ye Yaming and Mr.
Ding Yi, and is chaired by Mr. Yang Ying.
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The principal duties of the Remuneration Committee include the following:

J to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and
structure for all Directors’ and senior management remuneration and on
the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for developing
remuneration policy;

o to review and approve the management’s remuneration proposals with
reference to the Board’s corporate goals and objectives;

3 to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of
individual executive Directors and senior management. This should include
benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation payments, including any
compensation payable for loss or termination of their office or appointment;

3 to consider the salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment and
responsibilities and employment conditions elsewhere in the Group;

3 to review and approve the compensation payable to executive Directors and
senior management for any loss or termination of office or appointment to
ensure that it is consistent with the contractual terms and is otherwise fair
and not excessive;

3 to review and approve compensation arrangements relating to dismissal or
removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure that they are consistent with

the contractual terms and are otherwise reasonable and appropriate;

3 to ensure that no Director or any of his associates is involved in deciding his
own remuneration;

o to assess performance of executive Directors;

o to consider and approve the terms of the executive Directors’ service
contracts; and

3 to consider and implement other matters, as defined or assigned by the Board
or otherwise required by the Listing Rules from time to time.

The written terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are available for
review on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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During the Reporting Period, the Remuneration Committee held one meeting
to review and discuss the Company’s remuneration policy and structure, as
well as the remuneration package for the Company’s executive Directors and
senior management and other related matters. The Remuneration Committee
ensured that no individual or any of his associates was involved in determining
his own remuneration. It also ensured that remuneration awards were based on
the performance of individuals and companies and were consistent with market
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practices and conditions, and with the Company’s goals and strategies. No changes HZBOREIT R E
on the policy were recommended by the Remuneration Committee.
The attendance of each Remuneration Committee members at this meeting is set FNEZEEESRELRZEZNBRAINT
out in the table below: S
Attendance of
meeting(s)
Name of Directors EEHR SREEBR
Yang Ying (Chairman) HR(EE) 11
Ye Yaming BEHER 1/1
Ding Yi T= 1/1
Remuneration of Directors and Senior Management EENSREEE TN

Details of the remuneration by band of the members of the Board and senior
management of the Company for the year ended August 31, 2023 are set out

BZE2023F8A3THILSFE  EFEKE A
REBREEELERNE H 0 H M BEHIm

below: T
Number of
individuals
Remuneration band £ FY A
RMB1 million to RMB3 million AREI1BEEBTEAREIBEE T 2
RMBO to RMB1 million AREBOTEARB1IBEET 9

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR FINANCIAL
REPORTING IN RESPECT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge that it is their responsibility to prepare the financial
statements for the year ended August 31, 2023 in order to give a true and fair view
of the affairs of the Company and the Group and the results and cash flows of the
Group.

The management has provided the necessary explanations and information to the
Board to enable the Board to make an informed assessment of the Company’s
financial statements and submit them to the Board for approval.
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The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern.

The statement by the auditor regarding their reporting duties on the consolidated
financial statements of the Company is set out in the independent auditor’s report
on pages 128 to 137 of this annual report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board recognizes that it is the responsibility of the Board to maintain
appropriate risk management and internal control systems to protect shareholders’
investment and the Company’s assets, and to review the effectiveness of these
systems on an annual basis.

The Group's internal audit department plays a major role in monitoring the internal
governance of the Company. The major tasks of the internal audit department
are reviewing the internal control of the Company and conducting comprehensive
audits of all branches and subsidiaries of the Company on a regular basis.

Under the Company’s risk management and internal control structure, the
management is responsible for designing, implementing and maintaining risk
management and internal control systems to ensure, amongst others, (i) developing
and establishing appropriate policies and control procedures to protect the Group’s
assets from improper use or disposal; (i) complying with relevant laws, rules and
regulations; and (iii) keep reliable financial and accounting records in accordance
with relevant accounting standards and regulatory reporting requirements.

The main features of risk management and internal control structure of the
Company are as follows:

3 the heads of major business units or departments manage risks by identifying
and mitigating risks in accordance with the internal standards approved by
the Board and the Audit Committee;

3 the management ensures appropriate actions are taken on significant risks
affecting the Group’s businesses and operations; and

o the internal auditors provide independent assurance to the Board, the
Audit Committee and the management concerning the effectiveness of risk
management and internal control systems.
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During the Reporting Period, each major business unit or department was
responsible for daily risk management activities, including identifying major risks
that may affect the Group's performance, assessing and evaluating the identified
risks according to their possible impacts and the possibility of occurrence, and
formulating and implementing measures, controls and response plans to manage
and mitigate such risks. The management continuously monitored and reviewed the
risk management and internal control systems on an ongoing basis and reported to
the Audit Committee regarding the status of the systems.

The Company’s internal audit function monitored the Company’s internal
governance and provided independent assurance on the adequacy and effectiveness
of the Company’s risk management and internal control system. The senior
executives responsible for the internal audit function report directly to the Audit
Committee. The internal audit reports on the effectiveness of control were submitted
to the Audit Committee in accordance with the agreed audit plan approved by the
Board. All Directors were informed of the results of the internal audit assignments.
During the Reporting Period, the internal audit function conducted an analysis and
independent assessment of the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company's risk
management and internal control systems through, amongst others, examination
of risk-related documentation prepared by operation units and the management
and conducting interviews with employees at all levels. The senior executives of the
internal audit function attended the Audit Committee meeting to explain the results
of the internal audit and responded to the questions of the members of the Audit
Committee.

The Company has internal guidelines to ensure that inside information is equally
and timely disseminated to the public in accordance with applicable laws and
regulations. The senior executives of the Group’s investor’s relation, corporate
affairs and financial control functions are empowered to control and monitor
appropriate procedures to be followed for inside information disclosure. Access to
inside information is limited to the relevant senior executives at all times and on a
“ need to know" basis. Relevant personnel and other professional parties involved
are reminded to maintain the confidentiality of the inside information until it is
publicly disclosed. Other procedures, such as pre-clearance on dealing in Company'’s
securities by Directors and designated members, notification of periodic blackouts
and restrictions on securities trading for Directors and employees, and identification
of project by code name have also been implemented by the Company to prevent
possible improper handling of inside information within the Group.

The Company has adopted arrangements to facilitate employees and other
stakeholders to raise concerns about possible misconducts in financial reporting,
internal control or other matters. The Audit Committee regularly reviewed such
arrangements and ensured that appropriate arrangements are in place to investigate
these matters fairly and independently and to take appropriate follow up action.
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During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee reviewed the effectiveness of
the risk management and internal control systems of the Company. The annual
review included works such as (i) review of reports submitted by heads of operation
units or departments and the management regarding the implementation of
the risk management and internal control systems; (ii) periodic discussions with
the management and senior executives regarding the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems and the works of the internal audit
function. Such discussions include the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications
and experience, training programmes and budget of the Company’s accounting,
internal audit and financial reporting functions; (iii) evaluation on the scope and
quality of management’s ongoing monitoring of the risks management and internal
control systems; (iv) review of the effectiveness of the internal audit function to
ensure coordination within the Group and between the Company’s internal and
external auditors and to ensure the internal audit function is adequately resourced
and has appropriate standing within the Group; and (v) making recommendations
to the Board and the management on the scope and quality of the management'’s
ongoing monitoring of the risk management and internal control systems.

The Board has conducted a review of the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group and considered such systems to be effective
and adequate. Such systems, however, are designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The Company appointed PricewaterhouseCoopers as the independent auditor
for the year ended August 31, 2023. For the year ended August 31, 2023, the
total fees paid/payable in respect of the audit service provided by the Group’s
independent auditor are set out below:
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BREBENER - BELTERRER - HIIE
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LRAMEZERGNBEEENBEREER ; (v)
B AMBBAENERNL - NERAEER
R EAR RN RIMNEZBRED 2 BE 15 - I
BRAMETBERFTRERIEREEN
EREEN : RVREEEHRAREERA
MEZRABOFEEENBEREERNEES
NEBREELER

o

ExetHASEAREERABEZERLN
EREETRY  URARZERRERAR
& o A ZERFNRGBEEEE(MIEHN
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B R &
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2023F 8 A3IHIEFEMNB L XM - B E
2023F8A3MALILEFE « AKE B L AAHKAD
RENZERBEMN TERHNEREEHY
T

Amount/RMB’000
¢8 ARETR

Fee for audit services (including Hong Kong Standard on ZHREER(BEREESEMEELER
Review Engagements 2410 review on interim results) F24105 BB P EIELE) 2,550
Total Fob 2,550

The Group also appointed another external auditor in respect of the statutory audit
services during the Reporting Period. For the year ended August 31, 2023, the total
fees paid/payable in respect of the audit service provided by the Group’s other
external auditor are RMB148,000.
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JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Ms. Lei Yingran is one of the joint company secretaries of the Company, whose
biographical details are set out in the section headed” Directors and Senior
Management” of this annual report.

Mr. Cheung Kai Cheong, Willie is the other joint company secretary of the
Company. Mr. Cheung has been a senior manager of SWCS Corporate Services
Group (Hong Kong) Limited since April 5, 2017 and is responsible for assisting listed
companies in professional company secretarial works. Mr. Cheung has more than 10
years of professional experience in the company secretarial field and has extensive
knowledge and experience in dealing with corporate governance, regulatory and
compliance affairs of listed companies. Mr. Cheung has been a member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants since January 2009, and a
fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants since October
2008. Mr. Cheung received his bachelor’s degree in arts (with honours), majoring in
accounting and finance from University of Glamorgan, the United Kingdom, in June
1996.

During the Reporting Period, Ms. Lei Yingran and Mr. Cheung Kai Cheong, Willie
have undertaken not less than 15 hours of relevant professional training respectively
in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company believes that effective communication with Shareholders is essential
to strengthening investor relations and understanding the Group’s business,
performance and strategies. The Company also recognizes the importance of timely
and non-selective disclosure of information, which will enable Shareholders and
investors to make the informed investment decisions.

In order to promote effective communication, the Company adopts a shareholder’s
communication policy which aims to establish a two-way relationship and
communication between the Company and the Shareholders, and maintain
the Company’s website (www.cveduholdings.com), where provides up-to-date
information of the Company’s business operations and developments, financial
information, corporate governance practices and other information for public access.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

In order to safeguard the interests and rights of Shareholders, a separate resolution
will be proposed for each issue at the general meetings including the election of
individual Directors.

All resolutions proposed at the general meeting will be voted pursuant to the Listing
Rules and the voting results will be posted on the website of the Company and the
Stock Exchange in a timely manner after each general meeting.

CONVENING OF EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL
MEETING AND PUTTING FORWARD PROPOSALS

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, a general meeting shall be convened by the
Company on the written requisition of any two or more members deposited at the
principal office of the Company in Hong Kong or, in the event the Company ceases
to have such a principal office, the registered office specifying the objects of the
meeting and signed by the requisitionists, provided that such requisitionists held
as at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one- tenth of the paid up
capital of the Company which carries the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company. General meetings may also be convened on the written requisition of
any one member which is a recognised clearing house (or its nominee(s)) deposited
at the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong or, in the event the Company
ceases to have such a principal office, the registered office specifying the objects
of the meeting and signed by the requisitionist, provided that such requisitionist
held as at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid
up capital of the Company which carries the right of voting at general meetings
of the Company. If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of deposit of
the requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting to be held within a further 21
days, the requisitionist(s) themselves or any of them representing more than one-
half of the total voting rights of all of them, may convene the general meeting in
the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which meetings may be convened
by the Board provided that any meeting so convened shall not be held after the
expiration of three months from the date of deposit of the requisition, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the
Board shall be reimbursed to them by the Company.

ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD

Shareholders who intend to put forward their enquiries about the Company to
the Board could send their enquiries to the headquarters of the Company at The
Administration Building of Guangzhou Huali Science and Technology Town, No.
11 Huali Road, Zengcheng District, Guangzhou, Guangdong Province, PRC (email
address: ir@hltz.net).
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CHANGE IN CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Company has adopted the amended and restated memorandum and articles of
association of the Company by special resolution passed on January 13, 2023 and
effective on January 13, 2023.

Save as disclosed above, there was no change in the memorandum and articles of
association of the Company.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

China Vocational Education Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group” or “we"), are pleased to release the 2023
Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG"”) Report (the “Report”),
which aims to disclose the Group’s ESG performance and dedication to
putting our sustainable development into practice.

Reporting Standard

The Report is prepared in accordance with the Environmental, Social and
Governance Reporting Guide (the “ESG Reporting Guide”) under Appendix
27 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) and aims to disclose significant
environmental, social and governance issues matters for consideration by
stakeholders. The Report strictly complies with all the “comply or explain”
provisions set out in the ESG Reporting Guide and the four reporting
principles, including:

Materiality:

The Group has conducted ESG materiality assessment and disclosed the
process to identify and the criteria for the selection of material ESG issues
and the process and results of stakeholder engagement.

Quantitative:
The Group has disclosed the information on the statistical standards,
methodologies, calculation tools as well as sources of conversion factors
used in the Report.

Balance:

The Report provides an unbiased picture of the Group’s performance
and avoids selections, omissions, or presentation formats that may
inappropriately influence a decision or judgment by the report reader.

Consistency:

Consistent statistical methodologies are used for information disclosure
in the Report compared with last year. If there are any changes to the
methodologies, calculations, or any other factors that affect meaningful

comparison, we will make a clear explanation.
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Reporting Period and Boundary
The Report covers the period from 1 September 2022 to 31 August 2023
(referred to as the “Reporting Period” or the “Year").

Unless otherwise stated, the scope of the Report included:
- Guangzhou Huali College (“Huali College”)

- Guangzhou Huali Science and Technology Vocational College (“Huali
Vocational College”)

- Guangdong Province Huali Technician College (“Huali Technician
College”)

The scope covered in the Report remains consistent with the previous year’s
ESG report, encompassing activities solely within Guangdong Province.

Reporting Languages
The Report is published in English and Chinese. In case of any discrepancy,
the English version shall prevail.

Approval of the Report
The Report has been reviewed and approved by the board of directors of
the Group (the “Board”) on 27 November 2023.

Report Feedback

The feedback of stakeholders is valuable for the Group in developing a
more comprehensive and robust sustainability strategy. Should you have
any enquiries or suggestions, please feel free to contact us via the following
email address: hlu@hltz.net.

f«%iﬁ N i/\&m‘-/\mqﬁﬁm

WmEHEREE
RERE W E2022F9 A1 HE20234F8A
3THEM (SR REHE S AEE]) -

BREHBIN > ABENHRERE -
- BEMEISG(TEI2K])

- BEMEUREBRESR(EIRE
Biz)

- EREEURMEHR([EYRME
Bz 1)

RBRER %E’Jﬁﬁléﬁit FEMESGRE
RE—H  EEREREREHERNNED -

L 2hm =
E-R=

ARIREAR NP XA B S 5 RANEA
WA - FARRERLE

AR E L&
RIREDR2023F 11 A27HEREE =
Ee((EEFDIE -

HERE

M=l REEAEENTEEZA K
BROTSEEERETIEZ -5 B
THEEMERSESE - BERBRUTE
FH B AR FR AP ¢ hlu@hltz.net ©

FEBEREERER DA 89
2023 FERE



-

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
«Riﬁ Zi/\&kk/\milﬁ&m

90

SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT STRATEGIES

2.1 Board Statement

The Group is committed to promoting sustainable practices and integrating
them into business operations. At the same time, we actively interact with
all stakeholders and encourage active participation in ESG-related initiatives.

We have established an ESG governance structure to enhance our
management of sustainable development. The Board is responsible for the
overall oversight of the Group’s sustainability efforts and regularly discusses,
reviews, and approves the Group’s ESG management approach, strategies,
and risk management plans, including environmental management,

personnel management, teaching quality and health and safety.

The Board authorizes the ESG Committee to actively participate in ESG
strategies. Each department implements the ESG strategies and policies
formulated by the Board. The Board is also responsible for approving the
prioritization and management of ESG material issues. The Group has set
environment related targets for the Year. Our ESG related performance
was reviewed by the Board on an ongoing basis, which conducted progress
review against ESG related objectives to oversee and improve our work in
sustainable development.

2.2 ESG Governance Structure

The Group has established an ESG governance structure. This structure
includes three levels: decision-making level, organizational level, and
execution level. ESG governance is implemented from top to bottom and
stipulates the roles and responsibilities of each level in the ESG governance
the ESG

committee (the "ESG Committee”) serves in the organizational level, and

structure. The Board serves in our decision-making level,

representatives from various departments serve in the execution level.
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Decision-making level:
Board of the Group

REE : ARBEEFS

Organizational level:
ESG Committee

HEE - ESGEE R

Execution level:
Relevant departments of the
Group

HITRE - AKEAERIEEM
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The Board, as the highest decision-making body for ESG work, assumes full responsibility
for the Group’s ESG strategy and reporting. Its major responsibilities include:

o Reviewing and approving the Group’s ESG management policies, strategies, goals,
and annual work, including assessment, prioritization, and management of material
ESG issues, risks, and opportunities

o Regularly reviewing the ESG performance of the Group and its progress in achieving
related targets

BEERERESCTIENERARKEE 2HEEASEMESGREMEE - EXBEREBRE -
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The ESG Committee is composed of Executive Director, senior management, and other
members including representatives from various departments, which are delegated by the

Board. Its major responsibilities include:

o Formulating ESG management policies, strategies, targets and annual tasks, and
promote their implementation

3 Identifying, assessing, reviewing and managing key ESG issues, risks and opportunities

. Reporting regularly to the Board on all ESG working status and related
recommendations
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The execution level is the third level of the governance structure and comprises all relevant
departments across the Group. Its major responsibilities include:

J Organizing, promoting, and implementing various ESG related tasks in accordance
with the Group’s ESG management policies and strategies

o Reporting regularly to the ESG Committee on all ESG tasks
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2.3 Stakeholder Engagement

We respect the opinions of stakeholders, build diversified communication
channels, and continue to listen to the expectations and demands of
stakeholders. We communicate with internal and external stakeholders
through a variety of channels to understand their opinions and suggestions
on the Group's sustainability and strategy and take the expectations and
concerns of stakeholders as an important reference for the Group's ESG

work.

Major stakeholders

TENZHEBES

Main methods for communication and response

TREBEBREESR

2.3 MzmEEEL SR

BMEEMSHEINER - 2u 2l
BERRE - WIS EERE N SR S
LHEFF - RIFBESBRELN LTI
EMEER R - BRERRESAREER]
FERRMEBOEEMER - WS
AT ENEE R A EBESGT(E

MBEBE2ERE -

Expectations and demands

HEEFR

Stakeholders/Investors

Tz REE

Government/Industry
associations

B/ TR HE

Regulators

Meetings and interviews (Research and

analysis)

Annual general meeting
Interim and annual reports
g@EA AT RDHT)
BERBFRE
hE R FERE
Consultations

Lectures

School ratings

School visits

Organization of industry activities
EEE

R

B

BEER

BBITEEY
Compliance reports
Consultations

Audits and annual inspections of private

colleges and universities
BRME

B

Fib - RieRFin

Investment return
Business growth

RE@R
E 3

Compliant and reasonable operation
Business growth
Quality of teaching

Information transparency

ARABEE
EBHER
HEE2
EEERE

Compliant and reasonable operation
Business growth
Employee benefits

ERAIREE
Erhs
BB IAFB
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Main methods for communication and response
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Expectations and demands

FTEFEMEES FEBBREEFR HEEFR
Employees o Channels for employees to express their o Quality of teaching
opinions (questionnaires, suggestion boxes, 3 Career development
symposiums) 3 Compensation and benefit packages
o Work performance appraisals and interviews e Healthy and safe working environment
o Meetings and interviews (Teacher’s forum) . Fair treatment
° Seminars/workshops/lectures o Value demonstration
o Staff communication meetings
o Staff Intranet
8 - Elikaimﬁ (HEFSs  BRME - - HEEEs
&) - BELEER
- I%%ﬁ?V&F“ - FHBENTE
- BSE®(HEwE) - RBEZEHNIERER
- HEE /IS EE - RTHEF
- BIBBEAE -  ([BERR
-  BINKAHE
Students/Parents o Satisfaction survey o Quality of teaching
° Supervision feedback o Corporate governance
. Education expo . Sound operation
° Online platforms . Healthy and safe campus
o Telephone o Protection of student information
o Mailbox
BERE - mEEMSHAE - HEES
- BER#E -  BEEAR
- HER¥E® - RBRgg
- #WL¥A - RBREZERE
- &Ei -  BHEERRE
— A

Former students

Former student activities held by the school

Former student reunions
School website

Media reports
ERBRNELEH
BEoaEe

SRk

HEROHER

School ranking
Quality of teaching
Teaching reform
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Major stakeholders

Main methods for communication and response

Expectations and demands

FTEFEHEES FTEBREREERR HEERFR
Business partners o Exchange activities and visits . Teaching quality and effectiveness
o Meetings (Industry-university research seminar) e Teaching reform
o Education expo o Business growth
° Lectures
KB - REBMED - HBEEMHR
- SHR(EEfSE) - HENE
- HERE® - EBER
-  BE
Suppliers o Supplier management procedures o Fair and just procurement
o Field inspections o Anti-corruption
frem - HEREEERF -  RTRERE
- EHEE - RER
Community/Non- ° Volunteers and community activities ° Promoting community development
governmental o Seminars/workshops/lectures o Participating in public welfare and
organizations ° Donations charity
KB R - EIRMRES - HIHEHE
- HEe EESIES - BHERREE
1)
Public o School websites o Quality of teaching
o School activities o Teacher qualifications
. Education expo . Investment return
o Media reports o Information transparency
AT - 2R - HEEs
- EREPNED - HEEE
- HERE¥® - REM@®R
- EBENESR - EREHAE
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2.4 Materiality Assessment

The Group performed materiality assessment during the Year and took
reference from the disclosure obligations covered in the Guide, the
Materiality Map of the Sustainability Accounting Standards Board (SASB),
and peer comparisons.

We have summarized 26 materiality issues applicable to the Group’s
business, including 4 highly material issues, 14 moderately material issues
and 8 generally material issues. We have made different levels of focused
disclosures in this report based on the materiality of these issues and
consider them as important considerations when formulating ESG strategies
and policies.

The Board has confirmed and approved the materiality assessment result.

2.4 EEHFME
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ESG materiality matrix

ESGREEEM M

ESG issues of

Materiality to stakeholders

HASEHEEASTHNEERMY

moderate materiality

HEEZESGHE

Materiality to the Group
HEAEENEEN
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ESG issues of high materiality
SEEZESGEE

Corresponding sections in ESG report

ESGHEHEERD

1. Health and safety of students
1. BERERRE

2. Control of teaching quality
2. RBE ST

3. Health and safety of employees
3. BTRERZ R

4. Student employment rate

4. BAEGEE

3. Outstanding Teaching Quality
3. BN EEE

3. Outstanding Teaching Quality
3. FMHBEEE

4. Caring and Welfare for Employees
4. BETRAIRERET

3. Outstanding Teaching Quality
3. FHMHBEEE

ESG issues of moderate materiality

Corresponding sections in ESG report

HEEEESGRE ESGHREMEZE
5. Anti-corruption 5. Robust Governance
5. REBE 5. IREEMER

6. Green campus and office

6. HERBRBAE

7. Employment rights and welfare protection

7. BRERRENRE

8. Diversity of employees and equal opportunities
8 BEIZKMNTEHS

9. Air pollutant emissions and management

9. ERSRMYPEHM N E R

10. Compliance operations
10. AREE

11. Protection on information and privacy

1. 5 BBEARE

12. Training and development of employees
12. EIEYIMBER

13. Water management
13. AKETRE

14. Compliant handling and responding mechanism

14. &HREE KO FE#S

15. Branding promotion management

15. MIEHEEE

16. Teacher qualifications and professional conduct of employees

16. HENENRE S TREIRST

6. Establishing a Greener Campus

6. it ERE

4. Caring and Welfare for Employees
4. BTRAIZERT

4. Caring and Welfare for Employees
4. BTRAIRERET

6. Establishing a Greener Campus

6. HEEERE

5. Robust Governance

5. REHER

5. Robust Governance

5. %&_E’] E./l:l

4. Caring and Welfare for Employees
4. BITRAEEER]

6. Establishing a Greener Campus

6. AgHERE

5. Robust Governance

5. BRME R

3. Outstanding Teaching Quality
3. EHNHEES

3. Outstanding Teaching Quality
3. FHMHBEE
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Corresponding sections in ESG report
ESGHEHEED

17. Waste management

17. BEYER
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OUTSTANDING TEACHING QUALITY

The Group is a leading private education group in South China. The colleges

under the Group provide private higher education and private vocational

education in multiple applied science fields for many students.

3.1

3.2

Education Mission

Application-focused, practice-oriented specialized courses are the
characteristics of the teaching philosophy of the Group. We emphasize
social responsibility and human development, adopting an “integration
of production and education, cooperation of school and enterprise”
model for talent cultivation. We continuously innovate and actively
improve college teaching qualities fostering students’ social services

capabilities.

The colleges under the Group are located in the strategic core
areas of Guangdong Province. Through career-oriented programs,
practical curricula, and extensive employer networks, we enhance
students’ competitiveness in employment and promote application
of knowledge and skills to real life. In response to the constantly
changing job market, we firmly innovate and improve our specialized
course settings to provide students with the necessary knowledge
foundation, professional skills and vocational qualifications for seeking
jobs and career development in specific occupations and industries.
This cultivates students in terms of their integrity, unity of knowledge
and ability, and practical innovation.

Excellent Teaching Management

The Group is committed to creating a high-quality teaching and
learning environment, bringing all-around cultivation and growth
to students through rich educational resources and continuously
improved teaching competencies. In terms of education and teaching
resources, we focus on disciplinary construction and deepening the
integration of production and education. We have established a
relatively sound, collaborative and practical talent cultivation teaching
system to guarantee teaching quality through “evaluations promoting
teaching and learning, mutual learning and improving teaching
quality”.

To manage teaching methods and ensure the quality of education,
we have established and implemented various teaching standards
and systems, such as Teaching Work Standards ((ZXZ2T{ERE)),
Standards for Teaching Management ((HZ2EETIEHE)), Code
of Professional Ethics for Teachers ((ZiRTEEZEE/ZRE) ), Treatment
(KHBEHRTEREIE)), and
Teaching Quality Monitoring and Management Measures ({Z2H&
SEREERINA)),

Methods for Teaching Accidents

to manage teaching methods and ensure the
teachin
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The Group has established a teaching quality monitoring framework,
mainly operated under a college-oriented system and mission,
and measured by indicators including targets in relation to talent
cultivation, teaching, teaching conditions, profession and curriculum,
and teaching reform, aiming to scientifically and normatively improve
the quality of education and teaching. Teaching quality management
is continuously supervised by the University Teaching Supervision
Office and the Academic Affairs Office of each college in order to

achieve continuous improvement and enhancement.

Graduates’ Career Development

The Group aims to build provincial top-level higher vocational
colleges. The graduates employment rate has always been one of our
focused goals and priorities, as well as feedback on teaching quality.
We have formulated relevant systems, measures and documents to
assist graduates’ employment and boost the employment rate, and
have carried out a series of campaigns in this regard.

Through fully grasping the situation of graduates, the Group has set
specific goals for the 2023 graduates’ employment to help graduates
solve practical employment difficulties, guide graduates to seek jobs
and employment with a positive attitude, enhance employment
capabilities and self-development abilities, ensure stable employment,
and minimize the impact of economic downturn on graduates’

employment.

The Group jointly holds large-scale on-campus job fairs with different
enterprises. For instance, graduates can build relationships with
enterprises through the innovative networking format of “online
matching + offline connection”. In response to graduating students
with employment difficulties, we have established and improved
“one-on-one”

support mechanisms, implementing employment

assistance to help them find jobs as soon as possible.

The Group places great emphasis on cooperation with enterprises
and actively explores school-enterprise cooperation opportunities, and
continuously optimize such collaboration model. In line with market
demand, we sign cooperation agreements with leading enterprises in
various industries and send many students to different enterprises for
internships, practical training and employment. This helps our students
better integrate into society and improve their employment rate.
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3.4 Campus Health and Safety

Ensuring the health and safety of employees and students is one
of our top and key priorities. We are committed to building a safe
campus and a harmonious campus.

The Group strictly complies with the laws and regulations relating to
health and safety protection of schools, teachers and students, such as
the Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Treatment of Occupational
Diseases ({2 A R B R76)5)), the Regulation on Sanitary
Work of Schools ((Z/ &4 T1E&HI)), the Fire Protection Law of the
PRC ((FPZEEARZLFEERTA)) and the Food Safety Law of the PRC ({FF
EARKMERRBEZEE)).

We have also formulated internal policies and regulations to guarantee
campus health and safety. We have organized rehearsals and
lectures related to health and safety for teachers and students to in
preparation of emergencies. On 15 April 2023, taking the opportunity
of the “4.15 National Safety Education Day”, Huali Technician College
widely promoted and were actively mobilized to carry out a series
of campaigns and education activities through online and offline
channels, including two rounds of activities and exhaustive class
meetings, creating a rich content of learning and promoting national
security on campus.

During the Reporting Period, the Group had not violated any laws or
regulations related to health and safety, nor had any work-related
fatal accidents or loss of working days due to work injuries occurred.

Fire Safety

In order to deal with fire accidents on campus in a timely, orderly
and efficient manner, ensure the personal and property safety of all
faculty and students, minimize losses and negative impacts and ensure
the smooth progress of education and teaching work, the Group has
formulated fire safety emergency plans based on the actual situation
of each college, which are in line with relevant departmental laws and
regulations. A fire protection facility inspection system has also been
established, with daily inspections of facilities inside the buildings.
In June 2023, Huali Technician College organized a fire drill to
further educate students the use of fire equipment and the relevant
evacuation knowledge. For potential fire accidents on campus, all
faculty and students are familiarized with fire escape routes so that in
the shortest time possible, students can be guided to evacuate safely,
orderly and quickly, ensuring the safety of all faculty and students.
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Food Safety

The Group resolutely complies with laws and regulations such as
the Food Safety Law of the PRC ((FEARKEMERBELEE))
and food hygiene standards and management measures. We have
formulated dining hall hygiene management systems, implemented
the responsibilities of management personnel, and optimized the
food hygiene and safety management network. The hygiene systems
include environmental cleanliness systems, food procurement and
storage systems, personal and operational hygiene systems, etc. At the
same time, we regularly conduct internal inspections to monitor the
hygiene conditions of the dining environment, utensils and equipment.
We have also formulated Food Management Policy ((fEREIZHIE))

for management.

Mental Health and Wellbeing

We pay attention to the mental health of employees and students,
in hope of students’ healthy growth and integration. Through
psychological surveys, we comprehensively and accurately understand
the mental health of new students, so as to enhance students’ mental
health quality and promote campus harmony and stability. In this
regard, we have established Health Management Policy ({fZBEEIE 4|
J£)) and Mental Crisis Precautions and Intervention Policy ({2 EfE
HIBZMTIEHIE)). At the same time, each college has organized
activities conducive to students’ physical and mental health annually
based on the actual circumstances such as choral competitions, sports
competitions, campus cultural and arts festivals. Psychological health
lectures, mental health months, mental health knowledge training
for counsellors are also our distinctive mental health activities. At the
same time, we have conducted regular health checkups for teachers
and students every year to understand their health conditions timely.

Dormitory Safety

The work of student dormitory safety management bears great
responsibility. In order to enhance the safety awareness of teachers
and students and ensure the life and property safety of students in
dormitories, we have implemented the Student Dormitory Residential
Safety Plan ((B4AEEEFEL2TEZEK)), which includes fire prevention
and education on unexpected safety incidents occurring in student
dormitories. Dormitory managers, together with relevant personnel,
regularly inspect various facilities in dormitories, and confiscate various
blunt and sharp instruments from students’ dormitories.

Reflection and Self-improvement

Continuous improvement of education quality is our mission. We have
established an open and transparent review mechanism to resolve
issues and address concerns.
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Communication with students and parents is extremely important
and indispensable, as good communication can promote student
learning and growth, provide personalized educational support, and
achieve good interaction and cooperation between the school and
students. The Group provides multiple communication channels such
as telephone, email, mail office, chairman’s mailbox, WeChat, etc.
Students are more than welcome to learn the details of political and
ideological education, rewards and punishments, behavior norms
construction, and comprehensive quality assessment of students
through the Student Affairs Office.

Guangzhou Huali College has formulated the Work Plan for
Complaints and Appeals of Huali College (¢ &M% 37 2z {E 35 (1%
FTEEMAE)), so that faculty, staff, other organizations and
individuals can express their situation, suggestions, opinions or
complaints to the school or higher authorities through social network,
letters, telephone calls, emails, visits, etc. The Complaints and
Appeals Working Group will comprehensively analyse the situation
and problems reflected in the letters and visits from the public,
conscientiously study and handle the relevant policies, and report to
the school leaders and relevant higher authorities timely.

In addition to expressing opinions through public channels,
students can also lodge complaints to the school according to the
Administrative Measures for Student Complaints ((E2 A% FEIEHE)).
The complaint will then be transferred to the Committee for Student
Complaints’ Handling (24 FEEZE D).

During the Reporting Period, we received 10 complaints about
education and teaching services. After timely communication and
feedback, all issues have been properly addressed.

CARING AND WELFARE FOR EMPLOYEES

Our employees are the Group’s important assets. We are committed to
creating a caring working environment that supports employee development.
The Group protects employees’ rights and interests, enhances employee
welfare, holds annual staff activities, and provides continuous training to
support employees’ professional development. Each college has developed
relevant employee manuals, employee welfare management measures,
annual training plans, annual health and safety support arrangements, and
human resource planning according to their own circumstances.

4.1 Talent and Recruitment Management

The Group provides employees with equal talent management
mechanisms and transparent recruitment procedures in a responsible
manner to safeguard their rights and interests and reasonably
manage talent. The Human Resources Department formulates relevant
management regulations such as the Recruitment Guide ({ A BfREE
T {E#8F)), Employees’ Manual ((Z# TFf)) to standardize the
employee recruitment process.
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During the Reporting Period, the Group strictly complied with the
relevant laws and regulations such as the Labour Law of the PRC ({
= ANRLMELEL)), the Labour Contract Law of the PRC ({FFZEE A
REMBELEERE)) and the Regulation on the Implementation of
the Employment Contract Law of the PRC ((FREARKMELEE
ELEEREEBI) ). We had not violated any law or regulation relating
to compensation and dismissal, recruitment, and promotion, working
hours, rest periods, benefit packages, equal opportunity, diversity and

anti-discrimination.

The Group strictly prohibits any form of discrimination based on
gender, ethnicity, race, religious belief, nationality, age or other
factors in recruitment, compensation, working hours, promotion,
termination, dismissal and other aspects. We also respect diversity
and religious beliefs. The Group sources potential talents through
the internet, job fairs and on-campus recruiting at colleges and
universities. Their educational background, qualifications and relevant
work experience are assessed during the selection process.

During the Reporting Period, we have a total of 2,447 employees. The
statistics on the Group’s employment data are as follows:

Employees distribution by gender

1,136 m Male
(46%) ¥ Female

1,311
(54%)

Employees distribution by age

661 661
(27%) (27 %)
(55602/0) H Below 30
m30-50
Above 50
924 924
(38%) (38%)

1,311
(54%)
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We strictly comply with the Law of the PRC on the Protection of
Minors (AR FMBIARKF AREE)), the Provisions on the
Prohibition of Using Child Labour KZ£1EfE A E T )) and Provisions
on Special Protection of Minor Workers ({RACF THHIRERT)) .
We also strictly comply with the Labour Law of the PRC ({F#E AR
MBI EYE)) to avoid any employment of forced labor. We check the
identity cards of recruited personnel during the recruitment process
to ensure no child labor is employed. The recruitment registration
and verification materials of hired personnel will be properly kept.
If an employee is found to have provided false information, their
employment relationship will be immediately terminated in accordance
with the law. During the Reporting Period, there were no cases of
child labor or forced labor occurring within the Group.

In accordance with the laws and regulations including the Education
Law of the PRC ({(HFZEARKMBEZE L)), the Higher Education
Law of the PRC ({(FREARLMEZEHEL)) and the Non-state
Education Promotion Law of the PRC ((FFEARLMBRERHE R
#EE)), a Performance Appraisal Scheme ((&EEZITE)) has been
formulated to enhance the work initiative and efficiency of employees
at various levels and positions.

The Group has established two types of evaluation methods:
department-wide evaluations and individual staff evaluations. They
are carried out by the Quality Monitoring and Evaluation Center
and the Human Resources Department respectively. Multiple aspects
of performance metrics are assessed, such as teaching plans and
completion rates, teaching quality, work ethics, and classroom
effectiveness, with results given in five levels. The evaluation results
are associated with salary adjustments and bonus payments to
motivate teachers to maintain a high standard of teaching quality.

Employees distribution by employment type

ERERRE DB T O

131 28 165

2,123
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B Short-term contract/part-time
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EHART FBMET

B Full-time junior
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Employees Welfare

The compensation and welfare policy not only acts as work
rewards for employees but also motivates their growth. The Group
is committed to providing competitive salaries and benefits to
employees. We are giving our effort to expand talent education
services and improve employee motivation. We provide employees
with annual physical examinations, annual departmental exchange
activities, and welfare supplies etc.

For employees who have worked for one year, the Group provides
monthly seniority bonuses starting from the following year. Teachers
with practical experience are also given industry or skills allowances to

encourage innovative teaching among employees.

In addition to fixed salaries and the insurances and housing fund
mandated by national laws, we also provide housing subsidies,
faculty apartments, and benefits and incentives for outstanding talent
through talent introduction policies.

Our employees are also entitled to marriage leave, sick leave, and
bereavement leave to cater to their daily needs. We provide education
subsidies for the children and grandchildren of our employees studying
at our school, demonstrating our heartfelt care.

Employees Training and Capacity Building
We have implemented a comprehensive talent development program
that includes a three-level study training system consisting of “national

"o "

training,” “provincial training,” and “school training.” Through these

training programs, we provide continuous learning opportunities for
our employees.

National
training

CESH]

Training
=3

School
training
2R3
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During the Reporting Period, The Group arranged various types of
trainings for teaching staff, including:

Main type of training
FEREI|E

RMERRER - AEEAHBITE
BT &HEEY  B1F

Training content
EIRE

Induction training for new teachers

FHED AR I

Professional and ethics training

B ERE

Advanced manufacturing
technology learning

SO SUERI S E

Professional technical training
FERME

Academic exchange

BT

Psychological counsellor training

IR AN I

Visiting scholar

e

Higher Education 5% #( & £)), Higher Education Psychology K & %% A 032
E)), University Teachers’ Professional Ethics Cultivation ( SR AMEEEEESE)),
Introduction to Higher Education Laws and Regulations (/& E# & A H B )
(EEHEZ) (SFHELEZ) (SRHMBEEEEE) (SFHEEHMR)
Including 7 topic modules: political guidance and teacher morality, school

situation and history, educational concepts and methods, educational research

and professional development, demonstration guidance, training of teaching
competence, and cultivation of team spirit

BECEEEER  BUaBmEMEMNE « RIERE - HEESEFTE - HERE
BEER  RHELE - HBRNEE  BRBERESR

Advanced technologies such as microelectronics technology, automation
technology, and information technology to comprehensively improve the overall
quality and professional level of college teachers

A RERE SRR R E RERMEZKTHREFREM
SR

Centralized conference Iearning hands-on computer skills training
STEHERE - ERBRIEREET

Knowledge exchange within the teaching unit, with other organizations
FEF PR B ) B AR T AN SR

Theoretical knowledge including fundamental psychology, mental health, and

BELEN - EERME

psychological disorders while Operational skills including psychological assessment
and basic counselling skills

FBREEROES  LEREMOEER  BRIERERIEOBTEMELRGEA
e
Professional learning
£ 3
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ROBUST GOVERNANCE

5.1

Compliance Control and Operations

We strictly comply with relevant laws and regulations, improve our
internal control system, enhance risk management, and insist on
integrity in our operations. We are committed to operating with
integrity and eliminating corruption.

We strictly comply with the Company Law of the PRC ({F#E AR
MBEAFPEY), the Education Law of the PRC ((FREARKEMEHKE
7%)), the Law of the PRC on the Promotion of National Education
((PEAREMBEBERK S (REE)), the Higher Education Law of the
PRC ((PZEARLMESEHE L)), the Vocational Education Law of
the PRC ((FREARFEMBEBEHAE X)), and other relevant laws and
regulations of the country and place of operation, as well as industry
regulatory requirements. The Group is actively identifying, preventing,
and controlling industry and market risks.

To enhance the effectiveness of compliance management, strengthen
self-regulation and promote the Group's stable operation and
sustainable development, the Group has established the Compliance
Management System (& #£ & ¥ & E )), which applies to all
matters relating to compliance risks within the Company and its
subsidiaries. The system defines compliance as compliance with
laws and regulations, industry norms, ethical standards, and internal
rules. Responsibilities are clearly delineated amongst the Board,
the Supervisory Board, senior management, compliance officers,
department heads to each employee to ensure that compliance
risks are effectively identified, assessed, monitored, and reported
throughout the Group.

The Group is committed to safeguarding intellectual property rights
and strictly abides by relevant laws such as the Patent Law of the PRC
((PFEARKEMBEHFEY), the Copyright Law of the PRC ((FIHE AR
HMBEEERE)), the Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the PRC ({
EZAREMBERAEEFHFEL)), in order to protect intangible value
of assets and prevent possible intellectual property infringement.
We formulate and implement different intellectual property related
management systems internally. For example, the Intellectual Property
Risk Management Policy ((XIHEERE B EEFIE)) strengthens the
protection and management of school intellectual property and
regulates the intellectual property behaviour of school affiliated units
and teachers and students.

In the Reporting Period, in terms of trademark protection, the Group
authorized 36 new patents and maintained 389 registered patents.
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5.2

In pursuit of our commitment to enhance external outreach and
communication, the Group will regularly disseminate information
through various platforms. We maintain strict adherence to all relevant
laws and regulations, including the Non-state Education Promotion Law
of the PRC ((FFEARKMBERMEHER#E L)) and the Advertising
Law of the PRC ({(F#EARKEFMBEIEEE)). To ensure the veracity,
reliability, and accuracy of our information, we require the inclusion of
source, author, responsible editor, and other pertinent details in our
published materials. Our Rules on Information Release Management
govern the publication of school-related information on the internet,
thereby preventing the circulation of inappropriate or false information.

No laws or regulations relating to advertisements and information on
the educational services are violated during the Reporting Period.

Risk Management

Effective risk management and internal control systems are key factors
in maintaining a high level of corporate governance. The Group has
established appropriate risk management and internal control systems.
We set up the Compliance and Risk Management Department to
establish and enhance the Group’s internal risk control system and
management processes, and also formulate unified risk management
policies and procedures. Through the oversight of legal affairs,
contracts, audits, and risk management, the department effectively
mitigates potential risks, thereby elevating the Group’s overall risk
control capabilities. Besides, we focus on improving risk identification,
assessment, and the development of risk management strategies.

The department pays a continuous effort in conducting risk
management activities and enhancing the reporting system to
establish a comprehensive risk prevention framework to safeguard the
company’s operational security within the Group.

The Risk Management Policy ({[EREEHIE)) aims to standardize
risk management, establish an effective risk control framework,
and enhance risk prevention capabilities, ensuring the Group's safe
and stable operation while improving management practices. It
covers all risk management aspects and related departments within
the Group. We have identified risks such as strategic, operational,
market, financial, legal and climate risks, and risk assessment involves
identifying, analysing, and responding to risks.

The Group adopts a comprehensive risk management approach
encompassing five key procedures: establishing risk management
philosophy and risk appetite, setting risk management goals, identifying
risks, analysing risks, and formulating risk responses.
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Based on the risk response analysis, the Group develops risk
management solutions for various risks during the monthly risk
assessment meetings. These solutions generally outline the specific
goals, organizational leadership requirements, relevant management,
business processes, required resources, and concrete response
measures to be taken before, during, and after a risk event occurs,
along with risk management tools. After the meeting, a Risk
Assessment and Response Table ([EFTEFIEL X)) will be drafted
for approval by the Audit Committee and the Board.

Anti-Corruption and Anti-Competitive Behaviour
Policy

We firmly believe that compliance with the law, integrity and
quality service is the core business philosophy of the Group. We
set an example for school students and society, solidly promote
anti-corruption and anti-bribery work in commercial activities and
strengthen corporate internal control mechanisms. The Group strictly
abides by the Criminal Law of the PRC ((FFEARKFMBAHIEL)),
Anti-Money Laundering Law of the PRC ({ % A RHEME &L
%)), Criminal Procedure Law of the PRC ({FFZE AR LTI IS4
7)), Oversight Law of the PRC ({#EEARKMEELZIE)) and other
relevant national and regional anti-corruption laws and regulations,
and has established Anti-corruption, Anti-bribery Control Procedure (/&
85 - REEEEERIEF)).

The procedure aims to prevent corrupt practices and bribery within the
Group. It establishes a commitment system to curb corrupt behaviour
and foster a culture of lawful and ethical conduct. The scope covers
various economic activities, including procurement, sales, and
management processes, which is equally applicable to all individuals
and engaging entities in business with the Group. The procedure
outlines several measures, including mandates for the signing of
the Anti-Bribery/Anti-Corruption Commitment Agreements by key
personnel within the relevant company and suppliers, holding them
accountable for maintaining integrity. The document also specifies
the responsibilities of different organizational levels, including the
Board, supervisory board, and company management, in monitoring
and enforcing anti-corruption practices. Furthermore, it emphasizes
proactive measures, such as establishing a reporting mechanism,
conducting investigations, and applying sanctions to address
corrupt practices effectively. The Group encourages whistleblowers
and maintains strict confidentiality throughout the reporting and
investigation processes.

During the Reporting Period, we have organised the training session,
titled “Business Anti-Corruption Knowledge Training”, that was aimed
to strengthen the development of an ethical culture and prevent
corruption and bribery within the organization. The participants
included all management personnel, such as those in procurement,
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5.4

finance, and administrative offices. We have also organised anti-
corruption training for the Directors. The training successfully
equipped the participants with a fundamental understanding of anti-
corruption measures, contributing to the company’s commitment
to ethical business practices and fulfilling its corporate social
responsibility.

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not receive any
corruption, bribery, extortion, fraud, money laundering or other fraud
cases involving the Group or its employees.

Data Privacy

We strengthen the security and confidentiality management of the
campus network, maintain public order, provide a stable, reliable,
and safe computer network environment for all teachers and students
of the schools, and support the schools’ teaching, research, and
management work. We strictly abide by the Decision of the Standing
Committee of the National People's Congress on Preserving Computer
Network Security ((ZEIARKREASEBZETHRHEELHHEL
ZHISRTE)), the Regulations of the People's Republic of China for
Safety Protection of Computer Information Systems ({/F# AREF
Bt E#EBRAL2REEN)) and relevant laws and regulations
and continue to invest in information security and data protection to
ensure the security of personal information.

We have set up an Information Security Management System ({{ 8%
2EIRH|E)), the document outlines the management of information
system data. The data management is governed by principles of
standardization, full-cycle control, and regular assessment including
the maintenance of a unified data language and data accuracy,
prevention of unauthorized alterations, establishment of the backup
and disaster recovery mechanisms, safeguard of data confidentiality,
and facilitation of data services. The document also defines the roles
and responsibilities in terms of data management at school, with
different departments assigned with specific functions. For units or
individuals who have caused losses due to violation of these measures,
subject to the severity of the circumstances, they would receive the
appropriate administrative penalties.

We have implemented specific regulations and systems, including
Regulations on Student Information Security Management ({Z24£1{z
B2 2EI®ME)), Regulations on Student File Management ((E4 12
ZEEME)), and the Prevention of Information Leakage Statement
(CFHIHEBIRFEEANZE) ). These measures are in place to ensure the
security of student information. Highly confidential student data is
safeguarded to prevent unauthorized access or disclosure. Any transfer
or access to this information requires the permission of the respective
department heads.

The Group was not aware of any non-compliance with laws and
regulations relating to data privacy matters in connection with services
provided during the Reporting Period.
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Supply Chain Management

We are dedicated to establishing enduring and mutually advantageous
business partnerships with our partners and suppliers. To ensure
equitable competition and responsible supply chain management, the
Group has devised the Supplier Evaluation Standard ({fEREFEHIZ
#£)) and the Supplier Management System ((#tEREEIREE K )). These
systems outline the supplier selection process in order to effectively
monitor supplier production, quality, management and production
processes, develop and maintain stable suppliers, ensure that suppliers
provide products that meet quality requirements and are reasonably
priced, and establish a long-term and stable supply and demand
relationship with suppliers.

The Administrative Measures for the Supervision of Suppliers (/&
EEBEIRINE)) introduces the Supplier Regular Evaluation Report (¢
fER T B ERE)) and Supplier Assessment Form (({tFERIZ LK )).
The annual Supplier Assessment Form ({{£fERE%K)) categorizes
suppliers into four different levels, while monthly evaluation reports
are conducted for our long-term suppliers. Following the assessment,
we communicate the results to the suppliers and provide suggestions
for improvement when necessary. In cases where suppliers
consistently perform poorly in the comprehensive assessment, we will
discontinue our collaboration with them after reporting and obtaining
management approval, all in the interest of maintaining the quality
of our supplier network. During the Report Period, we confirmed that
there are 196 suppliers implementing practices related to engaging
suppliers.

We have set up a Suppliers’ Assessment of Environmental Protection
and Corporate Social Responsibility ((HEEREBITRERDEMESET
#F{E)), to strengthen suppliers’ management, reduce environmental
and social risks, and evaluate suppliers’ compliance with environmental
and corporate social responsibility standards. The assessment covers
multiple aspects such as whether suppliers provide environmentally
friendly products and services, employ child labour, forced labour,
ensure safe and healthy working conditions for employees, practice
non-discrimination in recruitment, respect reasonable working hours
and holidays, comply with legal and ethical standards and prohibit
corruption, fraud and unethical conduct.
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During the Reporting Period, the Group had 196 major suppliers for
providing products and services. The regional distribution is as follows:

Location

FriEit

RBEHEA - AEEXF 196K EHE
mARE O E R HER - R HIT

Suppliers
e

Guangdong
BE=

Beijing
bl

Shandong
ITES

Zhejiang
pipan

Wuhan
HZE

Chongging
BE

182

ESTABLISHING A GREENER CAMPUS

The core operation of the Group is mainly located in 3 colleges, namely
Huali College, Huali Vocational College, and Huali Technician College,
focusing within Guangdong Province. The Group values the quality of

campus environment and sustainable development.

Our business has no significant negative impact on the environment and
natural resources. The main areas of impact include electricity consumption,
domestic water usage, the use of materials in schools and offices, waste
generated by schools, offices, and cafeterias, as well as the use of vehicles
by the Group. The Group is committed to building a responsible green

campus.

We strictly abide by the Environmental Protection Law of the PRC (HFZEAR
HMBEIRBRFEL) ), the Water Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the
PRC ((rh#E A RFEMBEIKITLBAE)), the Energy Conservation Law of the
PRC ({H#EARKEMBHLIEEIRE) ), and the relevant laws and regulations
on environmental protection.
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The Group has taken a series of measures to promote sustainable

development, such as strengthening afforestation, using clean energy, saving

water and electricity, and implementing garbage classification, to reduce

greenhouse gas emissions, water resource wastage, and the generation of

hazardous and non-hazardous waste. Through our own efforts, we hope to

cultivate students’ awareness of environmental protection, live in harmony

with nature, and work together to establish a greener campus.

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not (i) violate any laws and
regulations relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into

water and land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste; (ii)

have any major accidents affecting the environment and natural resources;

or (iii) receive any environmental penalties and litigation notices.

6.1

Energy Saving

The Group focuses on energy conservation in daily office operations
and campus management. We call on students and staff to work
together to save energy whenever and wherever possible. The energy
conservation measures of the Group mainly focus on lighting systems,
HVAC systems, and the use of electronic devices and appliances.

In terms of lighting system, we suggest turning off lights when
offices are not in use and making use of daylighting whenever
possible. Keeping lighting fixtures and bulbs clean helps maximize
their energy efficiency. Dividing offices into several lighting zones
with independently controlled switches saves energy. We have already
adopted high energy efficiency luminaires during renovation.

In terms of heating, ventilation and air-conditioning systems, the
Group advocates turning off air-conditioning when offices are not
in use. On days with hot weather, we allow employees to not wear
ties and full suits in order to reduce air-conditioner usage. The Group
has established the “Regulations on the Use of Air Conditioning in
Office” ((MAZEEHAFEAEBEEME)), whereby the energy-saving
air-conditioner can be turned on when the temperature reaches or
exceeds 29 degrees Celsius. The air conditioner temperature should
not be adjusted to below 26 degrees Celsius.

In terms of the use of electronic devices and equipment, the Group
reduces energy consumption through putting computers into
automatic sleep/standby mode when idling, and completely turning
off electronic devices during non-working hours. When installing
equipment, multiple servers are concentrated into a single higher-
capacity server, in order to reduce energy consumption and free up
more office space.
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6.2

6.3

The Group conducts monthly electricity statistics to monitor electricity
usage. Within the Reporting Period, the Group's total electricity
consumption was 26,412.74 MWh, with a per capita electricity
consumption intensity of 0.48 MWh. The electricity consumption
intensity sightly increased' compared to last year. Our energy
saving plan is underway. We will make effort to reduce electricity
consumption and continue saving energy as targeted.

Water Saving

Water consumption is one of our focused areas. The Group has taken
a series of measures to save water, improve water use efficiency, and
reduce water waste.

Firstly, we conserve water resources from the source. The Group has
installed water taps and toilets with water-saving labels, as well as
dual-flush toilets. In terms of water resource management, any leaking
water taps will be repaired immediately, and the water pressure of
taps will be lowered to the lowest feasible level. Wash water and
sewage are recycled for cleaning and irrigation purposes.

We pay attention to enhancing the water-saving awareness of
employees and students. Water-saving slogans are posted in
washrooms across campuses to remind staff and students to turn off
taps tightly, thereby improving their water-saving awareness.

During the Reporting Period, the total water consumption of the
Group was 1,556,781.51 tonnes and the water consumption intensity
was 28.21 tonnes per capita. The water consumption intensity
decreased compared to last year due to the effectiveness on water
conservation through the foregoing measures. Our tap water comes
from qualified tap water suppliers in Guangzhou, and we did not have
any issue in sourcing water that is fit for purpose.

Paper Conservation

The Group is committed to promoting paperless campuses and offices
to reduce paper waste and enhance the paper-saving awareness
of teachers and students. We have formulated the Paperless Office
Management Measures (L AERHE)).

We control paper consumption by pasting reminders next to
photocopiers/printers, reminding staff to use double-sided copying or
reusable paper, and to utilize electronic communication technologies
to reduce paper usage as much as possible. An electronic office
system (OA System) is used to replace paper-based administrative
systems in offices.

The reasons for a slight increase: The main reason is that after some dormitories and
offices on campus underwent upgrade and renovation works, there was an increase in
air conditioning usage which led to higher electricity consumption.
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We purchase printing paper, tissues and toilet paper containing
recycled materials. Recycling bins are used to collect paper materials
such as wastepaper, posters, letters and envelopes. Teachers and
students are encouraged to reuse blank pages of wastepaper.
We conduct regular paper quantity statistics to monitor paper
consumption and make appropriate improvements.

During the Reporting Period, the total paper consumption of the
Group was 2,055.26 kg, and the intensity of paper used was 37.24 g
per capita. The paper consumption intensity decreased compared to
last year, which is due to the effectiveness on conservation through
the foregoing measures.

Waste Disposal

The Group strives to reduce waste disposal and recycle or reuse
resources as much as possible. The main types of waste generated
in our daily operations include office paper, fluorescent tubes, toner
cartridges, ink cartridges and other domestic waste. The Group
insists on reducing the use of single-use and non-recyclable products,
such as using rechargeable carbon powder cartridges/ink cartridges,
replacing single-use batteries with rechargeable batteries, and reusing
envelopes, binders, file folders and other stationery items. We have
developed internal management measures and actively implement
waste treatment and disposal.

On campuses, we use garbage sorting bins or other applicable devices
to recycle wastepaper, metals and plastics. Dedicated collection bins
are also provided for waste batteries. At the same time, the Group
regularly evaluates material usage to avoid excessive inventory and
reduce waste.

During the Reporting Period, the Group generated a total of 240.00
tonnes of non-hazardous waste, and the non-hazardous waste
generation intensity was 4.35 kg per capita. The non-hazardous waste
generation intensity decreased compared to last year, which is due to
the effectiveness on recycling and saving measures. We also recycled
142.00 tonnes of non-hazardous waste. For hazardous waste, we had
generated a total of 210.00 kg during the Reporting Period.

Emission Management

To echo with the “National Climate Change Adaptation Strategy
2035"” and the "1+N" policy for carbon peak and carbon neutrality
jointly issued by 17 departments including the Ministry of Ecology and
Environment and the National Development and Reform Commission
in 2022, we manage greenhouse gas emissions and promote
mitigation of climate change.
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Mg RERHE

In accordance with the “Greenhouse Gas Protocol” issued by
the World Resources Institute and the World Business Council
on Sustainable Development and the "ISO14064-1" set by the
International Organisation for Standardisation, the Group carried out
greenhouse gas emission inspections. A summary of the greenhouse
gas ("GHG") emissions during the Reporting Period is as follows:

1R 45 tt 5 R A 95 By 82t SR AT 4
BERINBESHMHNCAER
B2 82 &5 35 F = ) (Greenhouse Gas
Protocol) & Bl B (L A0 85 7T & /Y
[1S014064-1] « AREE#ETT TIRE
FEBEMRE - REHRERNAER
BERENT

Greenhouse gas emissions and removals” 2023 2022
BERBIERRER 20234 20224
Direct greenhouse gas emissions (Scope 1) tonne of CO.e 1,145.65 1,131.81
BHEORERBEHR(EE) AP AR E S
Greenhouse gas removals (Scope 1) tonne of CO,e 104.40 92.62
BERERG(S8E) AR LiRES
Indirect greenhouse gas emissions (Scope 2) tonne of COse 15,055.26 15,290.39
MERERE R (EE2) A LIRES
Total greenhouse gas emissions (Scope 1 and 2) tonne of CO.e 16,096.52 16,329.58
RERBYRESE(HBE1R2) AP AR E S
Greenhouse gas emission intensity* (Scope 1 and 2) tonne of CO,e/capita 0.29 0.33

REREP R E (BE1K2) R —ELREE

A There may be a slight discrepancy between the sum of individual items and
the total as shown in the table owing to rounding.

* Calculated based on the number of employees and students as of August 31,
2023.

Scope 1 Direct greenhouse gas emissions from sources owned and controlled by the
Group.

Scope 2 Indirect greenhouse gas emissions from electricity generation, heating and
cooling, or steam purchased by the Group.

During the Reporting Period, the total GHG emissions of the Group
was 16,096.52 tonnes of CO,e and the GHG emissions intensity was
0.29 tonne of CO,e per capita. The GHG emissions intensity decreased
compared to last year due to the effectiveness and awareness on GHG
emissions management through the following measures.

The Group manages vehicle use, emissions, employee commuting
and business travel. The Group conducts regular maintenance of the
vehicle fleet to avoid using more fuel and emitting more pollutants
due to low efficiency. We encourage employees to take public
transportation. During the Reporting Period, our fleet's emissions of
nitrogen oxides, sulphur oxides and particulate matters were 376.69
kg, 1.37 kg and 36.09 kg respectively.

Tackling Climate Change

The Group understands the risks and importance related to climate
change. We have identified and addressed material climate-related
issues that have impacted or may impact the company as well as
relevant mitigation policies and response actions. At the same time,
we have adjusted the use of resources and energy. To address
disasters and accidents more easily triggered by extreme weather,
we enhance disaster response capabilities. In the face of potential
risks brought by climate change, we are committed to continuously
improving our climate resilience.
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Acute Physical Risk

The Group acknowledges that extreme weather events such
as typhoons, heavy rain, and floods pose acute risks. Potential
consequences include damage to documents, equipment, and
buildings, campus water and power outages, as well as disruptions
to the teaching schedule. These potential consequences can result
in significant economic losses for the Group and increase operating
costs.

The Group has formulated different measures based on different
campuses and emergency situations to minimize the negative impacts
of extreme weather as much as possible. We have formulated
emergency plans for contingencies, especially typhoon control. If
any safety hazards are found, reports will be immediately submitted,
teachers and students will be promptly evacuated to safe areas.

Chronic Physical Risk

The Group recognizes that longer-term shifts in climate patterns, such
as sustained higher temperatures, can pose chronic risks. Potential
consequences include an increased likelihood of heatstroke among
employees working outdoors, higher turnover rates, and work-related
injuries. Prolonged high temperatures lead to increased electricity
consumption, thereby affecting operational costs and increasing
energy consumption on campus. The hot working environment can
also impact employee productivity.

The Group focuses on optimizing the efficiency of ventilation and
air conditioning systems to reduce power consumption during
temperature increases. We also enhance employee awareness of heat-
related illnesses and establish emergency prevention and control
measures.

Policy and Regulatory Risk

The Group acknowledges that failure to comply with national and
industry standards for carbon neutrality and non-compliance with
reporting and disclosure requirements pose policy and regulatory risks.
Potential consequences include potential loss of student enrolment,
thereby impacting profitability, as well as increased compliance costs
and financial implications.

The Group addresses these risks through a series of measures. This
includes staying informed about the latest laws and regulations related
to climate change and integrating them into management strategies
to minimize compliance risks.

SR R
AEBERR - FH KSR
mMAREMHEHREERR < BT
?é%”%if-‘r . é“%%ﬂ@%%%:‘

C REEKIEE - A RHETE
EPIEJT o ié‘tt/@%_tfé%—l EEBURE
ERZEALBEIBRRIGMEERK
K o

AEBMBETRRERESBER
ETAREE - B ER D RiRR
R[ERNEETE - FAGIE TR
BEMRERIRBREIZESER -
—BERERLTEBE LA E®R &
R AR AR R 2 -

18 1Y 2 L B
AEERBIRBREANRHE
b BlansE=R - g mRiE
R - BENERRBEEPIT
EME T2 ATAEME N - B
KEFURTHBES - %Tﬁé%/ﬂé
EHREREM - RMTEL ﬁJZ
A WIEHRE R BEIRBRE ©

B TR Q?&E,\IE’JIVEAI

FEBITERBRMER RS
ME L/{/JEU%/mﬂmﬁqu’\J%ﬁ/ﬁ
FE o TFIBINGEE THSRAMK
REEH - LHE T ESMEE
It °

JB?%E'EEE‘”EH’%

AR BRI E ST B F AT A
PMEEAR N ETREMBPER
REHERBERMEE R - BED
BRREFBESETMARTE TR
ez BANEN - ARIEMAER
FRAFNE IR & 72

o

REBEB—RZIEREHEELR
B o it B 4 BB R I AR B SRR B (L AR
MHSIERER  THEAAE
IREEE - LWRAREHBRES R
B e

FEBEREERER DA 117
2023 FERE



-

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE g MERWE

118

6.7

Reputation Risk

Stakeholders are demanding businesses to raise their standards
in addressing climate action. The Group recognizes that failure to
effectively respond to such demands can have an impact on corporate
reputation. Potential consequences include indirect effects on school
enrolment rates, and potential financial implications such as reduced
operating income and available funds.

The Group has publicly disclosed GHG emissions data and efforts in
low-carbon operations in our ESG report. The Group has implemented
policies to address climate change, provide more training for students
and teachers, and continuously promote energy conservation and

emission reduction efforts.

Sustainability Target Plan

The Group has established preliminary environmental targets during
the Reporting Period. We have set targets in energy efficiency, water
efficiency, waste reduction, and greenhouse gas emissions to promote
energy and water conservation, waste reduction, and greenhouse
gas emission reduction. We adhere to these objectives and review
our progress annually. In the future, we will develop more specific
quantifiable environmental goals to foster environmental preservation
and the conservation of natural resources.

Environmental aspects
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6.7

Targets
BE

Energy Conservation

AfigE

Water Conservation

ghK

Waste Reduction

The Group will actively implement the electricity-saving plan and measures to maintain or
reduce the intensity of electricity consumption.
REEGBERZEHEEREE - NEFSIRDPRERE -

The Group will actively implement the water-saving plan and measures to maintain or
reduce the intensity of water consumption.

FEE BB ZEE K BIMEE - UESIRDBKERE -

The Group will actively implement the material-saving plan and measures to maintain or
reduce the intensity of waste production.

ARSI EEM B BINEE - MERIRDBERMELEE

The Group will actively implement the electricity-saving plan and measures to maintain or
reduce the intensity of GHG emissions.
REEBBEGEEHBTEMEE - LERSRDREREBHEREE -
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CARING FOR THE COMMUNITY

The Group places significant emphasis on corporate social responsibility and
considers the well-being and sustainability of society as a fundamental pillar
of its growth. We focus on assisting those in disadvantaged situations and
contribute to societal progress by endorsing and promoting charity projects.
For example, we have organised rural volunteer teaching aiming to provide
educational support and resources to students in remote or underserved
areas.

During the Reporting Period, we have invested RMB70,000 and donated
more than RMB60,000 in various community activities. The Group will
persist in backing charitable initiatives and community services. Furthermore,
we have promoted staff engagement in volunteer work to foster a
comprehensive sense of social responsibility among employees.

Voluntary Blood Donations

As a socially responsible education group, we are always committed to
actively participating in community welfare activities. We organized many
volunteer activities as well as blood donation activities during the Reporting
Period. In October 2022, Huali Technician College organized a two-day
blood donation activity. Through our blood donation program, we provide a
convenient and safe channel for all teachers and students to donate blood.
Our activities do not only help to meet the demand for blood in medical
facilities, but also raise awareness and participation in blood donation
among staffs and students.

Rural Education

In July 2023, the students of Huali College went to Heyuan City to carry
out a week-long volunteer teaching service. The team members tutored
children with their homework, holding reading clubs, and teaching them
paper-cutting and painting, which have enriched rural children’s lives, and
contributed to rural education.
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APPENDIX I: SUSTAINABILITY DATA SUMMARY

By s — :

IREARRUERE

2023 2022
Environmental BiE Unit By 20234 20224
Air pollutant emissions* ZERIS R
Nitrogen oxides (NO,) REUL(NO,) kg T 376.69 358.40
Sulphur oxides (SO,) HEm(so,) kg T 1.37 1.28
Particulate matter (PM) FERLY)(PM) kg T 36.09 34.34
Greenhouse gas emissions BEREHBRRER"
and removals*?
Direct greenhouse gas emissions  EIE& = RAEEHEN tonne of COe RAME—HLFEE 1,145.65 1,131.81
(Scope 1) (&E1)
Greenhouse gas removals A= R tonne of COe AM—SLIRES 104.40 92.62
(Scope 1) (&E1)
Indirect greenhouse gas MR E RPN tonne of COe RAME—ALTREE 15,055.26 15,290.39
emissions (Scope 2) (&8E2)
Total greenhouse gas emissions RERBEHNEE tonne of COe AWM —SLIRES 16,096.52 16,329.58
(Scope 1 and 2) (#BE1K%2)
Greenhouse gas emission BEREYREE tonne of COe/ A& LIEE A 0.29 0.33
intensity* (Scope 1 and 2) (#E1%2) capita
Energy consumption HREIRFEA
Natural gas consumption RARFERE m? 3K 60,563.74 65,202.64*
Natural gas consumption intensity* KARFEAZE* m?/capita SFHKS A 1.10 1.32
Gasoline consumption HEAE litre DT 86,428.12 81,419.04
Gasoline consumption intensity AREARE litre/employee  2AF BT 35.32 38.21
Diesel consumption miERE litre A 10,380.00 5,384.06
Diesel consumption intensity mERTE litre/employee  2AF /BT 4.24 2.53
Purchased electricity consumption SMEE HFERAE MWh JKFLEF 26,412.74 19,013.17
Purchased electricity consumption  SMNEE HFERZE MWh/capita JKEEF A 0.48 0.39
intensity*
Water consumption KRFE A
Total water consumption BIEKE tonne N 1,556,781.51 1,546,493.35
Water consumption intensity* KRB E* tonne/capita NI PN 28.21 31.39
Paper consumption HRFEH
Total paper consumption Rups kg Fr 2,055.26 2,066.00
Paper consumption intensity* RR=E* g/capita EVON 37.24 41.94
Waste generation and recycling EEYEL RO
Non-hazardous waste generation — EZEFEEYELE tonne NI 240.00 264.00
Non-hazardous waste generation — EEEZYELZE* kg/capita Fr/A 4.35 5.36
intensity*
Non-hazardous waste recycling EEREYERIKE tonne NI 142.00 158.00
Hazardous waste generation BEEEREVELES kg T 210.00 0
Hazardous waste generation BEREEYEERE kg/capita Fr/A 0.0038 0
intensity*
+ We refer to “How to Prepare an ESG Report — Appendix Il: Reporting Guidance on + RM2EHMIMINAREERE LS REBR

120

Environmental KPIs” from the Stock Exchange to calculate our Group’s air pollutant emissions

and greenhouse gas emissions.

There may be a slight discrepancy between the sum of individual items and the total as shown A

in the table owing to rounding.

Calculated based on the number of employees and students as of August 31, 2023
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«Riﬁb : i MEA #& =
2023 2022
Social e Unit B 20234 20224
Total number of employees BIHEE person A 2,447 2,131
Total number of employees BIHAZEMERNES)
(by gender)
Female kg person A 1,311 1,072
Male 5 person A 1,136 1,059
Total number of employees BI#A(RFRANES)
(by age group)
Below 30 305 AR person A 862 621
Aged 30-50 30-507%% person A 924 826
Above 50 505% A £ person A 661 684
Total number of employees BTHAE
(by employment type) (RERERES)
Short-term contract/Part-time RHARTI #BET person A 165 163
employees
Junior employees HRET person A 2,123 1,843
Middle management FARERE person A 131 102
Senior management BRERE person A 28 23
Total number of employees BIA(ZRHEESD)
(by region)
Guangdong Province BERE person A 2,447 2,131
Total turnover rate of BI@RKLR percent AL 12.42 11.54
employees?
Turnover rate (by gender)? AE(RMER B S )2
Female L8 percent Epalsd 11.06 11.85
Male 3 percent Aok 13.99 11.24
Turnover rate (by age group)? FAR(RFRARIES)?
Below 30 305RA T percent b2 11.93 15.46
Aged 30-50 30-50%% percent ALt 12.83 12.95
Above 50 505 A percent Aot 12.50 6.29
Turnover rate (by region)? MAE(RHEE S )?
Guangdong Province BRAE percent BOk 12.42 11.54
Percentage of employees FHETHMBEETAD® percent Botk 89.66 78.23
trained to total number of
employees?
Percentage of employees ZIBEIESHL
trained (by gender)* (BRI &2 )4
Female 8 percent balsd 91.92 83.30
Male 5 percent Bt 87.06 73.09
2 Number of (specific category) turnover employees / total number of (specific category) 2 MABTABEERER) ETBABEELSER)
employees x 100% x100%
3 Number of trained employees / total number of employees x 100% 5 RHIETAEBITHAE X 100%
4 Number of specific category trained employees / total number of specific category employees x 8 BFERAZIBE A HEHRE TH AR X

100%

100%

TEBEREERERAF
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2023 2022
Social HE Unit B 20234 20224
Percentage of employees ZIHIETHALL(REREE
trained (by employment A 5)
type)*
Short-term contract/Part-time RHARTI 3%BB8T  percent Bt N/A N/A
employees il A T3
Junior employees PR/ET percent Antt 96.28 76.67
Middle management PRERE percent B 94.66 100.00
Senior management BRERE percent BAL 92.86 86.96
Average training hours per BEE T FIEIRE
employee (by gender)® (RERIB 2 )5
Average training hours per female &&% 8 TFHIFINEFE hours /)N 62.09 60.02
employee
Average training hours per male ~ &% %58 TFHEIIREE hours N 52.84 55.92
employee
Average training hours per BEEBIFIGEIRE
employee (by employment (RERERES)S
type)®
Short-term contract/Part-time REIARTLI FHBET hours aNs N/A N/A
employees il A T A
Junior employees MR/ET hours /N 58.42 57.33
Middle management FREREE hours NS 50.08 76.54
Senior management SREEE hours NEF 69.30 26.60
Occupational health and safety B¥R@ERZ2
Number of work-related fatalities 20234 LT AL no. of people  A%X 0 /
in 2023
Number of work-related fatalities 2022F FE T3 1= A£X no. of people Ak 0 0
in 2022
Number of work-related fatalities 20214 FE LT A no. of people A% 0 0
in 2021
Lost working days due to work ATHBEITIIEEE days A 0 0
injury
5 Total training hours of specific category employees / total number of specific category g BEERI B TAEIIRE e ENE THAR

employees
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B8 —
E3]

(ESGHREES)HAR

Relevant Sections
rHEEE

A. Environmental Area

A RIBEE
A1: Emissions

1 BB

General
Disclosure

—RRIE

AT

Al
A1.2

A1.2
A1.3

A1.3
Al4

Al.4
A1.5

A1.5

A1.6

A1.6

Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance with relevant laws
and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating

to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land,

and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

BRAERMBERBEENR - FKRITHEDS - AEREEREMHNES
FH @K ROETHETABEAZENEMERERIINE

# o

The types of emissions and respective emissions data.

PR R AR B BUR -

Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas
emissions in total and intensity.

HiE(BE) REERHEE (BE)RERBEIRERTE -

Total hazardous waste produced and intensity.

MELBEEENRENRTE -

Total non-hazardous waste produced and intensity.

MELABZHRENRERTE -

Description of emissions target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.

HAPRET S BERE B IR R ARERE L B RATIRIM 28 -

Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled,
and a description of reduction target(s) set and steps taken to
achieve them.

R ERIR A E R EEEEYNIE - RHEAPTRISIAYRRE B 1R M AESR
B R BRERRE T -

6. Establishing a Greener
Campus

6. HEEERE

APPENDIX I: SUSTAINABILITY
DATA SUMMARY

Mg — - FIREERBERR

APPENDIX I: SUSTAINABILITY
DATA SUMMARY

fisg— : FIRERRBERE

APPENDIX I: SUSTAINABILITY
DATA SUMMARY

Mg — - AREERBERR

APPENDIX I: SUSTAINABILITY
DATA SUMMARY

fisg— : FIRERRBERE

6.5 Emission Management

6.7 Sustainability Target

Plan
6.5 PEEE
6.7 FIFEER B 25 S

6.4 Waste Disposal

6.7 Sustainability Target
Plan

6.4 BEEVEE

6.7 AIFEERR B IR E
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Index content

Relevant Sections

EERE HEEH
A2: Use of General Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and 6. Establishing a Greener
Resources Disclosure other raw materials. Campus
A2 BIRER —RIEE BEREAER(BIERR  KEEMBRME)BBER - 6. Rt enE
A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. electricity, gas, APPENDIX I: SUSTAINABILITY
or oil) in total and intensity. DATA SUMMARY
A2.1 RERESMEERSEEER(NE - RICHLEREREE - fisg— : FIRERRBERE
A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity. APPENDIX |: SUSTAINABILITY
DATA SUMMARY
A2.2 BEKENEE - Mg — - B RBERE
A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to 6.1 Energy Saving
achieve them. 6.7 Sustainability Target
Plan
A2.3 FMFTET L RERE AR B R R RERE L B IR ERRE T8 - 6.1 figE
6.7 AIFF AR B IR S
A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit 6.2 Water Saving
for purpose, water efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve 6.7 Sustainability Target
them. Plan
A2.4 FCSKEGEAAOR E R BEMAEE - UARFATCOAKREBEERAE 6.2 fiK
BE L B RPAERENE) P8R o 6.7 AR AR B IR E
A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products and with reference Not applicable to the
to per unit produced. business of the Group
A2.5 HXMABEMHNEERSEESULSE - REENEBEA
A3: The General Policies on minimizing the issuer’s significant impact on the 6. Establishing a Greener
Environment Disclosure environment and natural resources. Campus
and Natural —f&# % MEBETABBRIERRABERERERZBOBE 6. R ERE
Resources A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment 6. Establishing a Greener
A3 BIF KA and natural resources and the actions taken to manage them. Campus
BR A3.1 HREBEDEHRRRRAERNEAZERERDNEEEBRTENT 6. HEKERE
& o
A4: Climate General Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-related 6.6 Tackling Climate
Change Disclosure issues which have impacted, and those which may impact, the Change
A4 : BixEL issuer.
— AR R BRI MEHEANIREHETAELTYENEARGHEBEENEE - 6.6 BHRRE(
A4 Descrlptlon of the significant climate-related issues which have 6.6 Tackling Climate
impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer, and the actions Change
taken to manage them.
A4.1 BB ARAGEEHETAEEZENERRGHEBEE - RIELHTE - 6.6 BERKE(L
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B 2 B

To the Shareholders of China Vocational Education Holdings Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

e
pwc

OPINION

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of China Vocational Education Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which are set out on
pages 138 to 236, comprise:

o the consolidated balance sheet as at August 31, 2023;

o the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year then
ended;

o the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and

o the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include significant

accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at August 31, 2023, and
of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon,

B N2 BEm R S

FRENSEE

MRETFEERERMNEZRAE - BRY
AHEHYBHRERNEITRAEENTA ° &
LEERARMENFBEBAFYHERRREA
ERRETRIEN - M TS HELERREH

and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:

o Revenue recognition of tuition and boarding fees

3 Assessment of control over the Consolidated Affiliated Entities through o

Contractual Arrangements

Key Audit Matter
BRENSEE

BERENER -

HfIER PR R R ER AT

. BERTEENRAER

BBAORHHGA AEBEEREE
SR

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BMMEF O EEREENSE

Revenue recognition of tuition and boarding fees

BENTHEENBARR

Refer to notes 2.21 and 5 to the consolidated financial
statements.

2B AP RERNE2.21K5

Revenue mainly comprised tuition and boarding fees
from students, amounting to RMB1,083 million for the
year ended August 31, 2023. These fees are generally
received in advance prior to the beginning of each
academic year and are recognized proportionately over
each academic year.

WATEBRBENBERTHEE - 81520234831
HIFFERARKI083EET - FHEMABENESRF
FIaRITEW - NEB2FRLPIER o

We focused on revenue recognition due to its
magnitude and the large volume of transactions, such
that we have incurred significant time and resources in
carrying out our work in this area.
HREHEEAARFGEXR @ AMFEIRWARER
EEETZARTIERIRARERBER -

ES)l:d

In response to this key audit matter, we have performed the following
procedures:

SYZBREAER - BT T UATER

We understood, evaluated and tested the key controls over the revenue
recognition of tuition and boarding fees.

BATE - FHERARBERTEERAERNERES

We checked on a sample basis the student names, academic subjects and
student grades in the student records of the relevant universities to the
official student records registered with relevant education authorities and
reconciled the total number of enrolled students in the current academic
year from the student records of the relevant universities to the official
student records registered with the relevant education authorities of the
People’s Republic of China.
HMBEBREFEARKNBEEBEAENITIECHE HEERHMEHEBAZ
BATFINBELE  BRRBEFH  WHHERBEER R REF
B R A BRI A HPIE N E B E R TR -

We checked the tuition and boarding fees on a sample basis to student
enrolment forms, student payment records and program price shown on
the enrolment guide.
HFBRBEEBEABRRIRE BEXNEHELRBEERAMRREERBESR
ERTEE -
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B 2 B

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
HREETEE BN ETFNAEERRETSEH

We recalculated tuition and boarding fees based on student names,

academic subjects, student grades, program price shown on the enrolment

guides.
HMRB2ELE B8 BEFER  BEEEMTARERENTEEE
REEE -

We checked on a sample basis the existence of the students by interviewing
students and agreed the student information in relevant official student
records including the student names, their personal identity card numbers,
student identification numbers and academic subjects to the student’s
identity card and student cards provided by the students.
BHMBBESNBERBEEE A SECHETNEEER(BIEEEHE - HA
MR - BEBRTRERBELRHNBESFNERBERRE - BT
BERDIFE °

Based on the procedures performed, we found the Group’s tuition and
boarding fees tested were supported by available evidence.

REMFERNLZR - HAER - RN ESRERERTEEAREIS °
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Key Audit Matter
HREETEE

Independent Auditor’s Report
8\ 7 BUE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BB O EERRENSE

Assessment of control over the Consolidated
Affiliated Entities through Contractual
Arrangements

BBENREHGES A RAEEMERENTMG

Refer to 2.2.1(a) and 4.1(a) to the consolidated
financial statements regarding the accounting policy,
critical judgement and related disclosure note of the
control over the Consolidated Affiliated Entities through
Contractual Arrangements.
*ﬁﬁﬁ@#ﬁ”ﬁ - BRGR HIET R R
EE RN AEREN T

22.1(a)k4.1(@) °

BRRGEH S AR
FLHAHUBREZ

In response to this key audit matter, we have performed the following
procedures:

STEZREFR - HMRTTATER

We discussed with management to understand the latest regulatory
development and whether there were any changes in facts and
circumstances which might have an impact on the Contractual
Arrangements;

HMEEBEET TR TREMNEEERRALREEASTEMNBERLR
BE  ARGHANTHEATE

We obtained the written opinion from the Company’s PRC external legal
counsel and discussed with them to understand their analysis and views
as to the validity and enforceability of the Contractual Arrangements with
respect to all relevant PRC laws and regulations officially promulgated,
publicly available and publicly known, and evaluated whether these
evidences support the relevant judgements made by the Company with the
assistance of our internal legal expert;
HMESREEARTBRIINDEZRANERER - WERTDERERNH
BT MR EHEITAW  ATRRERE EXEM - ARAIEGRRARA
%DE’\JFﬁﬁ*HEﬁEPli@;ﬁ%ﬁﬂ’—\%’U;z%ikﬁ?ﬂl’\ﬁ&ﬂ%ﬂﬁ’\‘é&ﬂ’ﬂ’ﬁ?rﬁ&%\/z " A
RZEBRE R FE QB PTIEAE
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Key Audit Matter
HREETEE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BB O EERRENSE

A substantial portion of the Group’s business is
conducted through the Consolidated Affiliated
Entities in the PRC due to the regulatory requirements
that restrict foreign ownership in higher education
service industry in the PRC. The Group does not
have any direct legal ownership of equity interest
in the Consolidated Affiliated Entities. Nonetheless,
through the establishment and implementation of
a series of contractual agreements (“Contractual
Arrangements”), the Group has rights to exercise
power over the Consolidated Affiliated Entities,
has exposure, or rights to variable returns from its
involvement with the Consolidated Affiliated Entities,
and has ability to affect those returns through its
power over the Consolidated Affiliated Entities. The
directors of the Company concluded that the Group
has control over the Consolidated Affiliated Entities,
consequently, the Company regards the Consolidated
Affiliated Entities as controlled structure entities under
HKFRSs and consolidates the Consolidated Affiliated
Entities in the consolidated financial statements of the
Group.

AR EHESEHE RBITERINTEENEETRS -
E5EBRBAGRAE A ANRBETERNPBRETAILDHE
%o BEEUHEE A ARBEERNRARSY NETERE
BETEMARE - @EWNL - BB ZANERE—FRIEL
BE(ENRH])  EEERRERS ARAEELRT
B 7 - 2HGE AR EE S MR A] 2 0 e & b
FERRISAIZEH  UREERBANGEARBEE
BHENZEZZL®RNEN ERRESFHEESE
Hize ANRAEEREFIZESE - At - SERFRESE
B BRELENBEEARAEERRAIEEBILE
B WG ANREEERMNAESENS HMBHRE -
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We assessed the competency, capabilities and objectivity of the Company’s
PRC external legal counsel;

A T EARTEIMDERERNER - e RFEML

We evaluated Company’s assessment and judgements on the validity
and enforceability of the Contractual Arrangements and the assessment
of the Group’s control over Consolidated Affiliated Entities through the
Contractual Arrangements; and

HAFHE T ERAE AR AR M TIEEE RAE - AREEE
BBENREEERA ANRBET BIZESRENTME - &

We assessed the adequacy of related disclosures in the consolidated

financial statements.

HIEHE T AP B RERPIHEREN RO IE -

Based on the procedures performed, we found the judgements made by
Company to continue to control over the Consolidated Affiliated Entities
and therefore consolidate these entities in the consolidated financial
statements were supported by the evidence obtained.

ERERTHER - KMRARS  ERAMEHMEBZEHGEE ARBEETE Y
BUEHZEERE A S B IRROAE - HEBEAK -



Key Audit Matter
HREETEE
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

BB NAEERRETSZE

B N2 BEm R S

During the year ended August 31, 2023, the directors
reassessed, with the involvement of an external legal
counsel appointed by the Company, whether there
were any changes in facts and circumstances that
may impact the validity and enforceability of the
Contractual Arrangements. Based on the results of
the assessment, it was concluded that the Contractual
Arrangements among the Group's wholly-owned
entities, the Consolidated Affiliated Entities and their
equity shareholders continue to be in compliance
with all relevant PRC laws and regulations officially
promulgated, publicly available and publicly known,
and are legally enforceable.
BZE2023F8A31HIEFE - EERFIMEFII AR
BEHENHST  EFEFTAESEFENBRLERE
B OARSHEATHENERMEMAMTEEESE -
ERTEER EZNTEEEAREEE  GEa AR
HAEBERBRERBEFSAAZHTINGHNZHNFEEE
IEXMEM - AR RIS KR AR A P A DA
BIER - WRIEORRIT °

Accordingly, the directors are of the view that
Company continues to control over the Consolidated
Affiliated Entities and therefore consolidate the
Consolidated Affiliated Entities in the consolidated
financial statements of the Group as at and for the
year ended August 31, 2023.

Bt - EFRR  BERAREBERVGAEANRHERRS -
AmasRa A “% SEREIMAESREN2023F8 A
3B RBEZBIEFENAHIMBRE

We focus on this area due to the complexity, high level
of judgements involved in determining the validity and
enforceability of the Contractual Arrangements in order
to evaluate whether it is appropriate for the Company
to consolidate the Consolidated Affiliated Entities under
HKFRSs, which could have significant and pervasive
implications to the consolidated financial statements.

HRENZEAREMAATENEEEH - BF RS
KR HIE - E R M ERATEZEE - UHEERF

ﬂﬁ%%%ﬁﬁiﬁW%”AA%%LE%émiﬂm
BIRE @ ErARHEHUBRREEEAAERNTE -
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all of the information included in the annual report other
than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other

information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We

have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible
for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting

process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the

basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgment

and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

3 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional

omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

3 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group'’s
internal control.

3 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the
directors.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B 2 B

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to express
an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the

planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any

significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied

with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate

with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought

to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate

threats or safeguards applied.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the

public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is Au Chi Ho.

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, November 27, 2023
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

AR A Wam &
FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2023
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)
HZE2023F8A31HILEE
(BRZEIEHI - BB 2 BUNRERT)

Year ended August 31,

HZESA3MALLEE
2023 2022
20234 20224
Note RMB’000 RMB’'000
s AR¥TR ARBFT
Revenue WA 5 1,083,304 907,762
Cost of sales SHE KA 8 (458,700) (425,611)
Gross profit EX 624,604 482,151
Selling expenses HER X 8 (17,287) (19,919)
Administrative expenses TR 8 (148,995) (115,200)
Other income Eqth i A 6 37,427 35,929
Other gains — net Hb e 558 7 267 1,077
Operating profit e FE 496,016 384,038
Finance income R TN 5,701 6,050
Finance expenses M5 (103,495) (111,144)
Finance expenses — net WISH TR 10 (97,794) (105,094)
Profit before income tax PS8 a0 R E 398,222 278,944
Income tax expenses FIS B 11 (5,175) (19,160)
Profit for the year FRRE 393,047 259,784
Other comprehensive income Hitima s
Item that will not be reclassified REETGEHHHE2 B E
subsequently to profit or loss A
Revaluation gains arising from transfer of property, E#¥% « BRE M & FELEMERE
plant and equipment and corresponding right-of-  {£ A EE AR EYET
use assets to investment properties, net of tax EEEHKE (B MR) - 534
Other comprehensive income for the year, net F£REMES W (SHH)
of tax - 534
Total comprehensive income for the year FRGFEWNEEE 393,047 260,318
Total comprehensive income attributable to: AT ALTEGGERZHAE :
— Owners of the Company S VNCIE ZS DN 393,047 260,318
Earnings per share for profit attributable to AAREE AR ENER
owners of the Company BR(AERARYETRT)
(expressed in RMB per share)
Basic and diluted E-AYNE: 12 0.328 0.216

The above consolidated statements of comprehensive income should be read in il & BrHAR A U e 7% 1B 52 (R 8 PR A BT = — 6F BE

conjunction with the accompanying notes. & o
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

BHFEERER

AS AT AUGUST 31, 2023

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

72023F8H31H

(b= HEHI  TEEEAARERT)

As at August 31,

H8H31H
2023 2022
20234 20224
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
L AR¥TR ARETTT
ASSETS EE
Non-current assets FREBEE
Right-of-use assets FREAE 14 1,353,545 1,394,089
Property, plant and equipment M - BE REE 15 4,639,893 4,152,634
Investment properties REME 16 183,670 183,570
Intangible assets EmEE 17 13,475 19,416
Deferred income tax assets BEMGHEE 29 140 120
Prepayments TEfTFRIE 19 60,012 67,865
6,250,735 5,817,694
Current assets REBEE
Prepayments TETFRIE 19 6,598 5,856
Trade and other receivables B 5 & H e W RIE 20 18,956 28,712
Amounts due from related parties JE W R 75 I8 33 10,428 10,999
Restricted cash ZREIRD 21 2,423 1,443
Cash and cash equivalents RERBFEEEY 22 985,499 803,845
1,023,904 850,855
Total assets HEE 7,274,639 6,668,549
EQUITY e
Share capital and share premium AR K B 17 s 1B 23 603,188 603,188
Statutory surplus reserves TETE BRI 24 134,256 128,817
Other reserves H A f# 24 415,605 339,060
Retained earnings REBEF 24 2,213,158 1,825,550
Total equity R 3,366,207 2,896,615
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

SHEEREBER

AS AT AUGUST 31, 2023

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

R2023F8H31H

(b= HIEHI » TEEEAARERT)

As at August 31,

A8H31H
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5E ARBTT AREBT T
LIABILITIES =L
Non-current liabilities FREBEE
Borrowings AR 28 2,053,735 2,169,701
Lease liabilities HEBE 14 2,942 -
Accruals and other payables FEETE A R H A0 FE 5RIE 26 46,374 183,496
Amounts due to related parties JE 15 BA S 75 I8 26 35,627 -
Deferred income tax liabilities BEEFSHRAE 29 49,032 47,290
2,187,710 2,400,487
Current liabilities REEE
Accruals and other payables FEETE A R H e 518 26 421,552 314,619
Amounts due to related parties P& R EE 5 5RIE 26 28,082 60,648
Contract liabilities aHaE 27 858,828 689,157
Current income tax liabilities EHFEHAE 19,656 20,066
Borrowings & 28 392,043 279,718
Lease liabilities HEAE 14 278 =
Deferred revenue IEFEWA 283 7,239
1,720,722 1,371,447
Total liabilities BmasE 3,908,432 3,771,934
Total equity and liabilities BERAEHE 7,274,639 6,668,549

Bl & AR E B E R R E R RE M I o — 615

accompanying notes. B °

The above consolidated balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the

The consolidated financial statements on pages 138 to 236 were approved by the F138E236EMEHUBRIEBESTIN
2023F 11 A27AESKKREEFSEE -

Board of Directors on November 27, 2023 and were signed on its behalf.

Zhang Zhifeng Ye Yaming
iR g A
Director Director
BFE EF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
AHERBDR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2023

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)
B ZE2023F8A31HILEE

(BRZEIEHI - BB BUNRERT)

Attributable to owners of the Company

KDTHRE LB
Statutory
Share Share surplus Other Retained
capital premium reserves reserves earnings Total
B RDVEE EERHBREE HitvfiE REEF @it
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETR AR®Tr ARETT ARETn ARETx
(Note 23) (Note 23) (Note 24(a)) (Note 24(b))
(HE23) (HHsE23)  (KiE24(a))  (BsE24(b)
For the year ended August 31, 2023 B £2023F8A31H L
FE
As at September 1, 2022 7A2022F9H1H 820 602,368 128,817 339,060 1,825,550 2,896,615
Profit and total comprehensive income FRFBERGEE WA
for the year -Gl
Profit for the year FAF - - - - 393,047 393,047
Total comprehensive income for the year FRGEEWEHAE - - - - 393,047 393,047
Dividends (Note 13) B& B (Bi5E13) - - - - - -
Appropriation to statutory reserves ER AT R - - 46,607 - (46,607) -
Utilization of school development funds FRERERES - - (41,168) - 41,168 -
Deemed contribution from the owner of the BRIERARHEE ALE
Company (Note 24(b)iii)) (FzE24(b)(ii)) - - - 76,545 - 76,545
As at August 31, 2023 202348 H31H 820 602,368 134,256 415,605 2,213,158 3,366,207
For the year ended August 31, 2022 #HZ202268H31H 1
FE
As at September 1, 2021 A2021F9H1H 820 651,476 125,568 338,526 1,569,015 2,685,405
Comprehensive income AW
Profit for the year FRAHE - - - - 259,784 259,784
Other comprehensive income HibirE W=
Revaluation gains of investment properties FEMEE R - - - 534 - 534
Total comprehensive income for the year FERGFENZEAEE = = = 534 259,784 260,318
Dividends (Note 13) P& 2 (FEE13) - (49,108) - - - (49,108)
Appropriation to statutory reserves ER AT R - - 28,272 - (28,272) =
Utilization of school development funds FRERERES - - (25,023) - 25,023 -
As at August 31, 2022 7A2022%68H31H 820 602,368 128,817 339,060 1,825,550 2,896,615

The above consolidated statements of changes in equity should be read in

conjunction with the accompanying notes.

bt & 4 2 B B 5K B 3 (D BB P O BfY 5 — G B

= °
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
EHREMER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2023

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

HE2023F8A31HILFE
(A BEAI B ZBEAAREZRT)

Year ended August 31,

HZESA3MAILLFE
2023 2022
2023F 20224
Note RMB’000 RMB’'000
B s ARBTT ARBFT
Cash flows from operating activities RETHNRELSRE
Cash generated from operations KRS S 30 794,014 633,417
Interest paid BRFLE (93,263) (109,279)
Income tax paid BERETSE (3,863) (16,682)
Net cash generated from operating activities LRSI S F 5 696,888 507,456
Cash flows from investing activities REZTHNESRE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment, BEMXE  BELRRE - £H
right-of-use assets and intangible assets EEEHELEE (570,100) (605,437)
Disposal of investment of financial assets at HE RN RE SRR AR R
amortized cost BEMIRE - 6,450
Repayment of cash advances from/(payment of B (EEIR B (MREE
cash advances to) a related party AN ) - 4,958
Interest income received from financial assets at B R B IRE R AN AR £
amortized cost BEE 2 F S WA - 218
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and HEMZE - BB RREURE
equipment and intangible assets A ER TS RIE 675 47
Net cash used in investing activities K& EEMTAR ST (569,425) (593,764)
Cash flows from financing activities RETHNRERE
Proceeds from bank borrowings RITIE R PNERIE 30(a) 245,954 381,639
Repayments of bank borrowings EBIRITER 30(a) (242,450) (354,467)
Proceeds from other borrowings due to a FEAT BB 75 B B A (R RV FR 1S
related party KIE 30(a) 71,000 123,000
Repayments of other borrowings due to a (B2 FE 5T RS 7 O E M 8 5K
related party 30(a) (20,000) (30,000)
Principal elements of lease payments HENFHERL D (168) =
Dividends paid BEARRE - (110,555)
Net cash generated from financing activities BB EESIR S FE 54,336 9,617
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents HERBRSEEYWILMNTFE 181,799 (76,691)
Exchange losses on cash and cash equivalents Re kR EEYHE N EE (145) (216)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year F#R & KRESEEY 803,845 880,752
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year SFXREBEERBELZEY 985,499 803,845

The above consolidated statements of cash flows should be read in conjunction LS OFIR £ 7 = 7% FE 2 (R BE MY &0 B 5 — OF B3

2

with the accompanying notes. A e
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B 5 Rk MY R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2023

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

GENERAL INFORMATION

China Vocational Education Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on May 24, 2016 as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Act (as revised) of the
Cayman lIslands. The address of the Company’s registered office is P.O.
Box 309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman, KY1-1104, the Cayman Islands.
The Company is an investment holding company. The Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) are principally engaged
in providing private tertiary education services, including tuition services
and student accommodation services in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC").

The ultimate holding company of the Company is HL-Diamond Limited
("HL-Diamond”). The directors of the Company (”Directors”) consider the
ultimate controlling party to be Mr. Zhang Zhifeng, who is also an executive
director and the chairman of the Board of the Company (the “Owner").

The Company’s shares have been listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) since November
25, 2019.

The outbreak of the 2019 Novel Coronavirus (the “COVID-19") had
brought unprecedented challenges and added uncertainties to the economy.
COVID-19 may affect the financial performance and position of the industry
of education. Since the outbreak of COVID-19, the Group kept continuous
attention on the situation of the COVID-19 and reacted actively to its
impact on the financial position and operating results of the Group. As at
the date that these consolidated financial statements are authorized for
issue, COVID-19 does not have any material adverse impact on the financial

position and operating result of the Group.

These consolidated financial statements have been approved for issue by the
Board of Directors on November 27, 2023.

HE2023F8A31HILFE
(A BEAI  FTEZBEAAREZRTR)

—RER
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B ERSESTMKLAEREFR
AaE] o AR A WP E R A R P.O.
Box 309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman,
KY1-1104, the Cayman lIslands ° ZNA &
RBIREERAFR - KRB REHE QA
(iEl AEE )R P EARLFE( F
BDOETEEBARERBSSHER
% BEAZRBREBEEERS o

NN A &R AR HE AR A & AHL-Diamond
Limited ([HL-Diamond |) - " ARl E =
(BEFEDRA  BRERARREEE
£ BNARNARNRTEERESSE
FE(HEEALD -

ARATRME B2019511 A25B N E
BHARZAHAER AR ([BRA])ERE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A4 ALY
B PF B 1% o= M 5
FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2023
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)
HZE2023F8A31HILEE
(BRZEIEHI - BB 2 BUNRERT)

144

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

This note provides a list of the significant accounting policies adopted in the

preparation of these consolidated financial statements. These policies have

been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

The consolidated financial statements are for the Group consisting of the

Company and its subsidiaries.

2.1 Basis of preparation

(i)

Going concern assumption

As at August 31, 2023, the Group’s current liabilities
exceeded its current assets by RMB696,818,000. The Group's
total borrowings as at August 31, 2023 amounted to
RMB2,445,778,000 which included RMB392,043,000 that was
repayable within the coming twelve months (included in current
liabilities). The Group also had significant capital commitment in
relation to construction of property, plant and equipment out of
which RMB72,927,000 was expected to be incurred within the

coming twelve months.

In view of such circumstances, the Directors of the Company
have given careful consideration of the future liquidity and
operating performance of the Group and its available source of
financing in assessing whether the Group will have sufficient
financial resources to continue as a going concern. The

following plans and measures have been implemented:

- Subsequent to the year end date, to optimise the debt
structure and lower the financing cost, the Group
obtained two new ten-year bank loan facilities of
totalling RMB610,000,000 from a bank. As of the date
of the report, the Group had drawn down new loan of
RMB610,000,000 from the new bank facilities to replace
its existing borrowings.

China Vocational Education Holdings Limited
2023 Annual Report

TEETBREE

A IR AR B L B A O R 15 R I BR AR
MEIZEAHKFE - RERREHME
2HIFNERER - ZEEABRI ©
BHUBHRRSEEAR R REME AR
MR AEE -

2.1 REEE

(i)

M202348H31H » "&EH
mEBBEBLERSEEA
R #696,818,0007C ° A&
B R202348 A31 HMAEE
;A ANR2,445,778,000
T HARBEERKRK
+-EAREENARE
392,043,000 7t( 5 A 8
BE) NEENAEAHE
EWE BELRSHBHNE
RKEREE  Hp AR
72,927,000 7T 78 A #5 1A AR 2R
+—EARESE -

ERARER ARRES
EREAREEREEE XM
BEeURHBRERESEZ
BARBENARRARHES R
RERBUAKLERET AN
MELER - AATEE
AT T8I R 556

- RE#R% BEL
EREREREERE
KA - ARBER—K
WITHISMEN O+
FHERTEREES
H# AR #¥610,000,000
Lo BHEARARE R
H - AEEBEHRIR
TEERIGNERA
K #610,000,0007T *
ABEREREER



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A (3 = 3
& Of B %5 R 2= Bt 7%
FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2023
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont‘d)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Cont’d)

(i)

(i)

(iii)

Going concern assumption (Cont‘d))

- As at August 31, 2023, the Group has unutilised long-
term bank facilities of approximately RMB455,613,000
for its capital expenditure and an unutilised long-term
bank facility of RMB30,000,000 for its working capital.
The Group maintains regular communication with its
banks and the Directors are confident that the Group is
able to comply with the bank covenants of its existing
bank facilities and such bank facilities will continue to be
available to the Group.

The Directors are of the opinion that, taking into account the
Group's available internal financial resources, the Group's
expected net cash inflows from its operating activities and the
availability of the Group’s bank facilities, the Group will have
sufficient financial resources to fulfil its financial obligations
as and when they fall due in the coming twelve months from
August 31, 2023. Accordingly, these consolidated financial
statements have been prepared on a going concern basis.

Compliance with HKFRSs and HKCO

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) and requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance ("HKCO") Cap. 622.

Historical cost convention

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a
historical cost basis as modified by the revaluation of investment
properties which are carried at fair value.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A (3 = 3

& Of B %5 R 2= Bt &%

FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2023

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

HE2023F8A31HILFE
(A BEAI B ZBEAAREZRT)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2
POLICIES (Cont‘d)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Cont’d)
(iv) New and amended standards adopted by the

Group
(@) New and amended standards adopted by the
Group:

The Group has applied the following amendments or
annual improvements for the first time for their annual
reporting period commencing September 1, 2022:

TEETHERBE(H)

2.1 REEE ()

(iv) ZEBFRAHH TR

AR1EFTER
(a) AEEERABIFT
FIRASIEETER -
ANEBEE 2022469
A1ERBRNEERS
HIE B R ERATE

RIS R BUE

Amendment to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment — Proceeds before Intended Use
BB GETERIZE 165 M - R KR E— B BE R TS 508

(BETA)
Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract
R G ERIZE375 BEAHN-—BIT—HEaHNZEA

(ERTA)
Annual Improvements Annual Improvements to HKFRS Standards 2018-2020 (Amendments)
FEM#E BB A %ERI20185F £20205F K F [ B (85T A)
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework

ERUBREENFEIRUERIA) BSERES

Accounting Guideline 5 (revised) Merger Accounting for Common Control Combinations

BT 1E 5 B55 (KIERT) HRAZEGITE A HEA
HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction
BB GETAERIZE125% HE - HEANEERAEEBNIEENIR

The Group has elected to early adopt HKAS 12 that will
be effective for accounting periods beginning on or after
January 1, 2023.

The amendments listed above did not have any impact
on the amounts recognised in prior periods and are not
expected to significantly affect the current or future
periods.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

N/ ALY
B OF B 1% o= M 5
FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2023
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)
B ZE2023F8A31HILEE
(BRZEIEHI - BB BUNRERT)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2
POLICIES (Cont‘d)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Cont’d) 2.1
(iv) New and amended standards adopted by the

Group (Cont‘d)

(b) Certain new accounting standards, (b)
amendments to accounting standards and
interpretations have been published that are
not mandatory for the year ended August 31,
2023 and have not been early adopted by the
Group:

TEETHERBE(H)

mRERE (F)
(iv) XEEFRALIFET R
AEIZETER ()

& T ERMmHIFT
2iTER - B
A ERIEET AR
EBEAREE
2023%F8H31H
LEF R HIER
Ao At A EE
I R e P IR A I
FFER - 2ET
AR FE

Effective for accounting

periods beginning on
or after

LA B HAgk 2 12
ey &t BRI A

Insurance contracts and the Related
Amendments

HKFRS 17 and amendments to HKFRS 17

January 1, 2023

EAMBMSEANE I TRE
BB WS ERIE1 75 (15T )

Amendments to HKAS 8
BAGFEAESI(EFTR)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

BB ENF 1R BB ERE
ERIEHHREFE 25 (BRI A)

Amendments to HKAS 12

BB EFERFE 1257 (BRI A)

Amendment to HKAS 1

EEGFEIFE 1R UERTA)

Amendmgnt to HKAS 16
BB g ERE 165 (BRI A)

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7

R EAETRE
ERPBIELRET75E(BRIA)

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (Revised)

BB RBEST(KIERT)

HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (Amendments)

BBP B MEERNFE109% K
R ERFE285E (BRI A)

RERE A RAERERT A

Definition of Accounting Estimates
GathAtEERE

Disclosure of Accounting Policies
SETBURTRER

International Tax Reform — Pillar Two
Model Rules (amendments)*

BIBRFRAS NS — 55 — A AR Al
(BRTAN)*

Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current and Non-current Liabilities
with Covenantg

BESEARBSIERE K H2EAIE
7= (=
//ILEJE\LE\

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback
ERENRSTHEEEE

Supplier Finance Arrangements
(amendments)

HERRE LT (ERTA)

Presentation of Financial Statements —
Classification by the Borrower of a
Term Loan that Contains a Repayment
on Demand Clause

23 BmR —ERA AR ERERER
RN EHRERN IR

Sale or Contribution of assets between
an investor and its associate or joint
venture

KEERABENANEERECHANE
ELEXHE

2023F1A1H
January 1, 2023

2023F1H18
January 1, 2023

2023%F1H1H

January 1, 2023

20231 H1H

January 1, 2024

20241 /18
January 1, 2024

2024F1H1H
January 1, 2024

20241818

January 1, 2024

202451 A1 H

To be determined

fFE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A4 ALY
B PF B 1% o= M 5
FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2023
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)
HZE2023F8A31HILEE
(BRZEIEHI - BB 2 BUNRERT)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESHBEBEE)
POLICIES (Cont’d)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Cont’d) 2.1 REEE ()

(iv) XEEFRALIFET R
AEIZETER ()

(iv) New and amended standards adopted by the
Group (Cont“d)

(b) Certain new accounting standards, (b) HTFEBMGHIZT
amendments to accounting standards and 2E2ER &
interpretations have been published that are FHERIEET R K
not mandatory for the year ended August 31, REEARER
2023 and have not been early adopted by the 2023%F8H31H
Group: (Cont’d) L JZ 5% HlIFR

A B AR EE
[ef R FERERAAUE

The Group has already commenced an assessment of the
impact of these new or revised standards, amendments
and interpretations. According to the preliminary
assessment made by the Group, these standards,
amendments or interpretations are not expected to have
a material impact on the Group in the current or future
reporting periods and on foreseeable future transactions.

FHER -~ 25T
AR 2FE ()

7 g B B B 44 3T 1 3%
ST ET 2R
Al BT AR RER
ME - RESEELE
WO T AE - RS
EA - BITAKRE
A A RS HIR B

REHEHRH AL
DS ERIE RN P R
RHTEERERT
@,

2.2 Subsidiaries
2.2.1 Consolidation
Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over

2.2 MIBAE
221 AN
W B A B 5% Ak = IR 4

which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity —VER(REEETE) -

when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns MAEEAERNZEIEE
from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect RGO - BERE
those returns through its power over the entity. Subsidiaries are NiEBEEE2ENTEZ

fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred ZEHR - AAER S ZER
EEEGIE - WEA R BE
HEEARNEE 2 BEE2E
Fa Ak - BiRIEEHIZ B
REUHAR A AR ©

to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that
control ceases.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

N/ ALY
B OF B 1% o= M 5
FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2023
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)
B ZE2023F8A31HILEE
(BRZEIEHI - BB BUNRERT)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont‘d)

2.2 Subsidiaries (Cont’d)
2.2.1 Consolidation (Cont’d)

(a)

Subsidiaries controlled through contractual
arrangements

The wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
Guangdong Huali Shengda Business Service Limited
(“Huali Shengda”, formerly known as Xizang Huali
Shengda Information Technology Limited), entered into
the contractual arrangements with the Guangzhou Huali
College (“Huali College”), Guangzhou Huali Science
and Technology Vocational College (“Huali Vocational
College”) and Guangdong Province Huali Technician
College (“Huali Technician College”),(collectively the
“PRC Operating Entities”), and the legal owner of the
PRC Operating Entities, on March 23, 2017 and entered
into supplemental contractual agreements on August
30, 2018 (collectively referred to as the Contractual
Arrangements), which enable Huali Shengda and the
Group to:

- exercise effective control over the PRC Operating
Entities and Huali Investment;

2 FESHHRUBERA)

2.2 B E(E)
221 AR (4E)

(a)

BBE KL

eI B /8 2 &l
KRR ZENE R A
[ R 2 S B K B 5 BR
BHR AR &L
K| AUFE POl EE S B
A ERHEBR AR
BN 2 B ([ &
YBR]) - BMEL
RIS #Ex
BESR)RERE
EVRMBR([EYL
BAi 2R ) (FiEl F
BEEER)) LT
B & 38 F B8 YA E BT
B AR201743F23
Bl AXHTH - I
201848 H30H &1
ST AE A (STE
BRITHE)  RENR
ARAEEHT :

- HTEEEE
BRETRE

17 62 B 22
7
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A (3 = 3
& Of B %5 R 2= Bt &%

FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2023

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

BZE2023F8HA31HLEFE

(BE=BIEHI) - TBEEEAARERT)

2

150

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont‘d)

2.2 Subsidiaries (Cont’d)

2.2.1 Consolidation (Cont’d)
(@) Subsidiaries controlled through contractual

arrangements (Cont’d)

receive substantially all of the economic interest
returns generated by the PRC Operating Entities and
Huali Investment in consideration for the corporate
management and educational services, as well as
technical and business support services provided by
Huali Shengda. Such services include development,
design, upgrade and ordinary maintenance on
educational software and website; design on college
course and major; compilation and selection and/
or recommendation on college course materials;
recruitment and training supporting on teachers
and other employees; admission and enrolment
supporting services; public relation services; market
research and development services; management
and marketing consulting and related services; and
other additional services as the parties may mutually

agree from time to time;

China Vocational Education Holdings Limited

2023 Annual Report

2

TEETHERBE(H)

22 MEAT(E)

221 AR (4E)
(a) BBEEKVZTHE
#IBH B 2 B]

(%)

EIE VA N
a2 g e
R E R
T B X
AR 7 Ug B
R

ETREMRB
PN <7
N CIE
REBEHE
B R A48 uh 8y
% &5

TR B R 4
#  REPARER
BREE  fmE
R/ SRR AR
BREHM  H
Bh 5 B 0 35 3l
B & H A B
8 BEARR
BI(F: RHH
RERFS : ST
RS B
R RPN
RARRTS ¢ RATAY
B ARETE
R 5 € M E
At BT AN BR 75



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A (3 = 3
& Of B %5 R 2= Bt 7%

FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2023
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

HE2023F8A31HILFE
(A BEAI  FTEZBEAAREZRTR)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FEETHEREBEE)
POLICIES (Cont’d)
2.2 Subsidiaries (Cont’d) 2.2 MBATE(4E)
2.2.1 Consolidation (Cont‘d) 22.1 ZREAR(#E)
(a) Subsidiaries controlled through contractual (a) BBEHLHIE

arrangements (Cont’d) Ha KB 2 Al
(%)
obtain an irrevocable and exclusive right to — ESTAEH

purchase all equity interests in the PRC Operating
Entities and Huali Investment from the respective
equity holders at nil consideration or a minimum
purchase price permitted under PRC laws and
regulations. Huali Shengda may exercise such
options at any time until it has acquired all equity
interests in and/or all assets of the PRC Operating
Entities and Huali Investment permitted under
PRC laws and regulations. In addition, the PRC
Operating Entities and Huali Investment are not
allowed to sell, transfer, or dispose any assets,
or make any distributions to their equity holders
without prior consent of Huali Shengda; and

obtain a pledge over the entire equity interest of
the PRC Operating Entities and Huali Investment
from their equity holders to secure performance
of the obligations of the PRC Operating Entities
and Huali Investment under the Contractual
Arrangements.

B R &R
RAZ R BDX 2
R 5 8 3 A
REBEER
EEERERHA
ABERHE
EERBNEY
BENZ K
B o FEIBEK
AR B BDA
BIEBRBERT
150 % FE R -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A (3 = 3
& Of B %5 R 2= Bt &%

FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2023

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

BZE2023F8HA31HLEFE

(BE=BIEHI) - TBEEEAARERT)

2

152

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont‘d)

2.2 Subsidiaries (Cont’d)

2.2.1 Consolidation (Cont’d)
(@) Subsidiaries controlled through contractual

arrangements (Cont’d)

The Group does not have any equity interest in
the PRC Operating Entities and Huali Investment.
However, as a result of the Contractual
Arrangements, the Group has rights to variable
returns from its involvement with the PRC Operating
Entities and Huali Investment and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over
the PRC Operating Entities and Huali Investment,
and is considered to control the PRC Operating
Entities and Huali Investment. Consequently, the
Company regards the PRC Operating Entities and
Huali Investment as the indirect subsidiaries under
HKFRSs. The Group has included the financial
position and results of the PRC Operating Entities
and Huali Investment in the consolidated financial
statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

N/ ALY
B OF B 1% o= M 5
FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2023
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)
B ZE2023F8A31HILEE
(BRZEIEHI - BB BUNRERT)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont‘d)

2.2 Subsidiaries (Cont’d)
2.2.1 Consolidation (Cont’d)

(a)

Subsidiaries controlled through contractual
arrangements (Cont’d)

Nevertheless, the Contractual Arrangements may not
be as effective as direct legal ownership in providing
the Group with direct control over the PRC Operating
Entities and Huali Investment, due to the uncertainties
presented by the PRC legal system to impede the Group's
beneficiary rights of the results, assets and liabilities
of the PRC Operating Entities and Huali Investment.
The Directors, based on the advice of its legal counsel,
consider that the Contractual Arrangements among the
PRC Operating Entities and Huali Investment and their
equity shareholders are in compliance with the relevant
PRC laws and regulations and are legally enforceable.

2 FESHHRUBERA)

2.2 B E(E)
221 AR (4E)

(a)

BBE KL

llioy =N
(%)

A AR AT RE
TR AS £ [ 3 B
BERBRKEVRER
FEEEHRNERE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A4 ALY
B PF B 1% o= M 5
FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2023
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)
HZE2023F8A31HILEE
(BRZEIEHI - BB 2 BUNRERT)

2

154

SUMMARY

OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Cont‘d)

2.2 Subsidiaries (Cont’d)
2.2.1 Consolidation (Cont’d)

(b)

Business combination

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for
business combinations. The consideration transferred for
the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the
assets transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former
owner of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by
the Group. The consideration transferred includes the fair
value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent
consideration arrangement. Identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a
business combination are measured initially at their fair
values at the acquisition date.

The Group recognizes any non-controlling interest in
the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis. Non-
controlling interests in the acquiree that are present
ownership interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of the entity’s net assets in the event
of liquidation are measured at either fair value or the
present ownership interests’ proportionate share in the
recognized amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. All other components of non-controlling interests
are measured at their acquisition date fair value, unless
another measurement basis is required by HKFRSs.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

N/ ALY
B OF B 1% o= M 5
FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2023
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)
B ZE2023F8A31HILEE
(BRZEIEHI - BB BUNRERT)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont‘d)

2.2 Subsidiaries (Cont’d)
2.2.1 Consolidation (Cont’d)

(b)

Business combination (Cont’d)

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s previously
held equity interest in the acquiree is re-measured to fair
value at the acquisition date; any gains or losses arising
from such re-measurement are recognized in profit or
loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
Group is recognized at fair value at the acquisition date.
Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent
consideration that is deemed to be an asset or liability is
recognized in accordance with HKAS 39 in profit or loss.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured, and its subsequent settlement is accounted
for within equity.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount
of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the
acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest
in the acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable
net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the total
of consideration transferred, non-controlling interest
recognized and previously held interest measured is less
than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary
acquired in the case of a bargain purchase, the difference
is recognized directly in the consolidated statements of

comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A4 ALY
B PF B 1% o= M 5
FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2023
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)
HZE2023F8A31HILEE
(BRZEIEHI - BB 2 BUNRERT)

2

156

SUMMARY

OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Cont‘d)

2.2 Subsidiaries (Cont’d)
2.2.1 Consolidation (Cont’d)

(b)

(c)

Business combination (Cont’d)

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealized
gains on transactions between group companies are
eliminated. Unrealized losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of
the transferred asset. When necessary, amounts reported
by subsidiaries have been adjusted to conform with the
Group’s accounting policies.

Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries
without change of control

Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not
result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions — that is, as transactions with the owners of
the subsidiary in their capacity as owners. The difference
between fair value of any consideration paid and the
relevant share acquired of the carrying amount of net
assets of the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or
losses on disposals to non-controlling interests are also
recorded in equity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

N/ ALY
B OF B 1% o= M 5
FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2023
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)
B ZE2023F8A31HILEE
(BRZEIEHI - BB BUNRERT)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont‘d)

2.2 Subsidiaries (Cont’d)
2.2.1 Consolidation (Cont’d)

(d)

Disposal of subsidiaries

When the Group ceases to have control, any retained
interest in the entity is re-measured to its fair value at
the date when control is lost, with the change in carrying
amount recognized in profit or loss. The fair value is the
initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently
accounting for the retained interest as an associate,
joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts
previously recognized in other comprehensive income in
respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Group
had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
It means the amounts previously recognized in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss
or transferred to another category of equity as specified/
permitted by applicable HKFRSs.

2.2.2 Separate financial statements
Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less

impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of

investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the

Company on the basis of dividend received and receivable.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A4 ALY
B PF B 1% o= M 5
FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2023
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)
HZE2023F8A31HILEE
(BRZEIEHI - BB 2 BUNRERT)

2

158

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont‘d)

2.2 Subsidiaries (Cont’d)

2.2.2 Separate financial statements (Cont‘d)

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is required
upon receiving a dividend from these investments if the dividend
exceeds the total comprehensive income of the subsidiary in
the period the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of
the investment in the separate financial statements exceeds the
carrying amount in the consolidated financial statements of the
investee’s net assets including goodwill.

2.3 Segment reporting
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the

24

internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker

("CODM"). The CODM, who is responsible for allocating resources

and assessing performance of the operating segments, has been

identified as the executive directors that makes strategic decisions.

Foreign currency translation

(a)

Functional and presentation currency

Iltems included in the financial statements of each of the
entities within the Group are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (the “functional currency”). Since the majority of
the assets and operations of the Group are located in the PRC,
the consolidated financial statements are presented in RMB,
which is the Company’s functional currency and the Group's

presentation currency.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont‘d)

2.4 Foreign currency translation (Cont’d)

(b)

Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional
currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the

transactions or valuation where items are re-measured.

Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement
of such transactions and from the translation at year-end
exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are recognized in the consolidated statements

of comprehensive income.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings
are presented in the consolidated statements of comprehensive
income within ‘finance expenses — net’. All other foreign
exchange gains and losses are presented in the consolidated

statements of comprehensive income within ‘other gains — net’.

2.5 Property, plant and equipment

All property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less

depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly

attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or

recognized as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is

probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will

flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognized. All other

repairs and maintenance are charged to the consolidated statements

of comprehensive income during the financial year in which they are

incurred.

fEF 75 ¥R AR BT o

FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2023
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont‘d)

2.5 Property, plant and equipment (Cont’d)

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is calculated using
the straight-line method to allocate their costs, net of their residual
values, over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Buildings 40-50 years
Vehicles 5-10 years
Electronic equipment 5-10 years
Furniture and fixtures 5-20 years
Interior decoration 3-5 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted
if appropriate, at the end of each reporting year.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its
estimated recoverable amount (Note 2.8).

Gains or losses on disposals are determined by comparing the
proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognized within ‘other
gains — net’ in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income.

Construction in progress represents buildings, electronic equipment,
furniture and fixtures and interior decoration under construction and
is stated at cost less impairment losses. Historical expenditure that is
directly attributable to the construction comprises construction costs,
the cost of plant and machineries and applicable borrowing costs
incurred during the construction year. No provision for depreciation
is made on construction in progress until such time as the relevant
assets are completed and ready for intended use. When the assets
concerned are brought into use, the costs are transferred to relevant
categories of property, plant and equipment and depreciated in
accordance with the policy as stated above.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESHBEBEE)
POLICIES (Cont’d)
2.6 Investment property 2.6 REWHE

Investment property, principally comprising leasehold land and
buildings, is held for long-term rental yields or for capital appreciation
or both, and that is not occupied by the Group. It also includes
properties that are being constructed or developed for future use
as investment properties. Land held under operating leases are
accounted for as investment properties when the rest of the definition
of an investment property is met. In such cases, the operating leases
concerned are accounted for as if they were finance leases. Investment
property is initially measured at cost, including related transaction
costs and where applicable borrowing costs. After initial recognition,
investment properties are carried at fair value, representing open
market value determined at each reporting date by external valuers.
Fair value is based on active market prices, adjusted, if necessary,
for any difference in the nature, location or condition of the specific
asset. If the information is not available, the Group uses alternative
valuation methods such as recent prices on less active markets or
discounted cash flow projections. Changes in fair values are recorded
in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income as part of a
revaluation gain or loss in ‘other gains — net’.

When an owner-occupied property becomes an investment property
carried at fair value, the Group applies HKAS 16 up to the date of
change in use. The Group treats any difference at that date between
the carrying amount of the property in and its fair value in as a
revaluation in accordance with HKAS 16. In other words, any resulting
increase in the carrying amount is treated as follows:

(i) to the extent that the increase reverses a previous impairment
loss for that property, the increase is recognised in the
consolidated income statement.

(i) any remaining part of the increase is recognised in other
comprehensive income and increases the revaluation surplus
within equity.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont‘d)

2.7

2.8

2.9

Intangible assets

Intangible assets represent the computer software. Computer software
is stated at cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated
impairment losses. Cost represents consideration paid for the rights
to use the computer software for 5 years. Amortization of computer
software is calculated on the straight-line method over 5 years.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that are subject to amortization are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is
recognized for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher
of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the
purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest
levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-
generating units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that
suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the
impairment at each reporting date.

Financial assets

2.9.1 Classification
The Group classifies its financial assets in the following
measurement categories:

o those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either
through other comprehensive income, or through profit
or loss), and

o those to be measured at amortized cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business model for
managing the financial assets and the contractual terms of the
cash flows.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESHBEBEE)
POLICIES (Cont’d)

2.9 Financial assets (Cont’d) 29 ERMEE(E)
2.9.1 Classification (Cont’d) 2.9.1 B3 (&)

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either
be recorded in profit or loss or other comprehensive income.
For investments in debt instruments, this will depend on the
business model in which the investment is held. For investments
in equity instruments, this will depend on whether the
Group has made an irrevocable election at the time of initial
recognition to account for the equity investment at fair value
through other comprehensive income.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when its
business model for managing those assets changes.

2.9.2 Recognition and measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at
its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair
value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction
costs of financial assets carried at fair value through profit or
loss are recorded in profit or loss.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the
Group's business model for managing the asset and the cash
flow characteristics of the asset. The Group classifies its debt

instruments into the following measurement category:

Amortized cost: Assets that are held for collection of contractual
cash flows where those cash flows represent solely payments of
principal and interest are measured at amortized cost. A gain
or loss on a debt investment that is subsequently measured
at amortized cost and is not part of a hedging relationship is
recognized in profit or loss when the asset is derecognized or
impaired. Interest income from these financial assets is included
in finance income using the effective interest method.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont‘d)

2.9 Financial assets (Cont’d)
2.9.2 Recognition and measurement (Cont‘d))
Debt instruments (Cont’a)
The Group held trade and other receivables, amounts due from
related parties and other financial assets at amortized cost
during the years ended August 31, 2023 and 2022.

2.10 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is
reported in the balance sheet when there is a legally enforceable right
to offset the recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on
a net basis or realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
The legally enforceable right must not be contingent on future events
and must be enforceable in the normal course of business and in the
event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the company or the
counterparty.

2.11 Impairment of financial assets carried at amortized
cost
The Group'’s significant financial assets, which are subject to the new
expected credit loss model, include trade and other receivables and
amounts due from related parties. The Group was required to revise
its impairment methodology under HKFRS 9 for each of these classes

of assets.

2.11.1 Trade receivables
The Group applies the simplified approach to providing for
expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9, which permits
the use of the lifetime expected loss provision for all trade
receivables and requires expected lifetime losses to be
recognized from initial recognition of the receivables. See Note
3.1(b) for details of the impairment policy of trade receivables.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2023

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont‘d)

2.11 Impairment of financial assets carried at amortized

cost (Cont’d)

2.11.2 Other receivables and amounts due from
related parties
For other receivables and amounts due from related parties,
management considers that its credit risk has not increased
significantly since initial recognition with reference to the
counterparty historical default rate and current financial
position. The impairment provision is determined based on the

12-month expected credit losses which is close to zero.

2.12 Contract assets and liabilities
Upon entering into a contract with a customer, the Group obtains
rights to receive consideration from the customer and assumes
performance obligations to transfer goods or services to the customer.
The combination of those rights and performance obligations gives
rise to a net asset or a net liability depending on the relationship
between the remaining rights and the performance obligations. The
contract is an asset and recognized as contract assets if the measure
of the remaining conditional rights to consideration exceeds the
satisfied performance obligations. Conversely, the contract is a liability
and recognized as contract liabilities if the measure of the remaining
performance obligations exceeds the measure of the remaining rights.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont‘d)

2.13 Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated cash flow statements, cash and cash equivalents
include cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks and other
financial institutions and short-term bank deposits with original
maturities of three months or less. Bank deposits which are restricted
to use are included in “restricted cash”. Restricted cash is excluded
from cash and cash equivalents where preparing in the consolidated
statement of cash flows.

2.14 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly
attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity
as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

2.15 Accruals and other payables

Accruals and other payables and amounts due to related parties are
classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less
(or within the normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If not,
they are presented as non-current liabilities.

Other payables and amounts due to related parties are recognized
initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost
using the effective interest method.

2.16 Borrowings

Borrowings are recognized initially at fair value, net of transaction
costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently carried at amortized cost;
any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and
the redemption value is recognized in the consolidated statements
of comprehensive income over the year of the borrowings using the
effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognized as
transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable that
some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee
is deferred until the draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no
evidence that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down, the fee is capitalized as a pre-payment for liquidity
services and amortized over the period of the facility to which it
relates.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESHBEBEE)
POLICIES (Cont’d)
2.16 Borrowings (Cont’d) 2.16 B (#&)

Borrowings are removed from the balance sheet when the obligation
specified in the contract is discharged, canceled or expired. The
difference between the carrying amount of a financial liability that
has been extinguished or transferred to another party and the
consideration paid, including any non-cash assets transferred or
liabilities assumed, is recognized in profit or loss as other income or
finance costs.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an
unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12
months after the end of the reporting year.

2.17 Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets,
until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended
use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted
from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalization.

All other borrowing costs are recognized in profit or loss in the year

in which they are incurred.

2.18 Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the year comprises current and deferred tax.
Tax is recognized in the consolidated statements of comprehensive
income, except to the extent that it relates to items recognized in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case the tax
is also recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
respectively.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont‘d)

2.18 Current and deferred income tax (Cont’d)
(a) Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of
the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance
sheet date in the countries where the Company and its
subsidiaries operate and generate taxable income. Management
periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect
to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to
interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate on
the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

(b) Deferred income tax
Inside basis differences

Deferred income tax is recognized, using the liability method, on
temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated
financial statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognized if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill,
the deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises from
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other
than a business combination that at the time of the transaction
affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred
income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet
date and are expected to apply when the related deferred
income tax asset is realized or the deferred income tax liability

is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognized only to the extent
that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilized.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognizes the right-of-use
assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first determines
whether the tax deductions are attributable to the right-of-use

assets or the lease liabilities.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESHBEBEE)
POLICIES (Cont’d)

2.18 Current and deferred income tax (Cont’d)
(b) Deferred income tax (Cont’d)

218 EHIRIELFRISH ()
(b) EEZFrZH (&)

Inside basis differences (Cont’a)

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12
Income Taxes requirements to right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities separately. The Group will recognize a deferred tax
asset (to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will
be available against which the deductible temporary difference
can be utilized) and a deferred tax liability for all deductible and
taxable temporary differences associated with the right-of-use
assets and the lease liabilities.

Outside basis differences

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided on taxable temporary
differences arising from investments in subsidiaries, associates
and joint arrangements, except for deferred income tax liability
where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is
controlled by the Group and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Generally,
the Group is unable to control the reversal of the temporary
difference for associates. Only when there is an agreement in
place that gives the Group the ability to control the reversal of
the temporary difference in the foreseeable future, deferred tax
liability in relation to taxable temporary differences arising from
the associate’s undistributed profits is not recognized.

Deferred income tax assets are recognized on deductible
temporary differences arising from investments in subsidiaries,
only to the extent that it is probable the temporary difference
will reverse in the future and there is sufficient taxable profit
available against which the temporary difference can be utilized.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont‘d)

2.18 Current and deferred income tax (Cont’d)
(c) Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes assets
and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either the taxable entity or different taxable
entities where there is an intention to settle the balances on a

net basis.

2.19 Employee benefits
(a) Pension obligations

The entities within the Group registered in the PRC make
employee benefit contributions base on certain percentage
of the salaries of the employees to a defined contribution
retirement benefit plan and medical benefit plan organized by
relevant government authorities in the PRC on a monthly basis.
The government authorities undertake to assume the retirement
benefit obligation payable to the existing and future retired
employees under these plans and the Group has no further
obligation for post-retirement benefits beyond the contributions
made. Contributions to these plans are expensed as incurred.
Assets of the plans are held and managed by government

authorities and are separate from those of the Group.

(b) Housing funds

The PRC employees of the Group are also entitled to participate
in various government-sponsored housing funds. The Group
contributes on a monthly basis to those funds based on a
certain percentage of the employee’s salaries. The Group’s
liabilities in respect of these funds is limited to the contributions
payable in each year. The non-PRC employees are not covered

by the housing funds.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESHBEBEE)
POLICIES (Cont’d)

2.19 Employee benefits (Cont’d) 219EREEF (&)

(c) Employee leave entitlements
Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognized when
they accrue to employees. A provision is made for the estimated
liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the balance sheet date. Employee entitlements
to sick leave and maternity leave are not recognized until the
time of leave.

2.20 Provisions

Provisions are recognized when: the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is probable that an
outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and the
amount has been reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognized for

future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that
an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by considering
the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognized even if
the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item included in

the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures
expected to be required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax rate
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision

due to passage of time is recognized as interest expense.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont‘d)

2.21 Revenue recognition

Revenue represents tuition fees and boarding fees from provision of
services by the universities of the Group.

Tuition and boarding fees are generally received in advance prior
to the beginning of each academic year and are initially recorded
as contract liabilities. Tuition and boarding fees are recognized
proportionately over the terms of the applicable program or the
beneficial period for the students, where applicable. The portion of
tuition and boarding payments received from students but not yet
earned is recorded as contract liabilities.

2.22 Government grant

Grants from the government are recognized at their fair value where
there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and the

Group will comply with all attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and recognized in
the consolidated statements of comprehensive income over the year
necessary to match them with the costs that they are intended to

compensate.

2.23 Leases

The Group as a lessee

Leases are recognized as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding
liability at the date at which the leased asset is available for use by
the Group.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease components. The
Group allocates the consideration in the contract to the lease and
non-lease components based on their relative stand-alone prices.
However, for leases of properties for which the Group is a lessee,
it has elected not to separate lease and non-lease components and
instead accounts for these as a single lease component.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a
present value basis. Lease liabilities include the net present value of
the following lease payments:

3 fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any
lease incentives receivable
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2023

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont‘d)

2.23 Leases (Cont’d)
The Group as a lessee (Cont“d)

variable lease payment that are based on an index or a
rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date

amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual
value guarantees

the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is

reasonably certain to exercise that option, and

payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising that option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension

options are also included in the measurement of the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in

the lease. If that rate cannot be readily determined, which is generally

the case for leases in the Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing

rate is used, being the rate that the individual lessee would have to

pay/to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value

to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment with
similar terms, security and conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group:

where possible, uses recent third-party financing received by the
individual lessee as a starting point, adjusted to reflect changes
in financing conditions since third party financing was received

uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-free interest rate
adjusted for credit risk for leases, which does not have recent
third-party financing, and

makes adjustments specific to the lease, eg term, country,
currency and security.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont‘d)

2.23 Leases (Cont'd)
The Group as a lessee (Cont“d)
If a readily observable amortising loan rate is available to the
individual lessee (through recent financing or market data) which has
a similar payment profile to the lease, then the Group use that rate as
a starting point to determine the incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance cost. The
finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease period so as to
produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance
of the liability for each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following:

o the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability

o any lease payments made at or before the commencement date
less any lease incentives received

3 any initial direct costs, and
o restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of the
asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis. If the
Group is reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option, the right-
of-use asset is depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful life.

Payments associated with short-term leases of all leases of low-value
assets are recognized on a straight-line basis as an expense in profit
or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months or
less without a purchase option. Low-value assets are mainly electronic
equipments.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESHBEBEE)
POLICIES (Cont’d)
2.23 Leases (Cont’d) 223/ E (&)

The Group as a lessor

Rental income from operating leases where the Group is a lessor is
recognized in income on a straight-line basis over the lease term (Note
6). Initial direct costs incurred in obtaining an operating lease are
added to the carrying amount of the underlying asset and recognized
as expense over the lease term on the same basis as rental income.
The respective leased assets are included in the balance sheet based
on their nature. The Group did not need to make any adjustments to
the accounting for assets held as lessor as a result of adopting the
new leasing standard.

2.24 Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is recognized
as a liability in the Group’s and the Company’s financial statements
in the period in which the dividends are approved by the Company’s
shareholders or directors, where appropriate.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1 Financial risk factors

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market
risk (including foreign exchange risk and cash flow and fair value
interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The overall risk
management program of the Group focuses on the unpredictability of
financial markets and seeks to minimize potential adverse effects on
financial performance of the Group.

(a) Market risk
(i)  Foreign exchange risk

The Group operates in the PRC with most transactions
being settled in RMB, which is the functional currency
of the Group’s companies. The Group has borrowings
denominated in HK$ amounting to RMB109,846,000 as
at August 31, 2023. The Group currently does not have a
foreign currency hedging policy, and manages its foreign
currency risk by closely monitoring the movement of the
foreign currency rates.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont’d) 3

3.1 Financial

risk factors (Cont’d)

(a) Market risk (Cont’d)

(i)

Foreign exchange risk (Conta)

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency

denominated monetary assets and liabilities at the

respective balance sheet dates are follows:

TRIEREE (&)
3.1 RiRAEEE)
(a) HEEEE(E)

(i) SMNERER(E)
REEER  KEH
LAONES S E M BB
EREEOERMED
T

Exposure to foreign currencies
(expressed in RMB’000)

S LB
(AARBTTRT)
As at August 31,
H8A31H
2023 2022
2023 20224
Monetary assets denominated in HK$ PUETTEHERN SR EE
— Cash and cash equivalents —HE RIEESZEEY 4,626 6,750
— Restricted cash —ZR4H S 2,084 1,443
6,710 8,193
Monetary assets denominated in US$ AETHENEEEE
— Cash and cash equivalents — e RBEEED 170 293
Monetary liabilities denominated in HK$ LB T EN S a G
— Borrowings —fE=% 109,846 118,514
Monetary liabilities denominated in US$ UETHENEEa G
— Others —H 5 216
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2023
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HZE2023F8HA31HLEFE

(B 5 HEHI) - BB EUARERT)
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont’d) 3 TREREEGE)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Cont’d) 3.1 2REBERE)
(a) Market risk (Cont‘d) (a) HEEEE(E)
(i)  Foreign exchange risk (Cont’d) (i)  SMNEREER (&)
The following table shows the sensitivity analysis of a 5% TRINRARE LA
change in RMB against the relevant foreign currencies. 8 SN 5 B) 5 % B B
The sensitivity analysis includes only foreign currency ERHT - BMREDH
denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation 12 B 48 A SNEE STHE R
at the year-end for a 5% change in foreign currency *bﬁgiﬁﬁ N
rates. If there is a 5% increase/(decrease) in RMB against fE R &8)5%ALH
the relevant currencies, the effect in the post-tax profit Eﬂiiﬁﬁ c AR
for the year is as follows: HEEEEAE (8
8) 5%  HFERHE
FMHEHZENT
As at August 31,
MH8HA31H
2023 2022
2023F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBFIT
5% increase in RMB against HK$ AR HATHES% 5,158 5,520
5% decrease in RMB against HK$ AR AT ES% (5,158) (5,520)
5% increase in RMB against US$ AR HETHESY% (8) (4)
5% decrease in RMB against US$ AR HFETHEES% 8 4
(i)  Cash flow and fair value interests rate risk (i) BE2uERiFE
T % [ B

The Group's interest rate risk arises from bank deposits
and borrowings. Borrowings obtained at floating rates
expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk which
is partially offset by cash at bank with floating interest
rates. Borrowings obtained at fixed rates expose the
Group to fair value interest rate risk.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2023

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

BZE2023F8HA31HLEFE
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont’d)

3.1 Financial

risk factors (Cont’d)

(a) Market risk (Cont’d)

(ii)

Cash flow and fair value interests rate risk
(Cont’d)

All of the Group’s borrowings bore interest at floating
2023 and 2022
while other borrowings due to a related party bore

rates during the years ended August 31,

interest at fixed rate during the year ended August 31,
2022 to
February 28, 2023 and then became interest-free since
March 1, 2023 pursuant to a series of agreements as
disclosed in Note 33(d).

2022 and during the period from September 1,

Bank deposits carried at prevailing market interest rate
expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. The
Group closely monitors trend of interest rate and its
impact on the Group’s interest rate risk exposure. The
Group currently has not used any interest rate swap
arrangements but will consider hedging interest rate risk
should the need arise.

As at August 31, 2023 and 2022, if the interest rates on
the borrowings had been 50 basis points higher/lower
than the prevailing rate announced by People’s Bank of
China, with all other variables held constant, interest
charges for the year would have been RMB10,150,000

and RMB10,097,000 higher/lower, respectively.

The Group monitors interest rate fluctuation to ensure
that exposure to interest rate risk is within an acceptable

level.
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EREREE(F)

3.1 RiRAEEE)
(b) EEEE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont‘d) 3

3.1 Financial risk factors (Cont’d)
(b) Credit risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk is the carrying
amounts of cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, trade
and other receivables and amounts due from related parties.

At August 31, 2023 and 2022, substantially all of the Group's
bank deposits were deposited with major financial institutions
incorporated in the Mainland of PRC, Hong Kong and Macao,
which management believes are of high credit quality without
significant credit risk.

The Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk.
The Group assessed the credit quality of the counter parties
by taking into account their financial position, credit history
and other factors. Management also regularly reviews the
recoverability of these receivables and follow up the disputes or
amounts overdue, if any. The Directors are of the opinion that
the risk of default by counter parties is low.

The Group considers the probability of default upon initial
recognition of asset and whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis throughout
each reporting period. It considers available reasonable and
supportive forwarding-looking information.

The general expected credit loss model is summarized below:

The financial instrument that is not credit-impaired on initial
recognition is classified in “Stage 1" and has its credit risk
continuously monitored by the Group. The expected credit loss
is measured on a 12-month basis.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont’d)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Cont’d)
(b) Credit risk (Cont’d)

If a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition is
identified, the financial instrument is moved to “Stage 2" but is
not yet deemed to be credit-impaired. The expected credit loss

is measured on lifetime basis.

If the financial instrument is credit-impaired, the financial
instrument is then moved to “Stage 3”. The expected credit loss

is measured on lifetime basis.

The Group applies the simplified approach to providing for
expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9, which permits
the use of the lifetime expected loss provision for all trade
receivables and requires expected lifetime losses to be
recognized from initial recognition of the receivables.

The Group assessed the loss allowance of trade receivables
based on an assessment of the expected credit losses to be
incurred, including an assessment of the historical collection
rate and forward looking adjustments when applicable.

The Directors are of the view that the industrial characteristics
factors with regard to trade receivables collections have been
taken into accounts in the assessment on the expected credit
loss rate throughout the years ended August 31, 2023 and
2022.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2023
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

HE2023F8A31HILFE
(A BEAI  FTEZBEAAREZRTR)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont’d) 3 TREREEGE)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Cont’d) 3.1 2REBERE)
(b) Credit risk (Cont‘d) (b) =E/EE(E)
The aging analysis of the trade receivables based on the ENE S W IERER & E
recognition and the loss allowance of trade receivables was BRENE 5 E W FIE R
determined as follows: AITEELT
At August 31,2023 Less than 1 year 1 to 2 years 2 to 3 years
7A2023%8H31H PR1E 1225 2ZE3F
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FR AR¥FTR AR¥TR
Expected loss rate AR R R R 1.6% 9.9% 100%
Gross carrying amount BREAE 6,515 1,689 39
At August 31,2022 Less than 1 year 1 to 2 years 2 to 3 years
1202268 A31H DR 1224 2E3F
RMB’'000 RMB’'000 RMB’'000
AREFT ARETIT ARETIT
Expected loss rate TEH B IR 2.1% 10.4% 100%
Gross carrying amount BREAE 11,645 1,478 =

Management has closely monitored the credit qualities and
the collectability of these receivables and considers that the
expected credit risks of them are minimal in view of the
historical experience and forward looking information. Trade
receivables were mainly tuition and boarding fees receivables.
The loss allowance provision for these balances was not material
and no provision was recorded during the years ended August
31, 2023 and 2022.

BB R B R % E UK
EWEEE = ko lkEiR
& R S5 ROATHE (&
Br - RABZERIENTE
FERBREE - Z5EK
REBEXEZAEKRBBRER
B o HZE2023F K20224F8
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont’d)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Cont’d)
(c) Liquidity risk

To manage the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains
a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by the
management to finance the Group's operations and mitigate
the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The Group expects
to fund its future cash flow needs mainly from internally
generated cash flows from operations and borrowings from
financial institutions. As at August 31, 2023, the Group held
available deposits of RMB985,499,000 and expected to stably
generate cash inflows from the tuition income and boarding
income for managing liquidity risk. Due to the dynamic nature
of the underlying businesses, the Group treasury maintains
flexibility in funding by committed credit lines. Subsequent to
the year end date, to optimise the debt structure and lower
the financing cost, the Group obtained two new ten-year bank
loan facilities of totalling RMB610,000,000 from a bank. As of
the date of the report, the Group had drawn down new loan
of RMB610,000,000 from the new bank facilities to replace
its existing borrowings. Also, as at August 31, 2023, the
Group has unutilised long-term bank facilities of approximately
RMB455,613,000 for its capital expenditure and an unutilised
long-term bank facility of RMB30,000,000 for its working
capital. The Group maintains regular communication with its
banks and the Directors are confident that the Group is able to
comply with the bank covenants of its existing bank facilities
and such bank facilities will continue to be available to the
Group. The Group will also consider to obtain more banking
facilities when there is any likehood of shortfall in working

capital.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2023

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont‘d) 3

3.1 Financial risk factors (Cont’d)
(c) Liquidity risk (Cont‘d)
The table below analyzes the Group’s non-derivative financial
liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the
remaining year at the balance sheet date to the contractual
maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the
contractual undiscounted cash flows.

Less than Between
At August 31,2023 1 year 1and 2 years
M2023F8H31H DPME 1225
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTRT AR®TR

HE2023F8A31HILFE
(A BEAI  FTEZBEAAREZRTR)

TRIEREE (&)
3.1 RiRAEEE)

(c) HEBELER(E)
TEANDRBELEEES
HEEBE MRS EE SRS
EHETESRABIEAR
BB AR - BAEFH

BNEBERANARTHRES
ME o
Between Over
2 and 5 years 5 years Total
2E5F S56ME et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTRT AR®TR AR¥TxR

As at August 31, 2023 jA2023%8H31H
Borrowings (principal fER (A& mA L)

plus interests) 476,538 502,777 1,056,686 806,617 2,842,618
Accruals and other FEST & A R H A e

payables (excluding REBEES

non-financial liabilities) ~ B4 & &) 403,913 49,325 - - 453,238
Amounts due to related &/ EBEL 7 7B

parties 28,082 37,690 - - 65,772
Lease liabilities HERE 427 397 1,138 2,117 4,079
Total @t 908,960 590,189 1,057,824 808,734 3,365,707
As at August 31, 2022 A202258H31H
Borrowings (principal fER(REmHE)

plus interests) 385,524 778,616 1,013,215 708,536 2,885,891
Accruals and other FESH B R E A RE LT

payables (excluding FE(TEEES

non-financial liabilities) ~ B&1&) 299,530 191,485 - = 491,015
Amounts due to related  [E{TBIHE 5 208

parties 60,718 - - - 60,718
Total @gt 745,772 970,101 1,013,215 708,536 3,437,624

PEBEREERER DA 183
2023 FERE



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A4 ALY
B PF B 1% o= M 5
FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2023
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)
HZE2023F8A31HILEE
(BRZEIEHI - BB 2 BUNRERT)

3

184

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont’d)

3.2 Capital management
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide
returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to
maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to
shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This
ratio is calculated as total debt (including external borrowings) divided
by total equity.

The gearing ratios as at August 31, 2023 and 2022 were as follows:

3.3

3

cRAREE (&)
3.2 EXERE

REEEREARN B HRBRASE
BRE S B S - RIRREEHEIHR
WA A AR T R i Aas - &
EBEXRGERE @ HUREARKA -

REFHFHEERRE - AEEH
SRBIRN THRROBKEERE &
BEATIER - BITHBROIHE
BEHIBAE -

AEERBAGBHLRERERN - &
B R BER(BREINEDEFO R

ARt E o

20235 202268 A31 B AR
S UNNE

As at August 31,

HA8H31H
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T AREETTT
Total borrowings B 2,445,778 2,449,419
Total equity MR 3,366,207 2,896,615
Gearing ratio Afg = 73% 85%

The decrease in the gearing ratio as at August 31, 2023 resulted
primarily from the increase in total equity.

Fair value estimation

Financial instruments carried at fair value or where fair value was
disclosed can be categorized by levels of the inputs to valuation
techniques used to measure fair value. The inputs are categorized into
three levels within a fair value hierarchy as follows:

° Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets
or liabilities (level 1).
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2023

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont‘d)

3.3 Fair value estimation (Cont’d)
o Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are
observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that is, as
prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level 2).

3 Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable
market data (that is, unobservable inputs) (level 3).

See Note 16 for disclosures of the investment properties that are
measured at fair value.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets including cash
and cash equivalents, restricted cash, trade and other receivables and
amounts due from related parties and financial liabilities including
current accruals and other payables, current amounts due to related
parties, and current borrowings, approximate their fair values due to
their short maturities. The fair values of non-current borrowings are
estimated based on discounted cash flow using the prevailing market
rates of interest available to the Group for financial instruments with
substantially the same terms and characteristics at the respective
balance sheet dates. The carrying amount of the Group’s non-
current amounts due to related parties and non-current accruals and
other payables also approximate their fair values because they are
recognized by taking into account the imputed interest rates.

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on
historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future
events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

4.1 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.
The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal
the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are

addressed below.

HE2023F8A31HILFE
(A BEAI  FTEZBEAAREZRTR)
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 4 RBEESTETTRHEE)

JUDGMENTS (Cont’d)

4.1 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

4.1 BARET AT RERE)

186

PRC due to regulatory restrictions on the foreign ownership
in the Group’s schools in the PRC. The Group does not
have any equity interest in the PRC Operating Entities and
Huali Investment. The Directors assessed whether or not the
Group has control over the PRC Operating Entities and Huali
Investment by assessing whether it has the rights to variable
returns from its involvement with the PRC Operating Entities
and Huali Investment and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the PRC Operating Entities and Huali
Investment. After assessment, the Directors concluded that the
Group has control over the PRC Operating Entities and Huali
Investment as a result of the Contractual Arrangements and
accordingly the financial position and the operating results of
the PRC Operating Entities and Huali Investment are included in
the Group's consolidated financial statements throughout the

(Cont’d)

(a) Contractual Arrangements (a) BHZH
The Group conducts a substantial portion of the business mﬁ@ﬁ%@@lﬁﬁﬁ’ﬂﬁl\;
through the PRC Operating Entities and Huali Investment in the BEEREGEEERS

%Ikﬂ$I%iE%&i
VIREATERERRANE S
% o AEEWEEETEE
EERRETRENEMR
o EBEFZERTBAEER
BEEL2HEPEEETE
EIRE RIS S0 R KA
CEMTEHIHEEERER
EVRENENZEZEE
o FHEAEBE TSR
HEEERBRETVRE - &
FE - BEERA - A5EEA
BRREMEPEHLEER
&%4&%%%%% HH
BEEERREVRENE

years ended August 31, 2023 and 2022 or since the respective &8 220234 202248 A
dates of incorporation/establishment, whichever is the shorter 1B IEFES B ®REFEMK
period. Nevertheless, the Contractual Arrangements may not SL/ P B ER R (A B AE HR

be as effective as direct legal ownership in providing the Group
with direct control over the PRC Operating Entities and Huali
Investment and uncertainties presented by the PRC legal system
could impede the Group’s beneficiary rights of the results,
assets and liabilities of the PRC Operating Entities and Huali
Investment. The Directors, based on the advice of its PRC legal
counsel, consider that the Contractual Arrangements with the
PRC Operating Entities and Huali Investment and their equity
shareholders are in compliance with the relevant PRC laws and

regulations and are legally enforceable.
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HE2023F8A31HILFE
(A BEAI  FTEZBEAAREZRTR)

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 4 RBEESTETTRHEE)

JUDGMENTS (Cont’d)

4.1 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
(Cont’d)
(b) Income taxes and deferred taxation

4.1 BARET AT RERE)

(b) FriZ# RAELH A

According to the Implementation Rules for the Law for
Promoting Private Education (“Implementing Rules”), private
schools, whether requiring reasonable returns or not, may enjoy
preferential tax treatment. The Implementing Rules provide
that the private schools for which the sponsors do not require
reasonable returns are eligible to enjoy the same preferential
tax treatment as public schools, and relevant authorities under
the State Council may introduce preferential tax treatments
and related policies applicable to private schools requiring
reasonable returns. However, as of the date of this report, no
separate policies, regulations or rules have been introduced by
the authorities in this regard. Based on the historical tax returns
filed to the relevant tax authorities, the PRC Operating Entities
have historically enjoyed preferential tax treatment since their
establishment.

Significant judgment is required in interpreting the relevant
tax rules and regulation so as to determine whether the
Group is subject to corporate income tax. This assessment
relies on estimates and assumptions and may involve a series
of judgments about future events. New information may
become available that causes the Group to change its judgment
regarding the adequacy of the tax liabilities. Such changes
to tax liabilities will impact tax expense in the year that such
determination is made.
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS (Cont’d)

4.1 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
(Cont’d)

188

(c)

(d)

Useful lives and residual values of property,
plant and equipment

Management determines the estimated useful lives, residual
values and related depreciation charges for its property, plant
and equipment, and reviews the useful lives and residual
values periodically to ensure that the method and rates of
depreciation are consistent with the expected pattern of
realization of economic benefits from property, plant and
equipment. This estimate is based on the historical experience
of the actual residual values and useful lives of property, plant
and equipment of similar nature and functions. It could change
significantly as a result of technical innovations and economic
environment changes in response to severe industry cycles. If
there are significant changes from previously estimated useful
lives and residual values, the amount of depreciation expenses
may change.

Fair value of investment properties

Some of the Group’s assets are measured at fair value for
financial reporting purposes. The board of directors of the
Company determine the appropriate valuation techniques and
inputs for fair value measurements.

In estimating the fair value of an asset, the Group uses market-
observable data to the extent it is available. When level 1 inputs
are not available, the Group engages third party qualified
valuers to perform the valuation. The Directors of the Company
work closely with the qualified external valuers to establish
the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to the model.
The fair value of investment properties is determined by using
valuation technique. Details of the judgment and assumptions
have been disclosed in Note 16.
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(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group is principally engaged in provision of private tertiary education
and ancillary services in the PRC. The Group’s chief operating decision-maker
("CODM") has been identified as the executive directors who considers the
business from the service perspective.

Information reported to the CODM, for the purpose of resource allocation
and assessment of segment performance, is on a school by school basis.
Each individual school constitutes an operating segment. The services
provided and type of customers are similar in each operating segment,
and each operating segment is subject to similar regulatory environment.
Accordingly, their segment information is aggregated as a single reportable
segment. CODM assesses the performance of the reportable segment based
on the revenue and gross profit for the year of the Group as presented
in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income. The accounting
policies of the reportable segment are the same as the Group’s accounting
policies described in Note 2. No analysis of the Group's assets and liabilities

is regularly provided to the management of the Group for review.

As at August 31, 2023, approximately 88% of the carrying values of the
Group's assets are situated in the PRC mainland. All of the Group’s revenue
are derived from activities in, and from customers located in the PRC
mainland and no geographical segment analysis is prepared.

Revenue during the years ended August 31, 2023 and 2022 are as follows:

HE2023F8A31HILFE
(A BEAI  FTEZBEAAREZRTR)

7 ERE

AEEEERTEREHRISSHE R
ER% - AEENEIERERARE(EE
RERFE ) BITES - BIRBAE

BERBEMINIORERTEERLLERE
o DESIBEBEREFEDARE -
PRERIER —(EEEDE - SEE D HR
HE R REPERIALL - REER
HIAEL - B REN D BERMERE —
R 28N MATTER - TRRERKER
EattiRalaERm 25N AKEF AN
AREFNFEAT 2D EHERR - IZ2HD
EREY & AT B BRI R 2 AT AN SR B & R I
FAAE o WEE MR AEEEREREA
SEEENBERNDNIAHER -

R2023F8A31H  AKEREELN
88N MEEMMNTRENM - NEBFAE
I A PR B B A A S S R R B A i
P WEGERME S O o

HZE2023F K202268A31HIEEEH
AR -

Year ended August 31,

BZE8A3MALEE
2023 2022
2023F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR%¥TR ARBFIT

Recognized over time RE— R E R R

— Tuition fees —25 1,007,883 836,470
— Boarding fees —&EE 75,421 71,292
1,083,304 907,762

Tuition fees and boarding fees are recognized proportionately over each
academic year. No customers individually accounted for more than 10% of
the Group's revenue during the years ended August 31, 2023 and 2022.

EERTEENSBFRLHIER - BE
20234F [ 2022F8A31HIEFER « #
EREEEBEASEIRARERBI0% °

PEBEREERER DA 189
2023 FERE



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A4 ALY
B PF B 1% o= M 5
FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2023
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)
HZE2023F8A31HILEE
(BRZEIEHI - BB 2 BUNRERT)

6

190

OTHER INCOME 6 Hislr A
Year ended August 31,
HESA3MAILEE
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥T AREFTT
Site use and relevant service income Y55 0 £58 F X A A AR A A 20,083 8,835
Rental income e WA 10,838 10,642
Service income of school-enterprise cooperation R{IEE1EIE B RBKA
projects 3,566 2,519
Government subsidies IEg SR 2,107 10,228
Bookselling income B & 5 & WA 833 3,676
Interest income on other financial assets at RSN AARNEM SR EENF
amortized cost BUYA - 29
37,427 35,929
OTHER GAINS - NET 7 Httlhsm e
Year ended August 31,
HZESHA3MAILEE
2023 2022
2023F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%TR ARETTT
Fair value gains on investment properties (Note 16) & W% AT AU (FiFE16) 100 200
Net exchange (losses)/gains [EH (E18), s F58 (145) 482
Losses on disposals of property, plant and HEME  BERSHURERLEE
equipment and intangible assets o)t (426) (466)
Others EAh 738 861
267 1,077
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EXPENSES BY NATURE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

HE2023F8A31HILFE
(A BEAI  FTEZBEAAREZRTR)

8 BMESIWRAX

Year ended August 31,

BZ8A3MALFEE
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR®BTT ARBT T
Employee benefit expenses (Note 9) 1 B &I (KizE9) 254,525 200,063
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment M - BEREREITE

(Note 15) (MHEE15) 140,432 115,298
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 14) ERAREAESE (FiFE14) 38,775 36,486
Joint tuition support fees (Note a) BB (fizEa) 36,277 61,207
Property management fee MEEERE 30,423 28,032
School consumables ERUEFm 24,015 13,567
Utilities expenses NN 18,764 19,647
Office expenses MWAEREZ 12,787 9,955
Marketing expenses IR 11,434 15,021
Travel and entertainment expenses EIR R R 9,952 8,825
Other taxes Eth T8 6,578 10,235
Amortization of intangible assets (Note 17) mp A EEHE(KEE17) 6,451 6,167
Training expenses HillE 5,903 2,460
Auditors’ remuneration ZERRT BN &

— Audit services — ZBURTE 2,698 2,690
Allowance granted to poverty students B R &Rk 2,626 468
Maintenance fees R MEE 2,388 8,034
Consultancy and professional service fees e R EERGE 1,951 2,058
Student activities expenses BATEERE 1,750 1,156
Insurance expenses REEFAZ 1,043 1,481
Rental expenses e 236 7,542
Other expenses HibFAz 15,974 10,338
Total cost of sales, selling expenses and BEHERAR - HEBMIRITHEX

administrative expenses 624,982 560,730
(a) Huali College, a group entity entered into an agreement of cooperation with (a) EYV B (—HEEE L) EE T Sk

Guangdong University of Technology, the joint sponsor of Huali College, under which ARPEERRIERETLAERZE @ &
the Group will pay joint tuition support fees to Guangdong University of Technology SEBRFRNERIZEASINEZR
in each academic year based on 17% of the tuition income from students covered by HBEBENBESBBERAMIT%ERE R
the agreement of Huali College. The Group expects that the agreement will remain B NEEHEGZBBSBETRNT - B
enforceable until the completion of the Transitional Cooperation Agreement of Huali ZEVERBERSEBRTK L
College, which has set out certain arrangements in relation to the management of Huali BIEHREIERARMBE L BRERA
College during the transitional period of the conversion of Huali College from a private FEBVRENRPEBANEE(E#EL
independent college into an independently established private general undergraduate BRERDBESANEVEREENET
college in the PRC (the “Conversion of Huali College”). ZHE ©
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9

192

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES

9 EEFFMX

Year ended August 31,

BESA3MAHILEE
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBTT AREFIT
Wages, salaries and bonuses ITE - #FeREA 203,683 168,401
Contribution to pension plan RIS FHEIHR 14,258 11,314
Welfare and other expenses A e B =2 36,584 20,348
254,525 200,063

(a) Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the Group
for the year include three (2022: three) directors whose emoluments
are reflected in the analysis shown in Note 35(a). The emoluments
payable to the remaining two (2022: two) individuals during the year
are as follows:

() EEEEHFAL

FARKEFHESNEZALE
FB=4(20225F : =R)EF - Hbf
& RIRNIEEIS@R DT > FA
JEATER T M4 (20224F : MAB) AL

HEEmT :

Year ended August 31,

BZESA3MALEE
2023 2022
2023F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBTT ARBFIT
Wages, salaries and bonuses ITE& - HeRkiEa 999 1,130
Contribution to pension plan RINSETEIfER 43 20
Welfare and other expenses B R EMA 26 40
1,068 1,190

The emoluments of the highest paid non-director individuals fell
within the following bands:

REFMIEES A TOHMN RN

TEE :

Year ended August 31,

BZES8H3MHILLEE
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
Emolument bands 7 i &5 [
Nil — HK$1,000,000 Z 21,000,000/ 7T 2 2
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9 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (Cont’d) 9 EERFMEX(AE)
(a) Five highest paid individuals (Cont’d) () EEREHFAL(E)
During the years ended August 31, 2023 and 2022, none of the B ZE2023F K2022F8A31HIEF
five highest paid individuals waived or has agreed to waive any EA @ AéZR=E AT EREL
emoluments, and none of the five highest paid individuals received AEREEAME - TEKEAS
emoluments from the Group as inducement to join or upon joining EH e ERIMARERE KA
the Group, or as compensation for loss of office. S B &R B EE -
10 FINANCE EXPENSES - NET 10 BA %G SR
Year ended August 31,
BZE8H3MALEE
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR ARBFT
Finance income: BATSUA -
- Bank interest income —RITABWA 5,701 6,050
Finance expenses: BRX
— Interest expenses on bank borrowings —RITEBERFNEFRAZ (93,679) (95,877)
— Interest expenses on other borrowings due to a — FE ST BAES: 75 B EL A fE FREV AR
related party (Note 33(b)) A (F17E33(b)) (9,178) (18,290)
— Imputed interest expenses on discount of long- — REFE fib 8 F R JE T AR 7 &=
term other borrowings and long-term interest HEMAMENHED IR
payables due to a related party FEFAZ (9,200) =
— Imputed interest expenses on discount of ¥ WERZENRBAER
long-term payables for property, plant and HIEREEE RN S
equipment 53 (2,960) (8,454)
— Net exchange losses on bank borrowings —RITERE R B8 55 (4,925) (6,650)
Less: Interest expenses capitalized in property, plant & : ¥% - BE K& EHERNEHOTFE
and equipment (Note (a)) A& (FizE)) 19,294 22,863
— Imputed interest expenses on discount of — JETEE N B s R A E A A
compensation payable for the Conversion of HERRFEFZ
Huali College (2,840) (4,736)
— Interest expense for lease liabilities (Note 14(b)) —HEaENFERZ(HEE14(0b)) (7) -
(103,495) (111,144)
Net finance expenses ISR S FEE (97,794) (105,094)
(a) The capitalization rate used to determine the amount of borrowing costs to be (a) BEBETFTENMBOERRRSEMEAD
capitalized is the interest rate applicable to the entity’s borrowings for construction BRERRBENBEARZERERERD
during the year. The capitalization rates were 4.53% and 4.60% for the years ended FE o B FE 20235 2202268 A31HIEF
August 31, 2023 and 2022 respectively. EMEREED R A4.53%K%4.60% °
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INCOME TAX EXPENSES

(a)

(b)

(c)

Cayman Islands profits tax

The Company and its direct subsidiary were incorporated in the
Cayman Islands as exempted companies with limited liability under the
Companies Act (as revised) of the Cayman Islands and accordingly, are

exempted from income tax.

Hong Kong profits tax

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax was provided as the Group
did not have assessable profits in Hong Kong during the years ended
August 31, 2023 and 2022.

PRC corporate income tax (“CIT")

The corporate income tax rate applicable to the Group’s entities
located in the Mainland China (the “PRC entities”) is 25% according
to the Corporate Income Tax Law of the People’s Republic of China
effective on January 1, 2008.

According to the Implementation Rules for the Law for Promoting
Private Education (the “Implementing Rules”), private schools,
whether requiring reasonable returns or not, may enjoy preferential
tax treatment. The Implementing Rules provide that the private
schools for which the sponsors do not require reasonable returns are
eligible to enjoy the same preferential tax treatment as public schools,
and relevant authorities under the State Council may introduce
preferential tax treatments and related policies applicable to private
schools requiring reasonable returns. Despite the fact that no separate
policies, regulations or rules have been introduced by the authorities
during the years ended August 31, 2023 and up to date of this
report, based on the historical tax returns filed to the relevant tax
authorities, the colleges within the Group have historically enjoyed
preferential tax treatment since their establishment.

Management considered that no CIT would be imposed by the local
tax bureau on the income from provision of formal educational
services based on the PRC relevant tax regulation. As a result, no
income tax expense was recognized for the income from the provision
of educational services in respect of the PRC Operating Entities during
the period.
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(a)

(b)

(c)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B 5 Rk MY R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2023

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

11 INCOME TAX EXPENSES (Cont‘d)

(c)

(d)

PRC corporate income tax (“CIT"”) (Cont’d)

Certain wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Group in the PRC enjoy
the preferential income tax treatment for Small and Micro Enterprise
with the income tax rate of 20% and are eligible to have their tax
calculated based on 25% of their taxable income. Guangdong Shengli
Technology Company Limited enjoy the preferential income tax rate of
15% based on the relevant tax preferential policy granted to Ruyuan
Yao Autonomous County.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10% withholding
tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign investors from the
foreign investment enterprises established in Mainland China. A lower
withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty between
Mainland China and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. The
Group is liable for withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those
subsidiaries established in Mainland China in respect of earnings
generated in the periods subsequent to January 1, 2008.

United States of America (“USA") corporate income
tax

No provision for USA corporate income tax was provided as the Group
did not have assessable profits in USA during the years ended August
31, 2023 and 2022.

Analysis of the Group’s income tax expense is as follows:

HE2023F8A31HILFE
(A BEAI  FTEZBEAAREZRTR)

1M1 RSB (A)

() HPEIEEMEH(PE
ERAEH ) (&)
AEBRRENET2 AN E
DEAZHNMELE B ES
%8 - FIBBBIER20% I
AR ERBIRA025%
AEBUE - REBIREREA
BB EERR - R
BHMEERDAZRIS%MN
EEFEBBIE -

BB EE AR LR AT
JREDY R B A A L
INERECERIIEREES
K HY A% B 7B 1R 10% B R B
TEOFL o 4 R B P b ER N B 3%
BERMERAEERARIK
%€ - AlER A EIE A TR R
Koo AEBBARZZERFERA
Hb K A7 B P E A AP 20084 1 A
1 BB E £ & F 2R
BTN -

(d) EFREREI(XEE])
BERBH
HRAEBEREZE2023F K&
202298 A31 AL FEREEHR
W AE SRS FERR LA - B
HEBIDETEHETIREE -

AEBMSHAZIFTNAT

Year ended August 31,

BZE8A3MHILEE
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AREBT T
Current tax on profits for the year (i) FRAEAE BT IE() 3,453 16,000
Deferred income tax (ii) IEFERATIS (i) 258 236
Deferred withholding tax (iii) PEFEFEFN L (jii) 1,464 2,924
5,175 19,160
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1"
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INCOME TAX EXPENSES (Cont‘d)

(d) United States of America (“USA") corporate income
tax (Cont’d)

(i)

(i)

(iii)

Current tax on profits for the year mainly represent tax imposed on site-use
service income, rental income and joint tuition income earned by the universities
of the Group and service income earned by wholly foreign owned subsidiaries
of the Group from the PRC Operating Entities and dormitory management fee
earned by Huali investment from the PRC Operating Entities.

Deferred income tax represents tax on the revaluation gains of investment
properties, right-of-use assets and lease liabilities, temporary differences on
the recognition of rental income, and tax losses carry forwards to the extent
that the realisation of the related benefit through the future taxable profits is
probable.

As at August 31, 2023, deferred income tax liabilities of RMB1,464,000 (2022:
RMB2,924,000) were recognized on the temporary differences arising from the
services income earned by wholly foreign owned subsidiaries of the Company
from the PRC Operating Entities (“WFOEs").

As at August 31, 2023 and 2022, deferred income tax liabilities of
RMB178,694,000 and RMB167,345,000 have not been recognized for the
withholding tax that would be payable on the unremitted earnings amounting
to RMB2,382,592,000 and RMB1,968,760,000 of the PRC Operating Entities,
respectively. Such earnings are expected to be retained by the PRC Operating
Entities for reinvestment purposes and would not be remitted out of mainland
China in the foreseeable futures.
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11 Income tax expenses (Cont’d) 11 FrSHEX (&)
The taxation on the Group’s profit before income tax differs from the 2 &8 B P 15 B34 A A R B9 A5 18 B (5 A R
theoretical amount that would arise using the taxation rate of PRC, the (REEFELEME)TRTENERS
principal place of the Group's operations, as follows: BEUTZER :

Year ended August 31,

BESAZMALEE
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBTT ARBFIT
Profit before income tax 88t AE 398,222 278,944
Calculated at applicable corporate income tax rate {Z@EA D EEHERTE 96,505 69,474
Exemption of corporate income tax for income from %A% 2/ A RSB A B ZEFTISH
formal educational services (95,908) (54,663)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax AR OB E
purposes 2,300 -
Previously unrecognized tax losses now recouped to 5 Bl 7 52 A i T8 6548 2R 5 U (] DA R
reduce current income tax LEHREH (2) (5)
Tax losses for which no deferred income tax asset  RIERIELEFTETAE T IEER
was recognized 816 1,430
PRC corporate income tax Bl EFTISHE 3,711 16,236
PRC withholding income tax A BITEHIFT 1SR 1,464 2,924
5,175 19,160
Amounts recognized in other comprehensive income REMARE W ERN S5
Year ended August 31,
HESAMALEE
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR%TR ARBFIT
Deferred tax: Revaluation gains of investment RIEFIE  IREYEEH W E
properties - 178
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12 EARNINGS PER SHARE 12 ERER
(a) Basic (a) EXR
The basic earnings per share is calculated on the profit attributable to BREXRBMNZREB £2023F K&
owners of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary 2022F8A3NHIEFEARRMES
shares in issue during the years ended August 31, 2023 and 2022. AEEFE R LAE 217 @R e
THHFE o
Year ended August 31,
HZE8A3MALLFE
2023 2022
2023F 20224
Profit attributable to owners of the Company AR a/#HA ARERE(ARETIT)
(RMB'000) 393,047 259,784
Weighted average number of ordinary shares & 217 % @A INHEF 198 (FAL)
in issue (thousand shares) 1,200,000 1,200,000
Basic earnings per share (expressed in RMB) ~ ERXEAZEA (AARBEITERIR) 0.328 0.216
(b) Diluted (b) &8

Diluted earnings per share presented is the same as the basic earnings
per share as there were no potentially dilutive ordinary shares issued
during the years ended August 31, 2023 and 2022.

P £ 51) 69 4 P58 28 ) 49 A EE AR
AFER - RERNEE20234
%202258 A31 B ILFEARLHEE
BOTBEETEAR -

13 DIVIDENDS 13 RE
Year ended August 31,
HZESH3MAILLEE
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBTR AREETTT
Final dividend, declared and paid, of nil (2022: EEIREZNEREERT TR
RMBO0.0409) per ordinary share f&8.(20224F : AR¥0.04097T) - 49,108
Total dividends provided for or paid EEHRBESR S MR B AT - 49,108

198

During the year ended August 31, 2023, no dividends were paid (2022:
dividends were distributed out of the Company’s share premium and were
paid in cash).
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13 DIVIDENDS (Cont’d)

(a) Dividends not recognized at the end of the

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A (3 = 3

& Of B %5 R 2= Bt 7%
FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2023

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

HE2023F8A31HILFE
(A BEAI  FTEZBEAAREZRTR)

13 RE(4&)
(a) RE|BEFEREAREIN

reporting years BE
Year ended August 31,
HZESAMAILLFE
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBTT ARBETIT
Proposed final dividend of nil (2022: nil) per & ARHR BB IE BT T (2022
ordinary share F:Tr) - =
In respect of the year ended August 31, 2023, no dividend is to be B E2023F8A31HILEFEM
proposed at the annual general meeting to be held on January 26, T BEREER20245F1 7268
2024. RITORFBFAE L2 -
14 LEASE 14 #HE
(a) Amounts recognised in the consolidated balance () REMEEEBRERN
sheet S8
The consolidated balance sheet shows the following amounts relating EHEERBRREINTHEE
to leases: B
Year ended August 31,
HESAMAILLFE
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBTT ARBETT
Right-of-use assets EREEE
Land use rights T R 1,350,317 1,394,089
Leased properties (i) THEWZE() 3,228 -
1,353,545 1,394,089
Lease liabilities HESE
Current Lt 278 =
Non-current FERNER 2,942 =
3,220 -

(i) Additions to the right-of-use assets during the year ended August 31, 2023 {
were RMB3,383,000 (2022: nil).

) HZE202348A31BILEE £/
HEERE B ARK3,383,0007T
(20224 : &) -
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/ =+ NN
B 7% o= I aE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2023
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

HE2023F8A31HILFE
(A BEAI B ZBEAAREZRT)

14 LEASE (Cont’d) 14
(b) Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets

HE(E)
(b) EREEENEEM

Year ended August 31,

HZE8H3MALEE
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥TR ARBFIT
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets FHEEEHNEEH
Depreciation charged in consolidated statement A& fHira W RINBRAITE
of comprehensive income (Note 8) iR 38,775 36,486
Depreciation capitalised in construction in TEEIRERNEITE
progress 5,152 7,286
43,927 43,772
Interest expense (included in finance expenses) Fl 8 3% (5F AR 7R ) (BizE10)
(Note 10) 7 =
Expense relating to short-term leases and HEHEEREBEEEHERH
leases of low-value assets (included in BRI < (FTATTER RS2 )
administrative expenses) 236 604
Expense relating to variable lease payments HARFTAHEBBHAIZHENK
not included in lease liabilities (included in ARG 2 (GT ASEERA)
cost of sales) - 6,938

The total cash outflow for leases during the year ended August 31,
2023 was RMB4,069,000 (2022: RMB8,135,000).

(c) The Group’s leasing activities and how these are
accounted for
The Group leases various land use rights, offices, IT equipments and
other equipments. Rental contracts are typically made for fixed periods
of 6 months to 50 years.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide
range of different terms and conditions. The lease agreements do not
impose any covenants other than the security interests in the leased
assets that are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as
security for borrowing purposes.
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B ZE2023F8A31HILEE
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Notes to

15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15 ¥ - BMERRZE

Electronic Furniture Interior  Construction
Buildings  equipment and fixtures Vehicles  decoration in progress Total
¥ ET%E GAREKE RE EREE ERIR @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR  AR®Tn ARBTr ARETR ARMTR  AR¥TR  AR%Txn
Year ended August 31, 2023 HZ202358A31HLEE
Opening net book amount BARmFE 2,901,171 118,768 88,880 6,843 87,060 949,912 4,152,634
Additions NE - 22,349 65,437 908 - 540,075 628,769
Transfer from completed "ERTRRHERER

construction projects 842,048 - - - 47,058 (889,106) -
Disposals L& - (340) (354) (384) - - (1,078)
Depreciation charge HEER (69,207) (22,620) (14,268) (966) (33,371) - (140,432)
Closing net book amount BREEFE 3,674,012 118,157 139,695 6,401 100,747 600,881 4,639,893
As at August 31, 2023 1#2023%8A31A
Cost A 4,107,154 276,328 209,531 13,881 207,078 600,881 5,414,853
Accumulated depreciation ZitE (433,142)  (158,171) (69,836) (7.480)  (106,331) - (774,960)
Net book amount REFE 3,674,012 118,157 139,695 6,401 100,747 600,881 4,639,893
Year ended August 31, 2022 HZE20258A310LLFE
Opening net book amount HNEEEE 2,513,981 98,717 50,338 5,842 106,689 933343 3,708,910
Additions NE - 40,603 47,632 2,058 - 471,796 562,089
Transfer from completed construction 2% T k8 A &#

projects 447,725 - - - 7,502 (455,227) -
Transfer to investment properties  EAREME(Hiz16)

(Note 16) (2,554) = = = = = (2,554)
Disposals HE - (447) - (66) - - (513)
Depreciation charge HEER (57,981) (20,105) (9,090) (991) (27,131) - (115,298)
Closing net book amount HREDFE 2,901,171 118,768 88,880 6,843 87,060 949,912 4,152,634
As at August 31, 2022 #2022%8A31A
Cost KA 3,265,106 258,953 151,147 14,170 160,020 949,912 4,799,308
Accumulated depreciation ZitE (363,935)  (140,185) (62,267) (7,327) (72,960) - (646,674)
Net book amount REFE 2,901,171 118,768 88,880 6,843 87,060 949,912 4,152,634
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HZE2023F8A31HILEE
(BRZEIEHI - BB 2 BUNRERT)

15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont‘d)

202

Depreciation charges were included in the following categories in the
consolidated statements of comprehensive income:

15 % - BRERRE(E)
BB BEAA G A MR T8
IR

Year ended August 31,

BESH3MAILLEE
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR ARETTT
Cost of sales SHERK AR 135,551 110,372
Administrative expenses THRAX 4,878 4,921
Selling expenses HERX 3 5
140,432 115,298

Construction-in-progress mainly comprises school buildings under
construction in the PRC for expansion projects.

During the year ended August 31, 2023, the Group has capitalised
borrowing costs amounting to RMB19,128,000 (2022: RMB17,129,000) and
imputed interest expenses on discount of long-term payables amounting to
RMB166,000 (2022: RMB5,734,000) on property, plant and equipment.
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HZE2023F48A31BILFEER - NEH
BRAYE - BB KRR E R EREK
ANAARHE19,128,0007T(20224F = AR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

N/ ALY
B OF B 1% o= M 5
FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2023
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)
B ZE2023F8A31HILEE
(BRZEIEHI - BB BUNRERT)

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 16 REWZE
As at August 31,
M"8H31H
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥T ARETTT
At fair value
Opening net book amount 183,570 179,400
Transfer from property, plant and equipment (i) B - BB KR EERE) - 2,554
Transfer from right-of-use assets (i) {50 A & EE () - 704
Revaluation gains recognized as other TR R E M AR S Has 7 B (A U (1)
comprehensive income (i) - 712
Revaluation gains recognized as other gains (Note 7) &2 A Mk zs i B Uzt (H5E7) 100 200
Closing net book amount 183,670 183,570
Unrealized gains for the year included in profit or  FhEFRIFEBET ABZHFRARE
loss for assets held at the end of the year, under IRUES + FI| A EAb U S F 58 |
‘other gains — net’ 100 200
(i) During the year ended August 31, 2022, certain areas of the properties with carrying (i) HZE202298A31HIEEE - REAEAA

amount RMB2,554,000 (Note 15), together with corresponding land use rights with
carrying amount of RMB704,000, were leased to tenants as stores with leases terms
ranging from 3.75 years to 5 years. Therefore, these properties and corresponding land
use rights were transferred to investment properties. Revaluation surplus amounting to
RMB712,000 was recognized as other comprehensive income on the date transferred.

R #2,554,0007T (MizE15) B & TR
EFIEEEAARE704,0007T A8 FE L i
FEREEEMTRSAEERR  HENT
3.75F E54F - Eit - ZEWE KR L
FERAEEERERENE - ERBHAR
#712,000 T R E BER AR MEE

25 o

m

(@) Investment properties of the Group comprised land and buildings for (a) ~EEREMESE B0t

a primary school and ancillary facilities which were leased to a related
party with rental income as disclosed in Note 33(b), and certain areas
of the properties for stores which were leased to third parties with
rental income of RMB3,272,000 during the year ended August 31,

2023 (2022: RMB3,342,000).

R EF R ERE(BE AT —
2R - S URARHIEE33(b)
B URAEERNE TERE
ME(BEHBTFE=F  HE2023
F8ANHALEFENHESRABA
R#¥3,272,0007T (20224 : AR¥
3,342,0007T)) ©
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A4 ALY
B PF B 1% o= M 5
FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2023
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)
HZE2023F8A31HILEE
(BRZEIEHI - BB 2 BUNRERT)

16 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Cont’d)

204

(b)

(9]

(d)

Fair value hierarchy

As at August 31, 2023 and 2022, an independent valuation of the
Group's investment properties was performed by an independent
professional qualified valuer to determine the fair values of the

investment properties.

As at August 31, 2023 and 2022, all of the Group’s investment
properties were within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy as the
valuations were arrived at by reference to certain significant
unobservable inputs. There were no transfers between levels 1, 2 and
3 during the years ended August 31, 2023 and 2022.

Valuation processes of the Group
The Group's investment properties were valued as at August 31, 2023

and 2022 by an independent qualified valuer.

A team from the Group's finance department reviews the valuations
performed by the independent valuer for financial reporting purposes.
This team reports directly to the head of finance team. Discussions
of valuation processes and results are held between the finance team
and valuer at least once a year.

Valuation techniques

Investment properties in use: income approach which takes
into account the current rents of the property interests and the
reversionary potentials of the tenancies, term yield and reversionary
yield, to derive at the market value.

China Vocational Education Holdings Limited
2023 Annual Report

16 REWX(A)

(b)

(c)

(d)

NP EEBR
20234 202268 HA31H + —%
B EA AR ENE AR
ENRETHUMGE  ABTRE
MEHATE -

20234 K% 20228H318 * H
REEDE2EE TERTIERE
AZBELH - MAEEMEERED
¥HBATEEBRNE=R - BE
2023F K2022F8 A31HIEFE
A E—H - FAEFE=FHEL
mE o

rEEGERR

20236 202268 A31H - A"
BRAMER—BBILAARMEE
i (E

AN E2 [ B 75 0 P ) (B X 2 B 9B S
ERPTETTHMEE - WETH R
#H - ZEFERAVFEEEERA
HE - BBEFRGENSFED
BT RIEEBRERERT® °

e ER M

ERRANE - BaDk - HEDE
MRS RBBONTE
M BATR AR S R TR BB R it

-

HMSEE -



(e)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B 5 Rk MY R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2023

16 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Cont’d)

significant unobservable inputs (level 3):

Information about fair value measurements using

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

HE2023F8A31HILFE
(A BEAI  FTEZBEAAREZRTR)

16 REWX(A)
(e) RAEKRFTAEHEEBAR
BRQAFEFEER(E=

&)

Relationship of

Fair value at Valuation Unobservable  Unobservable unobservable inputs to
Property category  Description August 31, 2023 techniques inputs inputs fair value
R2023F8H31H FUBE FUBRRARESR
LES-Eid B NOTE RERN TURZHARE BABE DVEHEE
Completed investment Primary School and RMB135,100,000 Income Market rents 21.61 The higher the market
properties ancillary facilities approach (RMB/sg.m./ rents, the higher the fair
month) value
BERTIREMZ NEREER M AR% W&E ik rika misleEs  ATELS
135,100,000 (ARET/
FRA/R)
Completed investment Stores RMB48,570,000 Income Market rents 27.00 - 37.40 The higher the market
properties approach (RMB/sg.m./ rents, the higher the fair
month) value
ERTREY% 48 AR% W&E ik zika msleEs  ATELS
48,570,000 (AR®T/
FARA/R)
Relationship of
Fair value at Valuation Unobservable  Unobservable unobservable inputs to
Property category  Description August 31, 2022 techniques inputs inputs fair value
R202258H31H FUBE FUBEHARESR
MEER B NATE RERN FTURZHARE BABE DVEHEE
Completed investment Primary School and RMB135,100,000 Income Market rents 21.14 The higher the market
properties ancillary facilities approach (RMB/sg.m./ rents, the higher the fair
month) value
BERTREMZ N REER ARE Wk ik zika misieds  ATEES
135,100,0007T (ARET/
FRA/A)
Completed investment Stores RMB48,470,000 Income Market rents 26.50 - 36.50 The higher the market
properties approach (RMB/sg.m./ rents, the higher the fair
month) value
BERTRED® 48 ARE sk ik zika misieds  ATEES
48,470,0007 (ARET/
FRA/A)

TEBFEHREERARAE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A4 ALY
B PF B 1% o= M 5
FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2023
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)
HZE2023F8A31HILEE
(BRZEIEHI - BB 2 BUNRERT)

17 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 17 BEEE
Computer
software
BB M4
RMB’000
ARET T
Year ended August 31, 2023 BE2023F8A31HLFE
Opening net book amount HRY)BR T FEE 19,416
Additions NE 533
Disposals e (23)
Amortization charge e R (6,451)
Closing net book amount HARBR T HE 13,475
As at August 31, 2023 7A2023%F8H31H
Cost %N 40,523
Accumulated amortization St (27,048)
Net book amount BREFE 13,475
Year ended August 31, 2022 HZE202268H31HILEE
Opening net book amount HYIBREDFE 21,609
Additions NE 3,974
Amortization charge #HiEE R (6,167)
Closing net book amount HREREDFE 19,416
As at August 31, 2022 7A2022%8H31H
Cost %N 40,382
Accumulated amortization e (20,966)
Net book amount IREFE 19,416

206

Amortization expenses were included in the following categories in the

consolidated statements of comprehensive income:

BHRA X AR HEERAERN AT

Al

Year ended August 31,

EZ8H31HLEE
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBTT ARETTT
Cost of sales SHEKAR 5,601 5,345
Administrative expenses TR 2 850 822
6,451 6,167
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B 5 Rk MY R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2023

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

18 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

HE2023F8A31HILFE
(A BEAI  FTEZBEAAREZRTR)

BRERNESHEMTA

As at August 31,

A8H31H

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥T AREFTT

Financial assets at amortized cost REBHREAEAENSMEE
Amounts due from related parties JiE U A B 5 3R 0E 10,428 10,999
Trade and other receivables B 5 & H A pE IR 18,956 28,712
Restricted cash ZREIFEL 2,423 1,443
Cash and cash equivalents Re RBEEEY 985,499 803,845
1,017,306 844,999

Financial liabilities at amortized cost REBSRAEARNSREE
Borrowings B 2,445,778 2,449,419
Amounts due to related parties JE 1T A B O KB 63,709 60,648

Accruals and other payables (excluding FEET & FA R H A FE T 3R IE

non-financial liabilities) (TREFepERE) 447,512 482,576
Lease liabilities HEAR 3,220 =
2,960,219 2,992,643

19 PREPAYMENTS

19 FE{FFIE

As at August 31,

M"8H31H

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBTT ARBFIT

Prepayments for purchase and construction of BERESYE  BERRERER

property, plant and equipment and intangible BENTEMNRIE

assets 60,012 67,865
Others HAth 6,598 5,856
66,610 73,721
Less: non-current portion of prepayments R TR RIBRIIEE BiEE (60,012) (67,865)
6,598 5,856
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A4 ALY
B PF B 1% o= M 5
FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2023
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)
HZE2023F8A31HILEE
(BRZEIEHI - BB 2 BUNRERT)

20 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

20 EZ R HMEWKIR

As at August 31,

A8H31H
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%TR AREFTT
Trade receivables B 5 W RIR
— Tuition fees receivables from students —EWEBERNES 8,178 12,951
- Boarding fees receivables from students —EREENTES 65 172
8,243 13,123
Other receivables ot fE W kIR
— Utilities receivables from campus logistics service — — UK E 2 E RIS IR A
providers FERY 4,828 4,672
— Receivables for rental income — RS WA 3,227 2,085
— Tuition fees receivables from financial institution — —EW & BIKIEHNEE 407 3,939
— Staff advances —BIBHAR 225 135
— Deposits —&e 16 2,400
— Others —Hfth 2,010 2,358
10,713 15,589
18,956 28,712
As at August 31, 2023 and 2022, the aging analysis of the trade receivables M2023F %20226F8A31H ' BFEWK
based on the recognition date is as follows: FIBENER B HNRERSITAT
As at August 31,
A8H31H
2023 2022
2023F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%TR AREFTT
Less than 1 year DRF 6,515 11,645
1 to 2 years 18225 1,689 1,478
2 to 3 years 2FE3F 39 =
8,243 13,123

208 China Vocational Education Holdings Limited
2023 Annual Report



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B 5 Rk MY R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2023
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

HE2023F8A31HILFE
(A BEAI  FTEZBEAAREZRTR)

20 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Cont‘d) 20 EFREMEYRKEE)
As at August 31, 2023 and 2022, trade and other receivables of the Group 20234 K% 2022F8A31H » NEEH)
were denominated in RMB. E 5 REMEUGIEAAREEHE -
As at August 31, 2023 and 2022, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit 2023 %202268HA31H - AKE AT
risk was the carrying value of each class of trade and other receivables HENEAEERKRA LLSHEES RE
mentioned above. The Group does not hold any other collateral as security. fEW IR Z BREE - AEEWEFEE
A E R mERER -
Management has closely monitored the credit qualities and the collectability ERERYERZERYGRIENEERR
of these receivables and considers that the expected credit risks of them RAIKRERRE - EREEENBRESIER
are minimal in view of the history of cooperation with them and forward AIEHER  RAEZSRENEHEER
looking information. The loss allowance provision for these balances was not RARIE o B ZE 20234 202268 HA31H
material and no provision was recorded during the years ended August 31, IEEERA - ZEFERNIERBESBELT
2023 and 2022. EX - I EELHRYE -
As at August 31, 2023 and 2022, the fair values of trade and other M2023F 20228 H31H - BEF R A
receivables approximate their carrying amounts. i FEWGRIE A AR HBRE(ERE ©
21 RESTRICTED CASH 21 ZRERE
As at August 31,
MA8H31H
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBTT AREFIT
Restricted cash ZRHHRE 2,423 1,443

Restricted cash of the Group are denominated in the following currencies:

AEBWZRGBESIATINEEE

As at August 31,

M8HA31H
2023 2022
20235 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ETR AREBT T
RMB AR 339 =
HK$ BT 2,084 1,443
2,423 1,443
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A4 ALY
B PF B 1% o= M 5
FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2023
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)
HZE2023F8A31HILEE
(BRZEIEHI - BB 2 BUNRERT)

21 RESTRICTED CASH (Cont’d) 21 ZRHFRE(HF)
As at August 31, 2023, balance of HK$2,276,000 (equivalent to M2023F 8 A31H » #%£2,276,000/5
RMB2,084,000) (2022: HK$1,644,000 (equivalent to RMB1,443,000) TT(HEE R A R ¥2,084,0007T) (2022
was restricted for sole usage of interest settlement relating to the bank 1,644,000 8 T(HE R AR
borrowing of HK$120,000,000 (equivalent to RMB109,846,000) (2022: 1,443,00070)) ER R ARG H HIRTT
HK$135,000,000 (equivalent to RMB118,514,000)). f& 5% 120,000,000 7% 7L( 18 & KX A R ¥
109,846,0007T) (20224 : 135,000,000
BL(FEERARY118,514,0007T))
FAEFIE -
As at August 31, 2023, balance of RMB339,000 were mainly restricted as MR2023F8A31H &k AR% 339,000
the guarantee deposits for electricity supply. TEEZRNABEENHERISS -
22 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 22 BERBEEEY
As at August 31,
MA8H31H
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥TR ARETTT
Cash at banks RITIFR 958,518 772,720
Cash on hand EFRE 71 117
Cash at non-bank financial institutions RIERITEMEBHNIR S 26,910 31,008
985,499 803,845

Cash and cash equivalents of the Group are denominated in the following

REENR € KRS EBWA TG
B :

currencies:
As at August 31,
A8H31H

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBT T
RMB AR 980,703 796,802
HK$ BT 4,626 6,750
us$ ey 170 293
985,499 803,845
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B 5 Rk MY R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2023

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

22 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (Cont‘d)

(@)  The conversion of RMB denominated balances into foreign currencies
and the remittance of such foreign currencies denominated bank
balances and cash out of the PRC are subject to relevant rules and
regulations of foreign exchange control promulgated by the PRC

government.
(b)  As at August 31, 2023 and 2022, the Group’s maximum exposure to

credit risk was the carrying value of cash at banks and cash at non-
bank financial institutions mentioned above.

23 SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM

HE2023F8A31HILFE
(A BEAI  FTEZBEAAREZRTR)

22 RERREEEBY(E)
(a) ARBHELAHBRELINERBH
B [E H iz FINEHEZIRITEHR R
Be  BETHPRERARGZER
HNEE 28 Bl K2 28 31 o

(b) 7202349 K%20229F8A31H ' &
SEERNZAEERR A Ll
RITER R IERITE BEERIR
©ZREE °

23 BRAERKRGEE

Nominal value

Number of of ordinary
ordinary shares shares
HEREE HEREE
us$
£
At August 31, 2023 and 2022 - US$0.0001 each 720234 202248 A31H
—BA&EE0.0001%7T 2,000,000,000 200,000
Equivalent
Number of Nominal value nominal value
ordinary of ordinary of ordinary Share
Issued: 28T shares shares shares premium
EBREREE
EBRHE EEREE il RAD R IE
us$ RMB'000 RMB’'000
E ARMT T AR®T R
As at August 31, 2023 and 2022 20235 202268 H31H 1,200,000,000 120,000 820 602,368
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A4 ALY
B PF B 1% o= M 5
FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2023
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)
HZE2023F8A31HILEE
(BRZEIEHI - BB 2 BUNRERT)

24 RESERVES AND RETAINED EARNINGS

(a) Statutory surplus reserves
Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, the

212

Company's subsidiaries in the PRC should make appropriations

from after-tax profit to certain non-distributable reserve funds as

determined by the boards of directors of the relevant PRC subsidiaries.

These reserves include (i) statutory reserve fund of the limited liability

companies, (ii) general reserve funds of foreign invested enterprise

and (iii) development funds for the schools.

(i)

(i)

In accordance with the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC
and Articles of Association of the companies incorporated in
the PRC now comprising the Group (the “PRC Subsidiaries”),
the PRC Subsidiaries are required to appropriate 10% of the
annual statutory net profits, after offsetting any prior years’
losses as determined under the PRC accounting standards, to
the statutory reserves fund before distributing the net profit.
When the balance of the statutory reserves fund reaches 50%
of the registered capital of the PRC Subsidiaries, any further
appropriation is at the discretion of shareholders. The statutory
reserves fund can be used to offset prior years’ losses, if any,
and may be converted into share capital by issuing new shares
to shareholders in proportion to their existing shareholding,
provided that the remaining balance of the statutory reserves
fund after such issue is not less than 25% of registered capital.

Pursuant to the laws applicable to China’s Foreign Investment
Enterprises, the Company’s subsidiary that is foreign investment
enterprise in China has to make appropriations from its after-
tax profit (as determined under the PRC accounting standards)
to reserve funds including (i) general reserve fund, (i) enterprise
expansion fund and (iii) staff bonus and welfare fund. The
appropriation to the general reserve fund must be at least
10% of the after tax profits calculated in accordance with the
PRC accounting standards. Appropriation is not required if the
reserve fund has reached 50% of the registered capital of the
company. Appropriations to the other two reserve funds are at
the discretion of the company.

China Vocational Education Holdings Limited
2023 Annual Report

24 FERFRBER
SEERAEE
RIEP AR EEEER » AAA
MPEMNBARBRSEESERE

(a)

FEH

THERRNBRERZE T

ANIkEFERES - ZFRERR)
EREERRVEEAER ¢ ()M
RELE—RFEED i) BRER

HEg o

(i)

(i)

B B A BAE ROE R A
AN ER B 35 B BE T A AR B SR
R vAr /NS (=Rl N
ADKBEZERMAR - PEH
BB A R AR TR E st
HERIFHE B F AT S F (B
HATEFEEEIER) 10% #
FEREAES ABFAD
IERALH - SRE AW
2 3| b B} B 2 R REfHE A
50% R - AR A] BYIEIRE =
BREBR - AR ABEA
AR AEFEE BB
B)saB Rk RIZE B FR
LE BT M AR A
HERETE  EEARE
SHREITBIREMERD
25% °

ZIRP BN IR E X E A
MRRDER - BRHESNE
RELENARRMER A
AR E et EREE K
HMENEHSREFRES &2
() —MRFEREE  (DVRER
FEE R (i) g 8 fEAL AR F
e - BBEE—REHBTH
SHEELRIEDEGEER
PRETEBRTEN10% © i
EREDEIZARZEMER
#50% - HIHASIR - B)EE
EHMMERESNEEH
ZATBBRE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

24 RESERVES AND RETAINED EARNINGS (Cont’d)

(a)

(b)

(c)

Statutory surplus reserves (Cont’d)

(iii)  According to the relevant PRC laws and regulations, private
schools are required to appropriate to a development fund of
not less than 25% of the net profit or the annual increase of
net assets of the relevant schools as determined in accordance
with the PRC accounting standards. The development fund
is for the construction or maintenance of the school or
procurement or upgrading of educational equipment and not
available for distribution to shareholders. Upon incurring the
corresponding expenditure, an equivalent amount is transferred
from development fund to retained earnings.

Other reserves as at August 31, 2023 and 2022 mainly represented (i)
the combined paid-in capital and capital reserves of the PRC Operating
Entities and the student accommodation service of Huali Investment
transferred to the Group during the reorganization; (ii) the carrying
value of certain land use rights, buildings, and properties related to
the tuition services and student accommodation services that were in
possession and used by the Group and deemed contributed by the
Owner during the reorganization; and (iii) deemed contribution from
the owner of the Company arising from the differences between the
undiscounted amount of non-current interest-free borrowing due to
a related party and their fair value which are initially recognized by
taking into account the discount impact as disclosed in Note 33(d).

In accordance with the principal regulations governing private
education in China, a private school that does not require reasonable
returns cannot distribute dividends to its sponsors. As Huali College,
Huali Vocational College and Huali Technician College had elected
to not require reasonable returns, the retained earnings of the
PRC Operating Entities amounting to RMB2,382,592,000 and
RMB1,968,760,000 as at August 31, 2023 and 2022,
were not distributable to its legal owner.

respectively,

fEF 75 ¥R AR BT o

FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2023
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

(b= B1EHS)

HE2023F8A31HILFE
TR BUAARERT)

24 FHERREBRF(E)

(a)

EERRRE(E)

(i) BEPEAEREERERIER
RFEBRAGRTPBE ST E
AT E R F Sk B EFE
FERBIDR25%EEE
RE® - BREAEEE
NEIEER - KHEREN
HESAR  TAHIK TR
oo HEARZEE®R - £E
SCHAERECEERER
A e

(b) #2023 %202248 A31BMEM

(c)

REEEENTHLERENAF
BEREAREA HiRREARRE
BT ARENETRENSEER
BR%  (NEAMERAEEES &
EALHEESBEE NEARER
HERBLBLEEBRENET L
HERE BT RMENREE

R (iii) B 70 FE AN — 2 BB 75 2 FEAD
HEBERZ AN RN CEERENF
BEZENEZR(ZEAR VLR
2 aT R P EE33(d) PA R 2 T 3R %2
B)MELEZRIEARAER AL

BIERERFRRBBENEER
Bl AEREIE DR R
RAERBHADKRKE ° &
RELEBR FETBRESR K
ERAMEREETEREGEE
3R B 20234 202248 A
31 - FEZEEERES A A A
R #2,382,592,000 7t & A R ¥
1,968,760,000 7T K R B8 & F 7~ ]
MEEHREADIR °
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B PF B 1% o= M 5
FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2023
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)
HZE2023F8A31HILEE
(BRZEIEHI - BB 2 BUNRERT)

25 SUBSIDIARIES 25 MEAF
The Group's principal subsidiaries at August 31, 2023 are set out below. NEEMR2023F8A31HMEZKHBA A
Unless otherwise stated, they have share capital consisting solely of ordinary BHIWMT - REEHAN - BEATH
shares that are held directly by the Group, and the proportion of ownership RAEHAREBEEREN T BREK -
interests held equals the voting rights held by the Group. The country of RENMAEERL SN AEERFER
incorporation or registration is also their principal place of business. FORE o EMKI S EENBERTARE

MEREXME -

Attributable equity
Place of incorporation  Principal activities and Particulars of issued interest of the Group
Name of entity and kind of legal entity place of operation share capital rEBEERE
FMR LR As at August 31,
EELH ERRRER TEEBREEHE BRTRAFE R8A31H
2023 2022

2023% 20224

Directly held by the Company:

ARAIEEREA
Huali Investment Holding Limited Cayman Islands, limited Investment holding in Cayman US$50,000 100% 100%
liability Islands

Huali Investment Holding Limited REHE  BREME REHERERR 50,0005 7T

Indirectly held by the Company:

ARAREERE

Huali (HK) Education Investment Limited Hong Kong, limited liability Investment holding in Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100%

BREUHEREBRAR BE BREMR BERERR 10,000%7C

Guangzhou Huali Shengrong Education Technology ~ PRC, limited liability Investment holding in the PRC RMB300,000,000 100% 100%
Company Limited

EMEURRHERBARA A HE - BRRE PEIRE R AR300,000,0007T

Huali Shengda PRC, limited liability Investment holding in the PRC RMB100,000,000 100% 100%

EVHER E - ARAL PEREER AR#100,000,0007T

USA Huali Educational Services LLC USA, limited liability College in the USA US$50,000 100% 100%

USA Huali Educational Services LLC X8 - BREE e 50,0005 T

Haikou Huashi Investment Company Limited PRC, limited liability Investment holding in the PRC RMB100,000,000 100% 100%

BOTEREBRAA E - BREME REREER AR 100,000,007

Guangzhou Huashi Technology Company Limited PRC, limited liability Investment holding in the PRC RMB1,000,000 100% 100%

BMEBRBEERAR E - ARAL PEREER ARH1,000,0007C

Guangzhou Shigeshijie Motor Vehicle Driver Training ~ PRC, limited liability Motor vehicle driver training RMB5,000,000 100% 100%
School Company Limited school in the PRC

ENGTRERDERREEIERERAR HE - BREME G E b ARH5,000,0007
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N/ ALY
B OF B 1% o= M 5
FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2023
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)
B ZE2023F8A31HILEE
(BRZEIEHI - BB BUNRERT)

25 SUBSIDIARIES (Cont'd) 25 BT (&)
Attributable equity
Place of incorporation  Principal activities and Particulars of issued interest of the Group
Name of entity and kind of legal entity place of operation share capital AEEELRE
MR LR As at August 31,
BEEH ERRRRR FTEXBREEHE BRITRARE R8A31H
2023 2022
2023% 2022%
Guangdong Qinmian Property Management Company PRC, limited liability Property management service in RMB10,000,000 100% 100%
Limited the PRC
ERONNEERERAA hE - BRAE PR R EE RS AR 10,000,0007
Guangdong Huali Technology Company Limited PRC, limited liability Education support service RMB5,000,000 100% 100%
BEREZHHBERAA E - ARAE EETe ARH5,000,0007T
Guangdong Huashi Education Support Service PRC, limited liability Education support service RMB5,000,000 100% 100%
Company Limited
EREFANEHDRBEERLA HE - EREMR R BERE AR¥5,000,0007T
Guangdong Huashi Education Technology Investment  PRC, limited liability Investment holding in the PRC RMB200,000,000 100%  99.999%
Company Limited
BREMIERRREERAA TE - ARAE hEREER AR%200,000,0007
Guangdong Shengli Technology Company Limited PRC, limited liability Education support service RMB5,000,000 100% 100%
BEREBHRERAR HE - BEREMR HEBERE ARH5,000,0007
Hainan Huashi Investment Company Limited PRC, limited liability Investment holding in the PRC RMB100,000,000 100% 100%
BEEEMREBRAT] E - BRAE PERAER AR%100,000,0007
Jiangmen Huali Shengrong Education Technology PRC, limited liability Investment holding in the PRC RMB350,000,000 100% 100%
Company Limited
PR KB NRBRAR HE - ARAE hER AR AR%350,000,0007
Guangdong Zhipei Human Resource Services Company PRC, limited liability Education support service RMB5,000,000 100% 100%
Limited
BRBEANERRBEERAA HE - BREMR HEBE R AR¥5,000,0007T
Guangdong Mairong Catering Company Limited PRC, limited liability Education support service RMB5,000,000 100% 100%
BRERERERAA PE - ARAE EE T ARH5,000,0007T
Zhongshan Huali Vocational Skills Training School PRC, limited liability Education support service RMB100,000 100% =
Company Limited
Pl E VB R A R B R A HE - EREMR R BERE AR100,0007T
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A (3 = 3
& Of B %5 R 2= Bt &%

FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2023

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

HE2023F8A31HILFE
(A BEAI B ZBEAAREZRT)

25 SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d) 25

Name of entity

BEAE

Place of incorporation
and kind of legal entity
MR R
ERRRRR

Principal activities and
place of operation

FTEXBRELHE

B8 A = (4)

Particulars of issued
share capital

BRITRAFE

Attributable equity
interest of the Group
rEEELRE
As at August 31,
M8A31A

2023 2022
2023F 2022%

Guangzhou Feimi Shuzhi Media Company Limited

BMRREEERBERAT

Guangdong Huagi Enterprise Management Consulting

Company Limited

BEREZMOKXERFNERAT

Guangdong Huaxuan Enterprise Management

Consulting Company Limited

BEREEFPEEBRFAGRAR

Treated as subsidiaries under the Contractual

Arrangements:
RESHZHERAMBERR :

Huali College

L

Huali Vocational College

EVBRSR
Huali Technician College

EURAMZR
Huali Investment
EURE

PRC, limited liability
HE - BRRE
PRC, limited liability

hE - BREE
PRC, limited liability

E - BREE

PRC, private independent
college

HE - RIVBUZR

PRC, formal higher
education institution

HE - EESSHERE

PRC, private tertiary
vocational school

HE - REREBEER

PRC, limited liability

HE - BREE

Education support service
HEBBIRS

Education support service

HEBYRY

Education support service

HERYRY

College in the PRC

PEISE
College in the PRC

hEIEk
College in the PRC

PEISE
School Sponsor in the PRC
PESRERE

RMB1,000,000
AR#1,000,0007
RMB5,000,000

AK®5,000,0007T
RMBS5,000,000

AR 5,000,0007

RMB10,000,000

AR10,000,0007T
RMB10,000,000

AK¥10,000,0007%
RMB500,000

ARH500,0007T
RMB400,004,000
AK#400,004,0007

100% —
100% —
100% —
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%

Note (i): The entities shown above do not have official English names and their Chinese names
have been translated into English, for reference only, by the Directors on a best effort

basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

25 SUBSIDIARIES (Cont'd)
Significant restrictions

Cash and short-term deposits held in the PRC are subject to local exchange
control regulations. These regulations provide for restrictions on exporting

capital from those countries, other than through normal dividends.

The carrying amount of the assets included within the consolidated financial
statements to which these restrictions apply is RMB967,652,000 as at

August 31, 2023 (2022: RMB757,339,000).

26

ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES AND

A (3 = 3
& Of B %5 R 2= Bt 7%

FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2023
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

HE2023F8A31HILFE
(A BEAI  FTEZBEAAREZRTR)

B8 A = (4)

ERRE

FERERA IR S M E R E B HINE
B HIRGIAR o B BIRDIRE R BINZ
ZHREHHEANRS CRBERRSR
8h) e

25

M202368A310  ZERHEAX
AAGHMBRENEEREEAA
R # 967,652,000 C(2022F : AR
757,339,0007T) °

26 BEIEANAEMEMNRIEN

AMOUNTS DUE TO RELATED PARTIES K e B B 75 R OR
As at August 31,
A8H31H
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBTR ARETTT
Payable for construction and purchase of BRI EIEREE ENERRIA
non-current assets 251,746 224,472
Compensation payable for the Conversion of FE A~ EE 7 BB o SR A (B KR
Huali College 52,914 103,404
Government subsidies payable to students FE S22 A B BURT /R B 47,336 31,740
Payable for joint tuition support fees (Note (a)) EIRB N FIE (M) 36,277 61,207
Miscellaneous fee received from students (Note (b)) B UM (KisEb)) 20,362 24,623
Payable for property management service Y% IR AR TS FE N IR 17,227 16,540
Employee benefits payable FERTHE B 1@ 7 16,699 13,067
Interest payable JEATFIR 5,860 7,654
Payable for canteen suppliers FERTER = FE R 5 IE 4,729 2,260
Other taxes payable H i FE A I8 3,715 2,472
Auditor’s remuneration payable FERTZER BTN & 1,709 2,138
Network and telecommunication fee payable JEAS A48 KRN B 1,513 3,528
Others Efh 7,839 5,010
467,926 498,115
Less: non-current portion o SEEHIE S
Payable for construction of non-current assets ERIEME A EBMERFKIE (46,374) (133,005)
Compensation payable for the Conversion of Huali &1 35 37 23 f 88 28 4 (8 2008
College - (50,491)
Current portion B HE S 421,552 314,619
Amounts due to related parties (Note 33(d)) JE A<t At 75 R (B 52 33(d))
— Current —EH 28,082 60,648
— Non-Current —FEH 35,627 -
63,709 60,648
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A4 ALY
B PF B 1% o= M 5
FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2023
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)
HZE2023F8A31HILEE
(BRZEIEHI - BB 2 BUNRERT)

26 ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES AND 26
AMOUNTS DUE TO RELATED PARTIES (Cont’d)

(@) As at August 31, 2023 and 2022, the aging of the payable for joint tuition support fees
was within one year.

(b) The amounts represent the miscellaneous fee received from students which would be
paid out by the Group on behalf of students.

(c) As at August 31, 2023 and 2022, the fair values of current accruals and other payables
and current amounts due to related parties approximated their carrying amounts due to
their short-term maturities.

(d) As at August 31, 2023 and 2022, the non-current accruals and other payables and non-
current amounts due to related parties were initially recognized at fair value at discount
rate available to the Group and subsequently measured at amortized cost using the
effective interest rate method.

27 CONTRACT LIABILITIES 27

The Group has recognized the following revenue-related contract liabilities:

Pt B R R H AR 5RIE
K BB BR R 75 RROE (&)

(a) R2023F %2022 8A31H - EEEBREN
FIEH BRI DR —F

(b) ERFBEERBENRE - HAAEE
REBEZ ©

(c) 20234 K%2022F8 318 * &
A R EL A A FROE B E A FE AT R
WAFEREAREELSE @ REA
HEsE -

Hipest 8
Bt 73 ROR
= B R

(d) MR2023F K%2022F8A31H « IEE BT
B AR I H At FE {5 7X08 B2 IF & HA E A A Bt
RENPEAE B A BENITREURATF
BHER - HEERAERTNEERERRA

e -

BHERE
AEEERANTRKFAMHAE OB
f :

As at August 31,

HA8H31H
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBTIT
Contract liabilities related to tuition fees HEBHEENGNAE 765,045 617,818
Contract liabilities related to boarding fees HEFEEENENEE 83,861 71,339
Others EAh 9,922 =
858,828 689,157
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A (3 = 3
& Of B %5 R 2= Bt 7%

FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2023
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

HE2023F8A31HILFE
(A BEAI  FTEZBEAAREZRTR)

27 SRNERE(HE)

(a) BeNREAENCER
e 2
TR TREE2023F £2022568H
NBLFEABEEAVAENE
RS

27 CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Cont’d)
(a) Revenue recognized in relation to contract liabilities
The following table shows how much of the revenue recognized for
the years ended August 31, 2023 and 2022 related to carried-forward

contract liabilities:

Year ended August 31,

HZESA3MHLEE
2023 2022
2023F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARBFIT
Revenue recognized that was included in FHETAGHNBERENEER K
the balance of contract liabilities at the
beginning of the year
— Tuition fees —2%5 617,818 513,639
- Boarding fees —HEE 71,339 54,127
689,157 567,766

(b) REITEHN

As at August 31,

(b) Unsatisfied contracts

A8H31H
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TR ARBFT

Expected to be recognized within one year  TEEIR —F AR

— Tuition fees —82% 765,045 617,818
— Boarding fees —ZGEE 83,861 71,339
— Others — HAh 9,922 =
858,828 689,157
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A4 ALY
B PF B 1% o= M 5
FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2023
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)
HZE2023F8A31HILEE
(BRZEIEHI - BB 2 BUNRERT)

28 BORROWINGS 28 AR
As at August 31,
A8H31H
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥T AR T T
Current: WE
— Secured bank borrowings — B EFRITIER 392,043 279,718
Non-current: IERE
— Secured bank borrowings — BEBRITER 1,638,017 1,739,701
— Unsecured other borrowings due to a related — FES A 77 0 M HE AR A M fE 5k
party (Note 33(d)) (FfFsE33(d)) 415,718 430,000
2,053,735 2,169,701
Total borrowings CES L 2,445,778 2,449,419

(@)  As at August 31, 2023 and 2022, bank borrowings were pledged by
the equity interests of certain group entities and the charging right of

the service fees owned by a group entity according to the Contractual

Arrangements.

(b)  The weighted average effective interest rates (per annum) were as

follows:

2023 20228 H31H - 1Rig
BRRT - RITEFAETREE
BoORER -—HEEEREFHR
BEWEREEER -

IFEFHEREF RN

As at August 31,

M"8H31H
2023 2022
20234 20224
Bank borrowings HRATE 4.58% 4.66%
Other borrowings due to a related party JE 1T A B O &9 EL At 4B 5K 4.30% 4.30%
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B 5 Rk MY R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2023

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

28 BORROWINGS (Cont’d)

(@

The maturity dates of the borrowings were analyzed as follows:

HZE2023F8HA31HLEFE

(b= HEHI  TEEEAARERT)

28 B ()

(0 EREHFALFMOT :

As at August 31,

M8A31H
2023 2022
2023 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARETT
Less than 1 year DIE 392,043 279,718
1 to 2 years 1824 440,440 697,378
2 to 5 years 2E5F 937,857 891,264
Over 5 years SEME 675,438 581,059
2,445,778 2,449,419

As at August 31, 2023 and 2022, the carrying amount for the current
bank borrowings approximated their fair values because of their short
term maturities. The carrying amount for non-current bank borrowings
approximated their fair values as they were carried at floating interest
rates.

As at August 31, 2023, other borrowings due to a related party were
interest-free pursuant to a series of agreements as disclosed in Note
33(d) and were initially recognized at fair value of RMB407,262,000
at discount rate of 4.30% per annum and subsequently measured at
amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. As at August
31, 2023, their amortized cost were RMB415,718,000.

As at August 31, 2022, other borrowings due to a related party were
carried at fixed interest rate of 4.30% per annum and their carrying
amount approximated their fair values as their borrowing rate is close

to current market rate.

2023 20228 H31H - BB
MEBRITRERFHE - WERE(E
HENFERE - ARIERBRITE
FONFENF KRGS - MERE(E R
RNFERE °

202398 A318  RIEMFE33(d)
R BB — Ro\ % - R S
MEMERS AR S - VIBERRA
FEAARKA07,262,0007T @ F
WK B430% @ HERABEE
PRI B NG 2 © 7R2023
F8A31H ' HEHBKAAARE
415,718,0007T ©

202248 A318 @ B RAE

B Ah & TR IR E FE K 4.30% 5T
B AR EE AR E TS
ME - WEEEEREQAFER

e
o
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B 015 R Y R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2023

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

HE2023F8A31HILFE
(A BEAI B ZBEAAREZRT)

28

29

222

BORROWINGS (Cont‘d)

28

(e)  As at August 31, 2023, other than bank borrowing of RMB109,846,000
(2022: RMB118,514,000) was denominated in HK$, all other borrowings

of the Group were denominated in RMB.

DEFERRED INCOME TAX

G (A&

R2023F8A31H  BRARME
109,846,000 7T 9 R 17 {& (2022
& AR%118,514,0007T) AT
FHES - AEB B EMETIAA
REEEHE -

29 EZEFBH

The analysis of deferred income tax liabilities is as follows:

BEFEHREEITIT

As at August 31,

A8H31H
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB'000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARBT T
Deferred income tax assets: EEFRBHEE :
— to be recovered after more than 12 months — 1R 1218 A SA_E BB Uk ] 867 120
- to be recovered within 12 months —#51218 A Rk e 44 -
— Set-off of deferred tax liabilities pursuant to — IRIFHEHE R EEIHELETIBAE
set-off provisions (771) -
140 120
Deferred income tax liabilities: EEFTEHREME :
— to be recovered by more than 12 months — 1R 248 A LA _EERRE Y [E] 49,744 47,290
— to be recovered within 12 months — #5218 A Rk e 59 -
— Set-off of deferred tax liabilities pursuant to —RIBHERERIHELEHIBAE
set-off provisions (771) -
49,032 47,290
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A (3 = 3
& Of B %5 R 2= Bt 7%

FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2023
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

HE2023F8A31HILFE
(A BEAI  FTEZBEAAREZRTR)

29 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Cont’d)

The movement in deferred income tax assets and liabilities during the years
ended 31 August 2023 and 2022, was as follows:

29 ELEFTBH(E)
HE2023F K2022468A31B ILFE -
FIEFSHEERABZESHMT ¢

Tax losses Lease liabilities Total
HIEEE HEAE #Et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Deferred tax assets BLEHEEE ARBTT AR®TT ARBT T
As at September 1, 2022 7"2022F9H1H 120 - 120
Addition NE - 780 780
Credited/(charged) to profit or loss st AEzE (B BER) 20 (9) 11
As at August 31, 2023 7A202358H31H 140 771 911
As at September 1, 2021 7A202159H81A = = =
Credited to profit or loss FFABE®E 120 - 120
As at August 31, 2022 7202248 A31H 120 - 120
Withholding
tax
recognized for
Fair value Timing  the services
gain of differences on income
investment recognition of earned by  Right-of-use
properties rental income WFOE assets Total
RAEBE
ERRN
REME BREE  RBRAER
AYERE WANEBEZE MRS ERREE st
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB000
Deferred tax liabilities EEHEEE ARBTF T ARET NS AR®T R ARET T
As at September 1, 2022 7#2022%9A1A 37,146 5,076 5,068 - 47,290
Addition RE - - - 780 780
Charged/(credited) to profit or loss  HigzNk (5t ABz) 25 251 1,464 (7 1,733
As at August 31, 2023 1#202358A31H 37171 5,327 6,532 773 49,803
As at September 1, 2021 7#20214981R 36,918 4,770 2,144 - 43,832
Charged to profit or loss BiERMGK 50 306 2,924 = 3,280
Charged to other comprehensive B2 A sk (1)
income (Note 11) 178 - - - 178
As at August 31, 2022 1#202268H31A 37,146 5,076 5,068 - 47,290
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A4 ALY
B PF B 1% o= M 5
FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2023
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)
HZE2023F8A31HILEE
(BRZEIEHI - BB 2 BUNRERT)

29 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Cont‘d) 29 REFEFRSH(E)
As at August 31, 2023 and 2022, the Group did not recognize deferred 2023 202268 A31H » "EE K
income tax assets in respect of tax losses amounted to RMB816,000 and HeEH R A/ARES16,000T AR
RMB1,430,000. As at August 31, 2023 and 2022, the unused tax losses 1,430,000 0 K B IE ES 1B MERIEEFT 15
amounting to RMB6,710,000 and RMB6,296,000 can be carried forward HEE - R2023F &202248H318 -
against future taxable income under the PRC CIT Law and these tax losses SR AARYE,710,0007T KA R
will expire after 2028 and 2027 respectively. 6,296,000 7T 8 K B) A 74 T8 5 18 1R &
B 1 2£ P 15 50 A A 4% 85 45 8 R SR B AR B
WA ZERBERD BN 20285F K
20271 EIH -
30 CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS 30 REMBRE
Year ended August 31,
HZESH3MHILEE
2023 2022
2023F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBTT ARBFIT
Profit before income tax FRi8%E A1 A 78 398,222 278,944
Adjustments for: FATSIEELFAE :
— Depreciation of property, plant and equipment W% - BEREETE
(Note 15) (MtzE15) 140,432 115,298
— Interest expenses on borrowings and long-term —ERRRBAEN KBNS H
payables and net exchange losses on bank A RERITE KA E K 518
borrowings less interest expenses capitalized FERMEERMEAME - B
in property, plant and equipment (Note 10) B REENFIEAXZ
(BFaE10) 100,648 106,408
— Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 14) —(FREEENE (HE14) 38,775 36,486
— Amortization of intangible assets (Note 17) —ERE EEHE(ME17) 6,451 6,167
— Imputed interest expenses on discount of — PN EE N S P AR AR (E TR
compensation payable for the Conversion of HEBIRFEFAL
Huali College (Note 10) (FF3E10) 2,840 4,736
— Losses on disposals of property, plant and —HEME  BERZEARE
equipment and intangible assets(Note 7) R A ER R (MEE7) 426 466
— Net exchange losses/(gains) (Note 7) — BN EE (e ) FE
(fHE7) 145 (482)
— Interest expense for lease liabilities (Note 14) —HEaENFERZ (MiE14) 7 -
— Fair value gains on investment properties — AN TFEMNE (HET7)
(Note 7) (100) (200)

224

— Interest income on other financial assets at

amortized cost

—IREBR AR E 2 FE
ERHBHA
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B 5 Rk MY R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2023
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

HE2023F8A31HILFE
(A BEAI  FTEZBEAAREZRTR)

30 CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS (Cont’d) 30 KEFABBRE(E)

Year ended August 31,

BZE8H31HLFE
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTR ARKETT

Operating profit before changes in working EEESEHANKSERE
capital: 687,846 547,794

Changes in working capital LEE T
— Contract liabilities —ABHEaRE 169,671 121,391
— Trade and other receivables —B 5 K H thpEGRIE 9,756 (12,390)
— Decrease in amounts due from related parties — e L B B 5 TR IE R 571 9,943
— Prepayments — B FRIE (742) (4,374)
— Restricted cash —XRHIRE (980) 10,803
— Increase in amounts due to related parties —JE {5} B 7 RIEIE AN (3,683) (122)
— Deferred revenue —iRE W (6,956) 6,985
— Accruals and other payables —JEET B A R A b E T RIE (61,469) (46,613)

Cash generated from operations REMBRE 794,014 633,417
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A4 ALY
B PF B 1% o= M 5
FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2023
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)
HZE2023F8A31HILEE
(BRZEIEHI - BB 2 BUNRERT)

30 CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS (Cont‘d) 30 &
(a) MEEZHELEBZYIR

226

(a) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing

EREERE(#E)

activities
Non-cash movement
*RE48
Unrealized  Imputed
September  Additions  Discount exchange interest Cash Cash August
1,202 of leases impact loss recognized inflows outflows 31,2023
2022% AER 535S 2023%
9A1R  HERN FR¥E ENFR  HEAS RERA  ReRE  8ANA
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTR ARMTR ARMTR ARMTR ARBTR ARBTR AR¥TR ARETR
Bank borrowings FITER 2,019,419 - - 4,925 2212 245,954 (242,450) 2,030,060
Other borrowings due to a related party JE I BB 7 M A At 3R 430,000 - (13739) - 8,456 71,000 (20,0000 415718
Lease Liabilities HEAR - 3,383 - - 7 - (170) 3,220
Liabilities from financing activities RERDELNER 2,449,419 3383 (73,739) 4,925 10,675 316,954  (262,620) 2,448,998
Non-cash movement
FREEH
September Imputed Unrealized Cash August
1, 2021 interest  exchange loss inflows ~ Cash outflows 31,2022
AEH 20225
202159418 fEEME EXBR RERA ARt 8A31H
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
N S N S N S ARBTIT ARBFTT ARBFIT
Bank borrowings RITIER 1,983,385 2,212 6,650 381,639 (354,467) 2,019,419
Other borrowings due to a related party A BEBE BV E-fto 5% 337,000 - - 123,000 (30,000) 430,000
Liabilities from financing activities BAFIEENBE 2,320,385 2,212 6,650 504,639 (384,467) 2,449,419
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B 5 Rk MY R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2023
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

HE2023F8A31HILFE
(A BEAI  FTEZBEAAREZRTR)

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 31 EXERE
As at August 31, 2023 and 2022, the Group had the following capital 1R2023F %2022F8A31H * X&EH
commitments on construction and purchase of property, plant and ATEZREEYE BERZREHER
equipment: A
As at August 31,
M"8H31H
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥TR ARBFIT
Contracted but not provided for BEETAVE R 217,157 627,237
OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS 32 REHEERIE
As lessor EREBEA
The Group leased its investment properties to a related party as school and AEBERBLEEHELHD RIS IEEWZE
third parties as stores respectively, certain space to related parties as offices LA TR s REER REETE=7 R
and certain space to a telecommunication company as signal stations under {EIGEE  #8 3 T 51 B T R 5 BB 1E
operating lease arrangements, with leases negotiated for terms ranging from AERETHMEETEEARBERSR
one years to twenty years. ik - HEBLHBEN F1FEE204F -
As at August 31, 2023 and 2022, the Group had total future minimum lease M2023F K% 202268 A31H + RIFHEM
receivables under non-cancellable operating leases with its tenants falling PH A HEECEHE  NEER T
due as follows: MR ER R R R(EEW R S AR T ¢
As at August 31,
MA8H31H
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥T ARETTT
Less than 1 year EYNIES 10,634 10,026
1 to 5 years 1Z85%F 33,202 35,340
Over 5 years S5F LA E 73,007 80,656
116,843 126,022
RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 33 BHARS

The ultimate holding company of the Company is HL-Diamond. The Directors
consider the ultimate controlling party to be Mr. Zhang Zhifeng, who is also
the executive director and chairman of the Company.

KR AR &R A R AHL-Diamond °
EERA  RERERFAREELA -
BB ABINRATESRER -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A4 ALY
B PF B 1% o= M 5
FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2023
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)
HZE2023F8A31HILEE
(BRZEIEHI - BB 2 BUNRERT)

33 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d) 33 BBARS (&)

(a) Names and relationships with related parties (a) BABES MV BRTBRER
The following companies and individuals are related parties of the THIA A KRB A R EE2023F &
Group that had balances and/or transactions with the Group during 20228 A31HIEFEANEANER
the years ended August 31, 2023 and 2022. BB R HR S A E R

5 e
Name of related parties Relationship with the Group
S A8 HAREE R IER
Mr. Zhang Zhifeng Controlling shareholder, the Owner
REEEE TRRARER - A A
Guangdong Hualiyuan Technology Company Limited (“Hualiyuan A Company controlled by the Owner
Technology”) and its subsidiaries (Note (i))

BRZEERRAR AR (TELER ) R EME AT () H#EE AEGBN AR
Guangzhou Lingmei Life Service Co., Ltd (“Lingmei Life Service”) (Note (i)) A Company controlled by the Owner
BEINEE A E RIS BIR A R ([ BREERE ) (i) BB AEHIEB AR
Huali Bilingual School of Yunfu (Yun’an District) A Company controlled by the Owner

("Yunfu Bilingual School”)

(Former name: Huali Bilingual Primary School of Yunfu (Yun'an District))

(Note (i)
EENEREEYFENER(EIPEXER]) AR A A
(A4 : EEMEREEYHECNE) (M)
Guangdong Huali Construction Co., Ltd. and its subsidiaries A Company controlled by the Owner

("Huali Construction and its subsidiaries”) (Note (i)
FEREVELAGRARTLAMNBEAR([ELZEREMB AR ) (M) BB AZEGIN AR
Guangdong Huali Real Estate Group Co., Ltd. (“"Huali Real Estate”) (Note (i)) A Company controlled by the Owner

BREMESERR AR (TELmE ) (FEE>)) HEEB AN AR

Note (): The entities shown above do not have official English names and their Chinese BHEEG) : P By EER R - 2
names have been translated into English, for reference only, by the Directors HAYEZBHREERFABNIERX
on a best effort basis. EIEEE  BH2E -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B 5 Rk MY R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2023
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

HE2023F8A31HILFE
(A BEAI  FTEZBEAAREZRTR)

33 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d) 33 BHMARS (&)
(b) Significant transactions with related parties (b) HEHAINEARS
Year ended August 31,
BE8AMHLEE
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%TR AREFTT
Rental income WA
— Yunfu Bilingual School (i) — ZF AR SR () 6,748 6,748
Rental expenses e
— Hualiyuan Technology —E 7 ERH - 6,938
Construction in progress incurred TR
— Huali Construction and its subsidiaries —EREREHWE A 182,011 35,244
Year ended August 31,
HESH3MIAILLEE
2023 2022
2023F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AREFTT
Service income PR A5 A
— Huali Construction and its subsidiaries —EVEEREWEBE QA 120 =
Loans from a related party B TR R E R
— Huali Construction and its subsidiaries (i) — ZEN7 AR N EL B A R(ii) 71,000 123,000
Repayment of loans from a related party B T BB E R
— Huali Construction and its subsidiaries (i) — 2E N7 R AR % LB A F(ii) 20,000 30,000
Interest expenses paid or payables BB
— Huali Construction and its subsidiaries (i) — — #7258 & H B 2 T)(ii) 9,178 18,290
Repayment of cash advances from a related — BEf 5 (EER S BK
party
— Lingmei Life Service — EEEE R - 4,958
Cash advances from a related party B IR 2 B
— Huali Construction and its subsidiaries —EREREWE QA - 120

PEBEREERER DA 229
2023 FERE



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

VA AN
B 7% o= I aE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2023
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)
HZE2023F8A31HILEE
(BRZEIEHI - BB 2 BUNRERT)

33 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d) 33
(b) Significant transactions with related parties (Cont’d)
(i) Certain Group's investment properties were leased to a related party for rental

income amounting to RMB6,748,000 during the years ended August 31, 2023
(2022: RMB6,748,000).

(ii) During the year ended August 31, 2023, the Group obtained two interest-
free borrowings totally amounting to RMB71,000,000 (2022: one interest-
bearing borrowings amounting to RMB123,000,000) from a subsidiary of Huali
Construction and repaid certain amount of these borrowings totally amounting
to RMB20,000,000 (2022: RMB30,000,000).

(c) Key management compensation
Key management compensation for the years ended August 31, 2023
and 2022, other than those relating to the emoluments of directors
being disclosed in Note 35, are set out below:

BB X 5 (&)
(b) Eﬁiﬁﬁﬂfﬁﬁﬁikﬁ%(ﬁs)

(c)

(ii)

AEEETREMEHRHAT R
BBt - B E=2023F8A31HIEF
EmfELWBA R ARKE6,748,000
7t(20229F : AR¥6,748,0007T) °

HZE2023F8A31AILEFEE -
AEBBEEVREN—HNEBER
RAIESMELRBRAZXARKE
71,000,00075(20224 : —%5 8
A E#123,000,0007T) * ¥ E
BEZSERANETEHEAEAR
#20,000,0007C(20224F : AR
30,000,0007T) ©

TEEE A SR
H E2023F M 202268 A31H It
FE  BRENANGCHEENESHE

S - EE

EEABHRBEINIT

Year ended August 31,

BZE8H3MALEE
2023 2022
2023F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥TR ARETTT
Wages, salaries and bonuses Iﬁ e MACAT 1,144 1,406
Contributions to pension plans RIKNEET B 81 31
Welfare, medical and other expenses B - EEREMRS 325 65
1,550 1,502
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

fEF 75 ¥R AR BT o

FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2023

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

33 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)
(d) Balances with related parties

HE2023F8A31HILFE
(A BEAI  FTEZBEAAREZRTR)

33 BBMARS (&)
(d) EEEAEETS VARR

As at August 31,

A8H31H
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBTIT
Amounts due from related parties FEUS BB 75 TR
— Yunfu Bilingual School (i) f/%CPEQX——f—K&(i) 9,166 10,165
— Hualiyuan Technology (iii) — 27 BB (ii) 1,262 834
10,428 10,999
Amounts due to related parties JE A<t st 75 IR
— Huali Construction and its subsidiaries (i) ~ —ZE37 35 &EW% 60,489 53,745
— Yunfu Bilingual School(i) — EF AR BRI 3,220 3,220
- Hualiyuan Technology —E YRR - 3,663
— Huali Real Estate —EHE - 20
63,709 60,648
Other borrowings E A &R
— Huali Construction and its subsidiaries (iv) —EEN B H B A F(iv) 415,718 430,000
Prepayment to a related party for construction FLiEZEIE B 2% TE (T RIEE 5 508
of expansion projects
— Huali Construction and its subsidiaries (i)  —ZE7 258 K H B A 7(ii) 36,329 28,446
Deferred revenue RE W e
— Huali Construction and its subsidiaries —EVREERENB AR - 120

(i) As at August 31, 2023 and 2022, amounts due from Yunfu Bilingual School
was trade in nature and represented receivables in respect of rental income of
investment properties.

As at August 31, 2023 and 2022, amounts due to Yunfu Bilingual School
was trade in nature, non-interest bearing and represented deposit payables in
respect of investment properties.

(ii) As at August 31, 2023 and 2022, amounts due to Huali Construction and
its subsidiaries was trade in nature, non-interest bearing, and payables for
construction of expansion projects amounting to RMB24,862,000 (2022:
RMB25,233,000) and interests payable amounting to RMB35,627,000 (2022:
RMB28,512,000) incurred from the other borrowings.

As at August 31, 2023, prepayment to a related party represented prepayment
to Huali Construction and its subsidiaries for the expansion projects in Jiangmen
campus (2022: same).

(i) M2023F %2022 8HA318 ' &
KWEFHREXBROFIERE F M
B REBREYMEHRSWANE
WRIE

20234 K% 202248 A31H * fE
NEFREXBROFIARE F M
Z - R8  REBREMENES

(i) R2023F %2022 8HA318 ' &
NETRERENRBARNKES
BHME 25 BEREAE
RENRIE AR AR 24,862,000
(2022 % : AR % 25,233,000
) EtEREENEMFER
A R # 35,627,000 75(2022 4 :
28,512,0007T) °

%2023¢8ﬂ31 B - BN

IEE%}IF'EHKE%LIEE?EHi
4%?&&3[@% (2022
F : MER) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A4 ALY
B PF B 1% o= M 5
FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2023
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)
HZE2023F8A31HILEE
(BRZEIEHI - BB 2 BUNRERT)

33 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)
(d) Balances with related parties (Cont’d)

232

(iii)

(iv)

Pursuant to the agreement entered into between the Group and Hualiyuan
Technology on September 9, 2022, Hualiyuan Technology agreed to provide
boarding service to students in Yunfu campus in the academic year of 2023,
and the Group is responsible for collecting boarding fees from students on
behalf of Hualiyuan Technology.

During the year ended August 31, 2023, the Group collected boarding fees
amounting to RMB24,681,000 (2022: nil) from students in Yunfu campus and
paid RMB23,091,000 (2022: nil) to Hualiyuan Technology, which resulted in
the amounts due to Hualiyuan Technology amounting to RMB1,590,000 as at
August 31, 2023.

As at August 31, 2023, amounts due from Hualiyuan Technology represented
receivables balance for utilities incurred by Hualiyuan Technology for providing
boarding service to students in Yunfu Campus and paid by the Group on
behalf of Hualiyuan Technology amounting to RMB2,852,000 and was partially
offset by aforementioned amounts due to Hualiyuan Technology amounting to
RMB1,590,000.

Pursuant to a series of agreements entered into between the Group and a
subsidiary of Huali Construction, the borrowings from the subsidiary of Huali
Construction amounting to RMB481,000,000 were interest-free since March 1,
2023 and their maturity dates were extended for 3 years. Such balances were
initially recognized at fair value of RMB407,262,000 at discount rate of 4.30%
per annum. Besides, the interest payable balance incurred before March 1, 2023
amounting to RMB37,690,000 were extended to December 31, 2024. The total
imputed interest of RMB76,545,000 was treated as deemed contribution from
the owner of the Company.

As at August 31, 2023, the borrowings due to the subsidiary of Huali
Construction were carried at amortised cost amounting to RMB415,718,000,
among which RMB217,785,000 was repayable on December 9, 2026,
RMB49,392,000 was repayable on January 24, 2027, RMB102,911,000 was
repayable on November 24, 2027, RMB18,890,000 was repayable on March 6,
2026 and RMB26,740,000 was repayable on May 24, 2026.

As at August 31, 2023 and 2022, the carrying amounts of balances with related
parties appropriate their fair values and were denominated in RMB.
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33 BBMARS (&)
(d) EEEREETS WAAER(AF)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

RIBA R E EE T E R XN 2022F
9AIRFT M » FEERHRA
BR20238FMEFRENBLELR
HHERY - MAEBREREL
BEMRMBEERREEE

HZE2023F8A31BLLEE - &
SEREFREMNZ2EKRNER
# AR #24,681,0007T(20224 :
#) YAETEMEIFARE
23,091,00075 (20224 « #) » #if
BHN202348A31 BEMNELE
BH%IE & AR #1,590,0007T °

M202348A318 - fElkE T EE
RAEEEVEREAT IREE
EREEEREMEE W HAAER
RE T BRI HKE B EKK
B AR %2,852,0007T ¢ I 2P
S i EMNETERERBEAR
#1,590,000 7T FTK S ©

B IR AN £ B B2 25 37 2 5K — R T U
RAGI LW — R - REE
SEEZHEARMNERARE
481,000,0007T B 202343 A18
BEB HIBATER=F-
REREBVTERBRATEAR
#407,262,0007C © EH B R A
4.30% ° BEAN - 7R2023F3 A1
HZREEMERFIEABRAR
#37,690,000 T B EHI E 2024 F
12A31H - AEANSBBEARK
76,545,000 TH R BARRARIEE A
L& -

MR202348H318 » EftETE
A NG R RS YN
HER - @A ARKA415,718,000
7T HA AR¥217,785,00070 8
MR20265 12 A9BEE - AR
49,392,000 7T ZHP 202741 A 24
AfEE - AR%102,911,0007T8
2027411248 1EE - AR
18,890,0007T 787420263 A6 H
g & AR%26,740,0007T/8RA
20265 A24R1{EE °

#2023 K% 202248 A31H + £1f
Bt M AR BREE B E A EME
A WAARBEEHE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

N/ ALY

B OF B 1% o= M 5
FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2023
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)
B ZE2023F8A31HILEE
(BRZEIEHI - BB BUNRERT)

34 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF

THE COMPANY

34 gﬂﬂ‘ﬁéﬁﬁ%&ﬁﬁﬁ

As at August 31,

HA8H31H
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREFTT
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets ERENEE
Investment in a subsidiary HEWB AR - -
Current assets RENEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE Y B B A B IR 664,868 636,218
Restricted cash ZRHIRE 2,084 1,443
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBLEE 17,837 44,924
684,789 682,585
Total assets HMEE 684,789 682,585
EQUITY fEm
Equity attributable to owners of the Company XA T#HE ARLER
Share capital and share premium A& K B 1) (B 603,188 603,188
Accumulated losses RErEE (101,545) (104,452)
Total equity mrER 501,643 498,736
Liabilities aE
Non-current liabilities FRBER
Borrowings &k - 103,541
Current liabilities REBaE
Accruals and other payables FEET & FA R H A FE T 5RIE 2,429 2,752
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEIBI B A RIZRIA 72,676 66,599
Borrowings (R 108,041 10,957
183,146 80,308
Total liabilities wes 183,146 183,849
Total equity and liabilities Rk EEAE 684,789 682,585

The balance sheet of the Company was approved by the Board of Directors

on November 27, 2023 and was signed on its behalf.

Zhang Zhifeng
REE

Director

EF

AAREEBBEREHEZTZR
2023F 11 A27B AL NRKRES

BEE -

Ye Yaming
-3/
Director

EF

TEBFEHREERARAE 233

2023 FERE



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B 015 R Y R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2023

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

HE2023F8A31HILFE
(A BEAI B ZBEAAREZRT)

34 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF

THE COMPANY (Cont‘d)

3 ARREERBRERZRSE
B (&)

Accumulated losses

E-S
RMB’000
AR¥TR

As at September 1, 2021 7A2021F981H (118,503)
Gain for the year FEWE 14,051
As at August 31, 2022 7202268 H31H (104,452)
As at September 1, 2022 1202259418 (104,452)
Gain for the year FEWE= 2,907
As at August 31, 2023 }20234%8H31H (101,545)

35 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

The remuneration of each director borne by the Group for the year
ended August 31, 2023 is set out below:

234

35 EEFENRESR
(a) EERFETHAENS
[}
HZE2023F8A31HILFEARER
AENSESHFMEIET ¢

Employer’s
contribution to Allowances
a retirement and other
Name #H Fee  Basic salaries benefit scheme benefits Total
EXHRAER
ne EXxge SEMGR ZRREMERN @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT R ARBT R ARBT T ARBT R AR®T R
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Zhang Zhifeng (i) R LAE() - 2,179 16 158 2,353
Mr. Ye Yaming (ii) £ (f) - 240 - - 240
Mr. Zou Kang (i) BBER T (i) - 650 31 30 711
Mr. Zhang Yude (iv) SRARTE 2 A (1v) - 1,440 - - 1,440
Independent Non-executive BYFHTES
Directors
Mr. Yang Ying (v) HEEE(WV) 200 - - - 200
Mr. Ding Yi (v) THREEW) 200 - - - 200
Ms Chiu Lai Kuen Susanna MH JP (v) #4822 MH JP (v) 275 - - - 275
675 4,509 47 188 5,419
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A (3 = 3

& Of B %5 R 2= Bt 7%
FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2023
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

35 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(Cont’d)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (Cont’d)

The remuneration of each director borne by the Group for the year
ended August 31, 2022 is set out below:

HZE2023F8HA31HLEFE

(b= HEHI  TEEEAARERT)

35 EEREAMNNER(A)

(a) EEREETBRASHH
(&)
2202248 A31 A ILFEAEE
AR EEFHHRIINT

Employer's
contribution to

a retirement

Allowances and

Name ez Fee Basic salaries  benefit scheme  other benefits Total
EXEHRIKEF
we ERES Bl 2R R EMER HEr
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBTT ARETT ARETT AREFT
Executive Directors HTES
Mr. Zhang Zhifeng RIS E - 2,029 16 158 2,203
Mr. Ye Yaming EReRLE - 277 - 6 283
Mr. Zou Kang BEREE - 711 19 29 759
Mr. Ma Zhixiong BEERE - 77 4 10 91
Mr. Zhang Yude RIAEEE - 439 - - 439
Non-Executive Directors FHTES
Mr. Zhang Yude RIAEEE - 123 - - 123
Independent Non-executive BUFHTES
Directors
Mr. Yang Ying BREE 200 - - - 200
Mr. Ding Yi THkE 200 - - - 200
Ms Chiu Lai Kuen Susanna MH JP BB L EMH JP 262 = - = 262
662 3,656 39 203 4,560
(i) Mr. Zhang Zhifeng was appointed as an executive director of the Company on (i) SRE & AR 20165F5 B24 B EE
May 24, 2016. ERARBIHITESE
(ii) Mr. Ye Yaming was appointed as an executive director of the Company on (ii) HERPALEENR2017F 128 18H %
December 18, 2017. ZERKRATITES -
(i) The Company appointed Mr. Ma Zhixiong as an executive director from January (iii) ARARIB2021F1A208REES

(iv)

20, 2021 and replaced with Mr. Zou Kang on November 19, 2021.

Mr. Zhang Yude was appointed as a non-executive director of the Company
on December 18, 2017, and re-designated from a non-executive director to an
executive director on November 19, 2021.

Mr. Yang Ying and Mr. Ding Yi were appointed as the Company’s independent
non-executive directors on August 16, 2019, and Ms Chiu Lai Kuen Susanna MH
JP was appointed as an independent non-executive director and the chairman of
the audit committee on July 17, 2020.

(iv)

(v)

THEERNITES - WHR2021F
11 A19H AR LB -

RBELEER2017F12A18HE
ZEARRRAFNITESE - WK
2021F 11 A19B HIERTES A
ERBITESE -

BEEERT HRFLEN2019F8 A
16 B BEZRERADRBIUIEANTE
= BMEBELZLTMH JPR202057
R17BEZERBILIFNTESER
ERZEEER -

PEBEREERER DA 235
2023 FERE



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A4 ALY
B OF B 15 R 2= MY 5T
FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2023
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)
HZE2023F8A31HILEE
(BRZEIEHI - BB 2 BUNRERT)

35 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(Cont’d)

(b)

(9]

(d)

(e)

(f)

Directors’ retirement benefits
No retirement benefits were paid to or receivable by any directors in
respect of their other services in connection with the management of
the affairs of the Company or its subsidiaries undertakings during the
years ended August 31, 2023 and 2022.

Directors’ termination benefits

No payment was made to directors as compensation for the early
termination of the appointment during the years ended August 31,
2023 and 2022.

Consideration provided to third parties for making
available directors’ services

No payment was made to the former employer of directors for making
available the services of them as a director of the Company during the
years ended August 31, 2023 and 2022.

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings in favor of directors, controlled bodies
corporate by and connected entities with such
directors

Other than those disclosed in Note 33(d), there are no loans, quasi-
loans and other dealings in favor of directors, controlled body
corporate by and connected entities with such directors during the
years ended August 31, 2023 and 2022.

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

Other than those as disclosed in Note 33(b), there are no significant
transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation to the Company’s
business to which the Company was a party and in which a director
of the Company had a material interest directly or indirectly, subsisted
at the end of the year or at any time during the years ended August
31, 2023 and 2022.

36 EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Subsequent to the year end date, to optimise the debt structure and lower

236

the financing cost, the Group obtained two new ten-year bank loan facilities
of totalling RMB610,000,000 from a bank. As of the date of the report, the
Group had drawn down new loan of RMB610,000,000 from the new bank

facilities to replace its existing borrowings.
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35

36

ESENRERS(F)

(b) EZRNKER
B E2023F K£2022F8H31HIEF
ER - SEEEREHERAAT
SEHB A R F B £ M BRI T
RS AT (TR GRAER -

() ESREBER
B E2023F K%2022F8 H31HIEF
ER - BHERRAA I EET AE
FRAHE -

REAESBRBMMST
B=HIHNRE

B E2023F K%202268 A31HIEF
ER - BERAAREREHES
RSEEFNEEXNEARA -

(d)

NESE - ESEGEA
EEREEERAEIEA
WER - EERREMK
ZWHEEER

BRI BEEN - =
2023F &2022F8A31HIEFE
A BENEE EFAMESIEA
EENEETEEATEANER
EERREMZ S ©

(e)

(f) ESZMERS  ZHIEE
HERER
BRETFE33(b)ATIEE N - REE
2023F }2022F8 A31HIEFE R
HFEREMERE - AR A&
FAEARBEBERMAREE
FEESHEBEREEARGNERN
R BHREHR o

REHEEE

REHERR  ARELEBEBREE
MEKA  AEBENR —FKRITNEM
EFHNTEHRTEREEAEARE
610,000,0007C - HEAFREHEH K
SEERHRTEERIFERARE
610,000,0007C * ABREBEMER -



Five-Year Financial Summary

EFEHHEHE

A summary of the audited results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for BEAEVBFERAEENEETFEREE
the last five financial years is set out below: RBEMEZNT

As at August 31, 2023
7A202358H31H

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
20194 20204F 20214 20224F 202345
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETFIT ARETT ARETT ARBTT AR¥®TR

Revenue e 674,800 761,481 881,656 907,762 1,083,304
Cost of revenue & D% (307,014)  (308,902)  (411,143)  (425,611)  (458,700)
Gross profit E7 367,786 452,579 470,513 482,151 624,604
Profit before tax At AU AR 227,013 310,934 169,631 278,944 398,222
Profit for the year FRFHE 223,063 306,669 143,459 259,784 393,047

As at August 31, 2023
R2023F8H31H

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
20194 20204 20214 20224 20235
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBTIT ARBTT ARBTT AR¥TR

Non-current assets FERBEE 3,847,275 4,152,464 5,385,871 5,817,694 6,250,735
Current assets MENEE 479,555 905,742 943,356 850,855 1,023,904
Current liabilities MEAE 1,435,690 715,055 1,234,907 1,371,447 1,720,722
Net current assets/(liabilities) mEEE(AF)FHE (956,135) 190,687 (291,551)  (520,592)  (696,818)
Total asset less current liabilities REERRBEE 2,891,140 4,343,151 5,094,320 5,297,102 5,553,917
Non-current liabilities FERBBE 1,310,240 1,666,333 2,408,915 2,400,487 2,187,710
Net assets BEFE 1,580,900 2,676,818 2,685,405 2,896,615 3,366,207
Total equity B 1,580,900 2,676,818 2,685,405 2,896,615 3,366,207
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Definitions

“academic year”

"AGM"
[BRBEFAE ]

“Articles of Association”
[#AE =248 ]

“Audit Committee”

[BEZEE

“Board”

[EFg)

“Business Cooperation Agreement”

[R5 ]

“BVI"

[REBERREE]

“CG Code”

[T EATA

“China” or "PRC"

[FE

“Company”

VNN
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the academic year for all our school, which generally starts on September 1 of each
calendar year and ends on August 31, of the next calendar year
BPMAESERNEE - —REGEEFIA1BMLE BT —EEFSANHER

annual general meeting of the Company to be held on January 26, 2024

ARNFMRN2024F1 A26 RBRITHRRAFRE

the articles of association of the Company, as amended from time to time
RARBEBERBA(KTREET)

the audit committee of the Board

EfeEkEAe

the board of directors of the Company
RRRESE

the Business Cooperation Agreement entered into by and among Huali Shengda, Huali
Investment, our PRC Operating Entities and the Registered Shareholder dated March 23,
2017 (supplemented on November 27, 2017, August 30, 2018 and December 7, 2021)
EURA  EURE  PESEERBRELRRRITZAHA201743A23BMEBEER
F(R20178 118278 - 201858 A30% 2021512 A7HHEF)

the British Virgin Islands
REARRES

the Corporate Governance Code contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules
RIS 14FTE M E AT AI

the People’s Republic of China and for the purposes of this report only, except where
the context requires otherwise, references to China or the PRC exclude Hong Kong, the
Macau Special Administrative Region and Taiwan

FEARANE  ERAREME  RXESEMEN  BRIEKIBEESE R
FRlfTH R N A&

China Vocational Education Holdings Limited (BB FZBRER A F]) (formerly
known as Huali University Group Limited (¥ X2 £ @B AR A 7)), a company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability, the shares of which are listed
on the Main Board (stock code:1756)
FREBEHEERERAT(FIBELAZEEEGRAR)  RHRSHSIMK I ERA
A HRGO R ER LT (RHASE : 1756)



“consolidated affiliated entities”

“Controlling Shareholder(s)"”

[P 3R

“Director(s)"”

[E%]

"Equity Pledge Agreement”

[ PR 1

“Exclusive Call Option Agreement”

[BRBE R

“Exclusive Technical Service and

Management Consultancy Agreement”

[ BRI R R E R A=

”Group”, “We", “us”, or “our”

NS N AN

“Hong Kong”
[&E ]

“Hong Kong dollars” or “HK$"
(%)

“Huali College”

Definitions

the entities the Company controls through the Structured Contracts as further
elaborated in the section headed “Structured Contracts” in the Prospectus, namely
Huali Investment, Huali College, Huali Vocational College and Huali Technician College,
and each a “consolidated affiliated entity”
ARAFBBEBESHENNEBGFRBRERPTIEBTEN]—4)
EVEER  EUBFERNEYRMSR  SR—K[GAARBEER

BIEEIRE -

has the meaning as defined in the Listing Rules and, unless the context otherwise
requires, refers to Mr. Zhang, Trust Co and Huali Education

BB ETRAIREERE - MXBEREHIEN - BRELE - Trust COREIHE

the director(s) of the Company
AARES

The Equity Pledge Agreement entered into by and among the Registered Shareholder,
Huali Shengda and Huali Investment dated August 30, 2018
BRBRE  EUBARETREN201858 A30H AT MRIEE Hin

the Exclusive Call Option Agreement entered into by and among the Registered
Shareholder, Huali Investment, the PRC Operating Entities and Huali Shengda dated
March 23, 2017 and August 30, 2018

BRERE - EURE  PEEEEEREVR AT ZAHR201743H238 K201848 A
30A WBRRE R E

the Exclusive Technical Service and Management Consultancy Agreement entered into
by and among Huali Shengda, Huali Investment and the PRC Operating Entities dated
March 23, 2017 (supplemented on August 30, 2018)

EURK  EURERTHEEEEBR A A2017F3A23BHBEREIMBERE
A (72018F8 A30B f7T)

nm/

the Company, its subsidiaries and its consolidated affiliated entities

RRAE - EMBRR RS ARBERR

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
T EE B RITTERR

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

B BEEEEE

Guangzhou Huali College (BN #3722 Ft) (formerly known as Huali College Guangdong
University of Technology ( %%I%K?%i?&? ), a private independent college
established under the laws of the PRC on January 1, 2006, was converted into an
independently established private general undergraduate college with the official
approval by MOE in May 2021, and a consolidated affiliated entity of the Company
BEINEE 20 (RIBER TEASETER) - 1200651 A1 BRERBUEER LM RIE

Bt - WH2021FSARHEDEAAERABYRENRPLBERER @ BREAR
AINERE AREEESR
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Definitions

“Huali Construction”

“Huali Education”

[EIHE ]

“Huali (HK) Education”

[EBEIHE

“Huali Investment”

[EIHRE

“Huali Property”

[EESTHE |

“Huali Shengda”

“Huali Shengrong”

China Vocational Education Holdings Limited
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Guangzhou Huali Construction Co., Ltd. (BHRZEEEFRAA), a limited liability
company established in the PRC and directly owned by Mr. Zhang and Mr. Zhang
Zhifan, the brother of Mr. Zhang, as to 99.97% and 0.03% respectively, and a
connected person of the Company

BREVEEERAR - RHBKIHARAT @ AREEREABRENEESHESE
#7599.97%%0.03% * AARFIBEATLT

Huali Education Holdings Limited, a limited liability company incorporated in BVI and
wholly owned by Trust Co
EVHEERABRLAR REBEBRHSIMEINERAR - BTrust Co2BEHER

Huali (HK) Education Investment Limited (B/8E MBI EBR AR, a limited liability
company incorporated in Hong Kong on May 18, 2016 and an indirect wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company
EEETHEREARAR - N2016F5A18AEBBFMRIHBRAR - AARAIH
EE2EWB AR

Guangzhou Huali Investment Company Limited (E/N#EZ & EFR A A]), being the
School Sponsor of each of the PRC Operating Entities, a company established in the
PRC with limited liability on June 15, 1999 and a consolidated entity of the Company
BEMEIRERRAR  STHEEEROBREMRE - N1999F6 A 15HEPBEKZE
BRRAE - BEARRNGEE ARER

Guangdong Huali Property Company Limited (BERZEMEEEERRAR]), a company
with limited liability established under the laws of the PRC on July 1, 2008 and held as
to 99% by Mr. Zhang and as to 1% by an independent third party, and which is not a
member of the Group

BREVHMESEEERAT - R2008F7 A1BRBEFBUERRIMNER AT - ARELE
FHE9% @ —EBBAUFE=FHE1% » WkAKEKE QT

Guangdong Huali Shengda Business Service Limited (ERZEVEABHRSERRAF)
(formerly known as Xizang Huali Shengda Information Technology Limited (FH#iZE 7%
Kz ERHEBMRAE]), an enterprise established under the laws of PRC on January 18,
2017, which is a wholly owned subsidiary of Huali Shengrong
BREVEAMBREERAR(FBABECERNEEREAERATF) - BR2017F1718
HREPEVEERIHDE - AEIERRNEZENBERR

Guangzhou Huali Shengrong Education Technology Company Limited (BN #3758 48
HEREAEMRAF]), a wholly foreign-owned enterprise with limited liability established
under the laws of the PRC on December 27, 2016, which is wholly owned by Huali (HK)
Education

BMETREHBEREARAR - R2016F 12 A278REPBEEK I MERETING
BELE  BABEBEVHERERE



“Huali Technician College”

i
g

.

[EE 57 2 A2 Bx |

“Huali Vocational College”

“Hualiyuan Technology”

[ ERHx

“Implementation Rules”

[ E e

“Listing Rules”

[ EmRa]

“Main Board”

[ER]

“Model Code”

[R2Esr Al

“MOE"
(AR

“Mr. Zhang”

[ ]

“Mu”

[

Definitions

Guangdong Province Huali Technician College (FH & FE L HAMELT), a private tertiary
vocational school established under the laws of the PRC on August 20, 2003, of which
the School Sponsor’s interest is wholly owned by Huali Investment, and a consolidated
affiliated entity of the Company

BRAERAER - N2003F8 A20 A RBEHBEAEZKIHRENSFHESR - HEY
BRE2EREERBIERER - ARRTINGRAAREETRE

Guangzhou Huali Science and Technology Vocational College (BJNZESTRIE B2 2057),
a formal higher education institution established under the laws of the PRC on July 19,
2005, of which the school sponsor’s interest is wholly owned by Huali Investment, and
a consolidated affiliated entity of the Company

BMNE BRI R0 - 7200567 A 19RRBEHEEERNINSESSHRERE - ki
UREZRERBRBPERR - RARFNEAANRBEEER

Guangdong Hualiyuan Technology Company Limited (BERZZERFARAT), a
company with limited liability established under the laws of the PRC on January 6,
2004, which is not a member of the Group and is held as to 99% by Mr. Zhang and as
to 1% by Huali Property

BREVEREARRDT - R2004F1 A6HRBEFEZERIHERDA - FFAKERK
SRR AREEFREFIOI% @ EVHERE1%

the Regulations of the Implementation Rules for the Law for Promoting Private
Education of the PRC {HZEAREFMBERPHEREEFHEIZN) issued by the State
Council on April 7, 2021, and effective from September 1, 2021

BT R2021F4 A7 A8 - WE2021469 A1 BREABAC(REARLME RIS (Rt
TEE AR

The Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited, as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time
BEEBMARHMABERRFES ETHRA - LARHER] R sARM T SR

the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
Bt 32 P AR

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers contained in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules
FTARBIMSR 10 EM E BT AERETESF R HRLESTR|

the Ministry of Education of the PRC (% AR FIEIZ B 26)
P ARLMBEHE I

Mr. Zhang Zhifeng, chairman of the Board, executive Director and one of our controlling
shareholders

BEFEEIR  HOTEFRARAEEBRRZ —REELE

the Chinese land area unit, whereby a mu equals to approximately 666.67 square
meters
PEMEEERN - —EERL666.67F K
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Definitions

“Nomination Committee”

[REZBE

“PRC Operating Entities”

"Prospectus”
[HBRER]

"Registered Shareholder(s)”

[ B RCRRER

"Registered Shareholder’s Right
Entrustment Agreement and Registered
Shareholder’s Power of Attorney”

[BRBRENEZ R ERECKRRZESE ]

“Reporting Period”

[ s 2R

“RMB"” or “Renminbi”

[AR¥]

“School Directors”

[EBEH]

“School Directors’ Power of Attorney”

[BRERREE]

“School Sponsor(s)”

[BREHE ]

“School Sponsor’s and Directors’
Rights Entrustment Agreement”

[BRBEMRERBREFENZ T HR

242
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the nomination committee of the Board

EEgRA%RES

the Company’s consolidated affiliated entities, namely, Huali College, Huali Vocational
College and Huali Technician College

RRARWGENRBEEER - ETBR  EUBESERETRANSR

the prospectus of the Company dated November 14, 2019
ANAFHEA2019F11 A14BHBRER

Huali Investment is owned as to 99.999% by Mr. Zhang and as to 0.001% by Mr.
Zhang Zhifan
ETREHRREERKENEED BIFEHF9.999% [0.001 %A% #E

the Registered Shareholder’s Right Entrustment Agreement and Registered Shareholder’s
Power of Attorney entered into by and among Huali Investment, the Registered
Shareholder and Huali Shengda in favor of Huali Shengda dated September 19, 2017
(supplemented on August 30, 2018 and December 7, 2021)

EURE  BLRERREIBANEIEA/IRAFZERF2017F98 198 ELRK
RIEFZFT S KB R R RS (K201868 A30H K20214F12 878 ##7%)

the year ended August 31, 2023
HZE2023F8A31AILFE

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

AR - hBEEEEE

the directors nominated by Huali Investment to each of our PRC Operating Entities

FEURENSTEESERRREANES

the School Directors’ Power of Attorney executed by each of the School Directors in
favor of Huali Shengda dated March 23, 2017 (supplemented on August 30, 2018,
September 28, 2018, April 23, 2019, July 22, 2019, October 10, 2019 and January 17,
2020)
BEERNEEN2017TE3ABANEIRAATAARINBERETREE (X201858A30
H 2018 9A28H  2019F4A23H +201967AH228 2019 10A10H K%20204 1
A178#7)

the individual(s) or entity(ies) that funds or holds interests in an educational institution

EPIRBERBEFERRNBEARER

the School Sponsor’s and Directors’ Rights Entrustment Agreement entered into by and
among Huali Investment, the School Directors and Huali Shengda dated March 23,
2017 (supplemented on August 30, 2018, September 28, 2018, April 23, 2019, July 22,
2019, October 10, 2019 and July 20, 2020)

EURE  BREFLEFEUBRARGTZAHR2017F3A2ENERBRENRERE SR
FZEFEH= (20188 A30H 20184 9A28H ~ 20194 A23H + 20194F7H228 -
2019107310 &2020%F7 A20H /i 7)



“School Sponsor’s Power of Attorney”

[BRBEREREE]

"SEQ™

&5 R ARG

“Shareholder(s)”
&

“Shares”

[Bfn ]

“South China”
Eg

“Spouse Undertaking”

[FCiBrGE ]

“Stock Exchange”

[ B 32 P )

“Structured Contracts”

[EBIEEH ]

“subsidiary(ies)”

[F B xR

“Trust Co”

[Trust Co

"Us$”
ESH

Definitions

the School Sponsor’s Power of Attorney executed by Huali Investment in favor of Huali
Shengda dated March 23, 2017
EVRENETBRAR/TBARIAYR2017F3A23BNBRENERES

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as
amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

FEHLHEGP(FREPFESNE)  ETRER] - WA EMBT BN

holder(s) of the Share(s)
[SGESZ=PN

ordinary shares in the Company of par value US$0.0001 each
AARGREE0.0001E A E AR

Guangdong Province, Guangxi Province and Hainan Province of the PRC

TRERE  BEAEMEEAE

the Spouse Undertaking executed by the spouse of the Registered Shareholder dated
March 23, 2017 (supplemented on August 30, 2018 and December 7, 2021)
FERRARESE L BEIR2017F3 A23 AMBLEE (R20184F8 A30H K2021412 A7
H#7)

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
BEREBARHBERRAR

collectively, the Business Cooperation Agreement, the Exclusive Technical Service and
Management Consultancy Agreement, the Exclusive Call Option Agreement, the Equity
Pledge Agreement, the School Sponsor’'s and Directors’ Rights Entrustment Agreement,
the School Sponsor’s Power of Attorney, the School Directors’ Power of Attorney, the
Spouse Undertaking, the Registered Shareholder’s Right Entrustment Agreement and
the Registered Shareholder’s Power of Attorney

XEEERE  BREMREMEEZARE  BRIABEHEBS - REGRRE - 2
RERENEREEENEZTHE  PRERERES  BREFERES - ARG
BERRENEZRABBE L ECRRREENSE

has the meaning ascribed thereto in section 15 of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter
622 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
BERAHEH(BAEEGIE622F ) F 1560 T ZANRE

Huali-Diamond Limited, a holding vehicle incorporated in BVI indirectly controlled by
UBS Trustees (B.V.l.) Limited, the trustee of HL-Diamond Trust, to hold the entire issued
share capital of Huali Education

Huali-Diamond Limited * RE B4R R A S M AIEA A R] - FUBS Trustees (B.V.1.)
Limited (HL-Diamond Trust&) 3 st A ) IR 6 AR B E LB M2 BEBITRA

United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States

XL XBEAEEE
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Definitions

“WFOE" Wholly Foreign-Owned Enterprise under PRC laws
[INEBE ] HEDEETHSINEBEE R
“Yunfu Bilingual School” Huali Bilingual School of Yunfu (Yun'an District) (EFMELEET P ENER), a

private school established under the laws of the PRC on August 18, 2016, of which the

School Sponsor's interest is wholly owned by Hualiyuan Technology
[E)F R EXER EFMERREVHENER - R2016F8 A 18ARBHBUEENINRMER - BHEY

BER 2 EHEPRBNE#S

%" per cent

[%)] Bt

The English names of the PRC entities (including schools), PRC laws or regulations,
and the PRC government authorities referred to in this report are merely
translations from their Chinese names and are for identification purposes. If there
is any inconsistency, the Chinese names shall prevail.
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